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Revenue

Gross profit

Profit from operations

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

Earnings per share (‘EPS”)
(RMB per share)
— basic
— diluted

202312 A 31 H
December 31,
2023

(AREBTAR®D)
ER-PRE-]
EHERD)
(Renminbi (“RMB”)
in millions, unless
specified)

8,863.4
1,029.9
465.4
319.9

210.7

0.154
0.154

MBRRE

Financial Highlights

9,535.5 (7.0)%
1,113.3 (7.5)%
535.2 (13.0)%
452.4 (29.3)%
314.4 (33.0)%
0.224 (31.3)%
0.224 (31.3)%
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Chairman’s Statement
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In 2023, hailed as the first year of large Al models, Al technologies
were developing in a spectacular pace worldwide and penetrating
various industries. 2023 saw the rapid advancements in Al
technology, with industries actively driving digital transformation.
Benefiting from domestic policies and the promotion of Al
applications, domestic demand for Al chips had shown a growing
trend. To fully capture the development opportunities emerging in the
chip market, the Group strategically positioned the two major
businesses of “Comtech + Ingdan”, to focus on the entire industry
chain of intelligent hardware AloT “chip-device-cloud”. By focusing on
the intelligent fields of various industries, the Group maintained its
growth momentum. With the widespread popularity of Al technology
and the rapid development of new economy industries, the smart
economy has become a new trend for the future. We will continue to
keep abreast with the latest trends in the Al market to seize the
potential of and opportunities in the chip market with market size of
trillion RMB.

The Group’s Comtech is a technology service platform for the chip
industry, focusing on the application, design, and distribution of IC
chips. It covers over 50% of global major high-end chip suppliers and
many leading domestic chip makers upstream, as well as tens of
thousands of enterprises in the five major fields downstream,
including Al industry chain, digital infrastructure, industrial
interconnection, energy control, and big consumption.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Ingdan, as the other core business of the Group, focuses on the
development of smart new energy batteries. It actively engages in the
R&D and marketing of its own brand of AloT intelligent hardware
products, and customized comprehensive application solutions and
products tailored for its customers. Additionally, Ingdan has also
strategically positioned itself in the realm of the big data market by
using “Ingdan Cloud” to collect, manage, and analyze data on AloT
products, forming a cycle of “AloT products-data-analysis” to further
develop AloT data-enabled businesses. Meanwhile, the Group has
also launched an iPaaS platform to provide technology integration
solutions and marketing planning to core technology suppliers in the
AloT Chip-Devices-Cloud industry chain. The Group integrates
OpenHarmony’s open-source technologies into its iPaaS services to
achieve standardized application upgrades. Leveraging our
professional technology know-how, the Group will continue to expand
across the five major AloT intelligent hardware fields of V2X, smart
homes, robots, smart manufacturing, and smart medical, seizing the
opportunities presented in the expanding market.

Looking ahead to 2024, the Group expects that the rapid
development of Al will continue to expand to the related industries
and the prosperity of the chip industry will remain high. Chip demand
is expected to further increase, and the overall market scale will
continue to rise, which will continue to drive the growth of our core
business. The Group will strive to strengthen the strategic layout of
Comtech and Ingdan, actively build the closed-loop of the AloT chip-
device-cloud industry, comprehensively cover the entire Al industry
chain, with an aim to accelerate the realisation of digital
transformation, injecting more new growth momentum into our
Group. At the same time, with the support of the country’s active
promotion of high-tech development, Comtech has committed to
actively respond to and be involved in national strategies by
leveraging our own technology research and development capabilities
and industry expertise, so as to jointly promote the development of
the national high-tech industry.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our sincere gratitude to our management team, employees,
customers, suppliers, and our invaluable shareholders for their
consistent support to the Group. In the coming year, we will
persevere in our endeavors to create sustainable value returns for our
shareholders and provide our customers with high-quality products
and services. We look forward to working hand in hand with our
shareholders and partners to forge a prosperous future together.

KANG Jingwei, Jeffrey
Chairman

Hong Kong, March 28, 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Overall Business and Financial Performance of the
Group

We are an iPaaS (Integration Platform as a Service) technology
services platform serving the global integrated circuit (“IC”) industry
and Artificial Intelligence of Things (“AloT”) ecosystem in China. The
Group’s core businesses are Comtech (“Comtech”), a technology
services platform for the chip industry, and Ingdan (“Ingdan”), a
platform providing AloT technology and services.

In 2023, the rapid development of artificial intelligence (“Al”)
technologies has driven the digitalization of various industries,
resulting in an increase in demand for Al chips. Accordingly, the
demand for the Group’s Al chips has increased. However, as affected
by supply shortage of Al chips and coupled with the slowdown in the
growth of demand for chips in the consumer electronics category, the
overall sales dropped. Therefore, as the market demand returns to
normal industry level in the Reporting Period from last year’s chips
shortage, the Company’s profit has declined during the Reporting
Period as compared with the same period last year. For the Reporting
Period, the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB8,863.4
million, compared to approximately RMB9,535.5 million for the
corresponding period in 2022, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.0% year-on-year. The Group recorded a decrease of
approximately 29.3% in net profit after tax as compared to the
corresponding period in 2022. Gross profit was approximately
RMB1,029.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately 7.5%
year-on-year. Profit from operations was approximately RMB465.4
million, representing a decrease of approximately 13.0% year-on-
year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In 2023, the popularity of Generative Al such as ChatGPT has once
again driven the Al boom. The thriving Al market trend in China has
driven the growth in demand for Al orders from Comtech. However,
due to the impact of supply shortage and coupled with the slowdown
in the growth of demand for chips in industries such as consumer
electronics, the overall annual sales volume was affected. As a
technology service platform for the chip industry, Comtech focuses
on the application, design, and distribution of IC chips. It covers over
50% of global major high-end chip suppliers and many leading
domestic chip makers upstream, as well as tens of thousands of
enterprises in five major fields downstream, including Pan-Al industry
chain, digital infrastructure, industrial interconnection, energy control
and big consumption. According to the report from the International
Data Corporation (“IDC”), the global semiconductor industry is
expected to rebound due to increased inventory rationalization,
visibility in the channel, and increasing demand pull from Al server
and end point device manufacturers. The outlook for the global chip
market has been revised from “Trough” to “Sustainable Growth”, and
IDC estimated that global semiconductor sales will achieve a year-on-
year growth of 20.2% to $632.8 billion in 2024." With the gradual
recovery of the domestic economy, the continuous development of
the technology industry, and favorable national policies, the outlook
for China’s semiconductor industry is optimistic, as it meets the
increasing demand for chips and brings more growth momentum to
the chip business.

Comtech continued to actively push for the development of chips
applications during the Reporting Period, and has achieved
technological breakthroughs in cutting-edge technological features in
the industries of artificial intelligence-generated content (“AIGC”),
logistics robots and electronic rearview mirrors for smart vehicles,
empowering a number of China’s innovative enterprises, so as to
prepare for capitalizing on future market recovery.

1 Worldwide Semiconductor Market Outlook Upgraded to GROWTH from
TROUGH: Semiconductor Market to Grow 20.2% in 2024 to $633 Billion,
According to IDC https://www.idc.com/getdoc.jsp?containerld=prUS51383823

F3f 2023 WEAIF 9
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Ingdan focuses on the new energy industry and is committed to
developing the industry for two-wheeler battery replacement and re-
utilization. By building a reliable asset management platform for
traceable lithium battery life-cycle data, it provides customized
solutions for two-wheeler battery replacement, power re-utilization
and energy storage, etc. Ingdan’s proprietary smart battery
management platform can monitor real-time battery status, effectively
improve battery usage efficiency and cycle, realizing the smart
management of the whole battery life cycle from production
calibration, safe operation, asset management, efficiency
management to recycling tracking, etc.

According to analysis by CICC Qixin International Consulting, the
penetration rate of battery swapping for electric two-wheelers in
China was 22.5% in 2022. With the successive implementation of
mandatory policies such as “No Indoor Charging Policy” in various
regions, coupled with the rapid development of the domestic instant
delivery market, and the continuous improvement of battery swapping
facilities, the penetration rate of battery swapping services continues
to rise. The market for battery swapping services for electric two-
wheelers in China is expected to experience rapid development. The
report predicts that from 2022 to 2026, the market size of battery
swapping services for electric two-wheelers in China will increase
from RMB4.24 billion to RMB20.5 billion, and the penetration rate of
the swapping market will reach 54.1% by 2026.% In line with China’s
“double carbon” national goal of reaching carbon peak in 2030 and
realizing carbon neutrality in 2060, the upgrade of the energy industry
structure is expected to bring about rapid changes in the industry
layout. Ingdan strategically focuses on the two-wheeler battery cloud
services, aiming at the new market trend of new energy smart battery
cloud in order to seize the RMB100 bilion “blue ocean” market
opportunity, which would enable the Group to sustain profitability
while contributing to the advocacy of the product standardization of
China’s two-wheeler battery replacement industry, and support the
realization of the national “double carbon” goal.

2 20283 FHBAEGTMBERBTEMSRERRKIME TR EXLRES
S 8T 35 38 /Al https://www.gtdcbgw.com/index/show/catid/94/id/8472.html
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In the era of rapid Al development, iPaaS is required to realize data
and technology integration as industries accelerate their pace in
digital transformation. According to a report by Verified Market
Research (VMR), the global iPaaS market size was US$6.68 billion in
2023, and is expected to reach US$61.67 billion by 2030. The CAGR
for the period from 2024 to 2030 is projected to be 35.2%.° Ingdan is
actively expanding into the iPaaS market. In particular, its iPaaS
platform mainly provides iPaaS services including solutions for
technology integration and plans for sales and marketing to core
technology providers along the “chip-device-cloud” industry chain, for
the purpose of proactively deploying investment in the five major
smart hardware fields, namely smart vehicles, digital infrastructure,
industrial interconnection, energy control and big consumption.

As technology advances rapidly, there is sustainable demand for
operating system improvements. OpenHarmony’s open-source
technology platform has become an industry ecosystem and a
standard, as it serves to safeguard China’s information security as
well as the autonomy and control of industries with core technologies.
As an ecosystem, OpenHarmony has 31 software releases from 17
vendors and launched more than 140 commercial devices, covering
a wide range of industries such as education, finance, transport,
digital government, and manufacturing industries.* During the
Reporting Period, Shenzhen Comtech Limited (F 31T Rl @i AL
BIRA7F) (“Shenzhen Comtech”) was again awarded a “Platinum
Donor of OpenAtom Foundation” (FANRFFBREEEEHEEIEA).
After becoming a Platinum Donor of OpenAtom Foundation in 2020,
the Group has been committed to facilitating the use of open-source
research in hardware and software and has actively joined hands with
different technology giants to build an industry ecosystem and
industry standards that can be self-managed by the industry through
OpenHarmony. The Group has also actively expanded the application
of “OpenHarmony +” solutions to various key areas such as power
batteries, intelligent driving and communications, while facilitating the
standardisation of intelligent hardware and technology applications in
various industries. Ingdan has also introduced OpenHarmony
opensource technologies into iPaaS services to enhance and upgrade
standards.

8 Integration Platform As A Service (IPAAS) Market Size And Forecast https://www.
verifiedmarketresearch.com/product/integration-platform-as-a-service-ipaas-
market

4 FRBSE B 140 EREE N BETE - &/ - BEITE https//www.
chinanews.com.cn/cj/2023/06-12/10023607.shtml
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Future prospects

The Group’s goal is to become the world’s leading technology
integration service platform for the smart hardware industry, using the
Group’s “Comtech + Ingdan” business model to form a “chip-device-
cloud” closed loop of the smart hardware industry. The Group strives
to serve China’s growing tech market. We intend to pursue the
following growth strategies to achieve our goal:

l. Capture Business Opportunities in Al

Driven by market development, Al technologies continue to be
implemented commercially. Al has become an important feature
for enterprises’ digitalization and intelligentization, while chip
applications, intelligent hardware and big data are the strong
support for various industries to accelerate their pace in digital
transformation. According to a report released by Grand View
Research, market research firm, the global Al market was
estimated to reach a market size of US$196.63 billion in 2023,
with a CAGR of 37.3% from 2023 to 2030.° According to the
IDC Worldwide Atrtificial Intelligence Spending Guide issued by
IDC in the second half of 2023, the spending in China’s Al
market would be over US$15 billion in 2023 and is expected to
reach US$38.1 billion in 2027, accounting for about 9% of the
global total.? It can be seen that, under the advent of concepts
such as the new economy, smart cities, digital transformation,
meta-universe, and AIGC, the commercial value and strategic
significance of Al technology application in enterprises’ business
operations are becoming more significant, with the growth in
both supply and demand side of the market. In the future, Al
will be further applied to the real economy and innovation, in
which case both scientific and technological transformation can
be possible and there will be more new opportunities.

5 Artificial Intelligence Market Size & Trends https://www.grandviewresearch.com/
industry-analysis/artificial-intelligence-ai-market

6 IDC : 2027 F B A T RETI5ITAIR & SR IRTESTRG80(E 3T https://www.idc.
com/getdoc.jsp?containerld=prCHC51172823
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China is also actively promoting its development of science and
technology to enhance China’s competitiveness. The Central
Economic Working Conference convened at the end of 2023
specified the overall requirements for the 2024 economic work,
including the construction of modemn industrial system led by
technological innovations, particularly leveraging disruptive
technologies and cutting-edge technologies to drive new
industries, models, and momentums and develop new quality
productivity. This fully illustrates the importance of developing
high-tech industries in promoting high-quality domestic
development.” The Group believes that, with the strong support
of the government, the Al industry will also see a new round of
substantial growth, which opens up a new chapter in the
development of the digital intelligence industry, thereby driving
the demand for both chips and chip applications.

The Group will also actively accelerate its development in the Al
industry chain to seize new market opportunities. Capitalizing
on its industrial strengths, the Group will cater for the Al industry
chain through Comtech and Ingdan and speed up its
construction of an innovation-driven development in order to
capture opportunities in the new round of Al development.
Comtech, as the technology service platform for the chip
industry, will continue to research and develop and enhance the
design of chip application solutions in order to meet the
demand for high-performance chip applications in Al.
Meanwhile, Ingdan Cloud under Ingdan can fully utilize its
capabilities in big data analysis to effectively integrate the
complete smart hardware application solutions with products,
SO as to speed up the successful application of Al products.
The Group will continue to upgrade its service platform in order
to provide complete coverage of the entire Al industry chain
and seize the business opportunities that may arise during the
smart transformation in Mainland China.

(EXBHNBEPALBETIESH: BIAERBIBERENBRRES
https://www.ndrc.gov.cn/wsdwhfz/202312/t20231222_1362865.html
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Enhanced revenue streams from Ingdans

The Group intends to further enhance Ingdan’s revenue
streams. In this regard, the Group will actively focus on the
development of a new energy smart battery cloud business and
the deployment of resources for cloud services for two-wheel
vehicle batteries to capitalize on the new market trend. In
addition, the Group has built an iPaaS technology integration
platform in order to capture the opportunities in the Al era, and
develop into a core technology provider serving the AloT “chip-
device-cloud” industry chain, while focusing on five smart
hardware fields: smart vehicles, digital infrastructure, industrial
interconnection, energy control and big consumption. As an
enterprise service platform, the Group acquires a large number
of customers, their purchasing demands and data on the online
platforms, and provides powerful data analysis tools to provide
enterprise services offline. The Group has created a “chip-
device-cloud” industrial closed loop to meet the needs of the Al
industry chain. “Chip” is to provide, through Comtech, suppliers
in the upstream of the chip industry with application design and
distribution services for chips to expand the downstream
market. Ingdan focuses on “device” and “cloud” services. Using
big data resource analysis and mature integration solutions,
Ingdan provides technical integration support from modules and
terminals to the cloud, delivering tailor-made solutions for
various emerging industries. “Chip-device-cloud” industrial
closed loop creates synergy, facilitating Ingdan to drive greater
contributions to the Group in the future. As Ingdan’s R&D
projects are becoming more sophisticated, our proprietary
products will contribute even more momentum to the Group’s
performance. The Group also plans to further enhance the
Group’s performance by providing value-added services to
customers, including but not limited to the provision of
corporate and technology services, as well as investment
services such as incubation programs.
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V.

Developing an ecosystem for the electronics
manufacturing value chain

The Group plans to develop an open, collaborative, and
prosperous electronic manufacturing industry ecosystem that
will benefit the business operations of our customers and
suppliers. We believe this will also drive our long-term business
growth. We intend to broaden our platforms’ value-added
services by extending into related businesses that serve the
electronics manufacturing value chain, such as supply chain
financing, insurance, and cloud computing services.
Additionally, the Group plans to monetize the vast amount of
data we collect from our customers and suppliers and offer
data driven services, which will include marketing and
advertising planning, merchandising, product customization,
fulfilment management, and third party data services. We
believe these complementary services will become natural
extensions of the Group’s service mix, and will help attract and
retain customers.

Further enhance customer loyalty and increase
purchases per customer

The Group plans to continue to enhance its customer loyalty
and generate more sales from existing customers. We intend to
leverage our advanced market analytics tools to make our
online and offline platforms more efficient and relevant to our
customers. The Group will continue to enhance customized
content on our platforms, by continuously collecting and
analyzing our customers’ data and feedbacks to gain a better
understanding of their needs for services and products, so as
to refer suitable products or develop new customized products
according to customers’ business needs and market trends.
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We plan to continue to develop new complementary services
aiming to offer a complete range of products and solutions for
customers. Accordingly, we invested more resources in
customer services, order fulfiment and delivery capabilities in
order to enhance our service reliability and shorten our
customer response time, further enhancing overall performance
of our platforms. To increase the repeat purchase rates of newly
acquired customers, we will continue to provide the key
procurement personnel of our new customers with powerful
online tools, enterprise resource planning, and other
complementary services. These services will enable us to
maintain constant interactive communications with key
personnel, which in turn will allow us to better understand
customers’ demands and their product development.
Accordingly, we will be able to create customized marketing
plans targeting new customers, while cross-selling other
products.

Pursuing strategic partnerships and acquisition
opportunities

In addition to growing our business through internal initiatives,
we plan to expand our business through strategic partnerships
and acquisitions. The Group will continue to look across
enterprises in different segments with great potentials for
investment, collaboration or acquisition, so as to further
enhance our business operations, helping us expand our user
and revenue base, widen our geographic coverage, enhance
our product and service offerings, improve our technology
infrastructure, as well as strengthen our talent pool. The
Group’s diversified business portfolio will enhance its market
strengths by targeting different segments of the market. The
Group also plans to leverage our market position and business
model to seek attractive cross-marketing, and licensing
opportunities to enhance the sales ability and seize the market
expansion opportunities brought by Al.
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Year of 2023 compared to year of 2022

20283 and the year of 2022:

20234
12H31H

December 31,
2023
(AREBEER)
(RMB in millions)

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the year of

A Revenue 8,863.4 9,535.5
#H & KA Cost of sales (7,833.5) (8,422.2)
ER Gross profit 1,029.9 1,113.3
E A A Other income 52.9 17.3
HEERDHEAX Selling and distribution expenses (199.8) (140.7)
EEFHZ Research and development expenses (102.6) (165.7)
THRREREMEERAE Administrative and other operating
expenses (315.0) (299.0)
B HE R Profit from operations 465.4 535.2
B 75 B AN Finance costs (109.3) 67.7)
HEK B AR AR E Gain on disposal of subsidiaries = 48.9
(=) /NI ¥ Share of results of associates 4.4 (0.5)
R B A 5 F Profit before tax 360.5 515.9
FTi5 M5 < Income tax expenses (40.6) (63.5)
FREF Profit for the year 319.9 452.4
UTEEFERGEF : Profit for the year attributable to:
RRRHER A Owners of the Company 210.7 314.4
FEIE R = Non-controlling interests 109.2 138.0
FRBEF Profit for the year 319.9 452 .4
F3R 2023 EEAIH 17
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Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2023, profit from operations
decreased and amounted to approximately RMB465.4 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB69.8 million as
compared with approximately RMB535.2 million for the corresponding
period of 2022. Profit of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB319.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB132.5 million as compared with approximately RMB452.4 million
in 2022. Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB210.7 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB103.7 million compared with
approximately RMB314.4 million in 2022.

Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2023, revenue of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB8,863.4 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB672.1 million or approximately 7.0%
as compared with approximately RMB9,535.5 million in 2022. The
Group’s revenue comprised approximately RMB8,817.0 million of
sales of IC, other electronic components, AloT products and
proprietary and semi-conductor products, approximately RMB4.6
million of service revenue from software licensing and approximately
RMB41.8 million of revenue from IngFin Financing Services. The
decrease was primarily due to the slowdown in the growth of demand
for chips in the consumer electronics category.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 was
approximately RMB7,833.5 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.0% from approximately RMB8,422.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in cost of revenue
was due to a decrease in revenue described under the paragraph
headed “Revenue”.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2023 was
approximately RMB1,029.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.5% from approximately RMB1,113.3 million
compared with the figures in 2022. The decrease was primarily driven
by the results of revenue and cost of sales for the reasons described
under the paragraph headed “Revenue”.
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Other Income

For the year ended December 31, 2023, other income of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB52.9 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB13.3 million or approximately 20.1% as
compared with approximately RMB66.2 million in 2022. Included in
other income for the year ended December 31, 2022 was a non-
operating one-time gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately
RMB48.9 million. Further details of the disposal are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated March 31, 2022. If such non-
operating gain were excluded, other income in 2022 would have
amounted to approximately RMB17.3 million. The change in other
income was also primarily due to bank interest income and
government grants of approximately RMB15.0 milion and RMB19.8
million respectively recorded for the year of 2023 as compared to
approximately RMB5.5 milion and RMB5.4 million respectively
recorded in the corresponding period of 2022.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the year ended December 31,
2023 amounted to approximately RMB199.8 million, representing an
increase of approximately RMB59.1 million or 42.0% from
approximately RMB140.7 million in 2022. This was primarily due to
loss allowance on trade receivables of approximately RMB24.1 million
recorded for the year of 2023 as compared to reversal of loss
allowance on trade receivables of approximately RMB4.1 million
recorded in the corresponding period of 2022.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the year ended December
31, 2023 amounted to approximately RMB102.6 million, representing
a decrease of approximately RMB53.1 million or approximately 34.1%
from approximately RMB155.7 million in 2022. This was primarily due
to less expenses spent on the research and development of IC chip
distribution and application design, AloT products and technologies,
as well as customized technical solutions for proprietary products
such as V2X and 5G applications.

F3R 2023 EEAF
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Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2023, administrative and other
operating expenses amounted to approximately RMB315.0 million,
representing an increase of approximately RMB16.0 million or
approximately 5.4% from approximately RMB299.0 million in 2022,
which was primarily due to depreciation of investment properties of
approximately RMB15.3 million recorded for the year of 2023 as
compared to approximately RMBO0.3 million recorded in the
corresponding period of 2022.

Income Tax

Our income tax decreased by approximately 36.0% from
approximately RMB63.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2022 to approximately RMB40.6 million for the year ended December
31, 2023, primarily due to a decrease in profit before tax as a result of
the decreased profit from operations. The effective tax rate for the
year ended December 31, 2023 was 11.3%, as compared to 12.3%
for the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in effective tax
rate was mainly due to decreased ratio of profits contributed by both
Hong Kong and PRC subsidiaries to profits contributed by PRC
subsidiaries with tax exemptions. The profits tax rate in Hong Kong is
16.5% while the income tax rate in the PRC is 25%.

Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the
Company for the Reporting Period

For the year ended December 31, 2023, profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately RMB210.7
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB103.7 million
or approximately 33.0% as compared to approximately RMB314.4
million in 2022. The decrease was primarily due to gain on disposal of
subsidiaries amounting to approximately RMB48.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 whilst no such gain was recorded for the
corresponding period of 2023. The decrease was also contributed by
an increase in finance costs by approximately RMB41.6 million, from
RMB67.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
RMB109.3 million for the corresponding period of 2023. The increase
in finance costs was resulted from an increase in bank borrowings. In
addition, the decrease in profit attributable to owners of the Company
was also resulted from a decrease in profit from operations from
RMB535.2 million to RMB465.4 million year-on-year.
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Liquidity and Source of Funding

As of December 31, 2023, the current assets of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB7,588.4 million, which mainly comprised cash
and bank balances (including pledged deposits), inventories and trade
and other receivables, in the amount of approximately RMB725.5
million, RMB4,506.1 million and approximately RMB1,932.2 million,
respectively. Current liabilities of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB5,024.4 million, of which approximately
RMB1,597.4 million was bank loans and approximately RMB3,304.9
million was trade and other payables. As of December 31, 2023, the
current ratio (the current assets to current liabilities ratio) of the Group
was 1.51, representing an increase of approximately 8.6% as
compared with 1.39 as of December 31, 2022. The change in the
current ratio was primarily due to an increase in trade receivables and
inventories, and change from non-current portion to current portion of
loan receivables, offset by an increase in bank loans. The increase in
trade receivables was resulted from more sales made in the second
half of 2023 when compared to the corresponding period in 2022.
The increase in inventories was to cope with expected sales demand
in 2024.

Pursuant to the subscription agreements entered into on September
10, 2020, September 25, 2020, October 16, 2020 and June 29,
2021 (together, the “Subscriptions”), a redemption right is granted
by the Group to each investor. The redemption right constituted a
contract that contains an obligation for the Group to repurchase the
equity instruments of the subsidiaries of the Group and gives rise to a
redemption financial liability recognized at the present value of the
redemption price, being RMB610.7 million, and subsequently
measured at amortized cost. Further details of the Subscriptions are
set out in the announcements of the Company dated September 10,
2020, September 25, 2020, October 16, 2020 and June 29, 2021.

The Group does not have other debt financing obligations as of
December 31, 2023 or the date of this annual report and does not
have any breaches of financial covenants.

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the capital expenditure of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB168.0 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB102.5 million or
approximately 37.9% compared with approximately RMB270.5 million
in 2022. The decrease in the capital expenditure was primarily due to
a decrease in purchases of intangible assets for R&D of proprietary
products.
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Net Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2023, the net gearing ratio of the Group, which
was calculated by dividing net debt (total bank loans, lease liabilities
and other financial liabilities minus cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits) by the sum of net debt and total equity was
approximately 25.1% as compared with approximately 12.3% as of
December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase in
bank loans during the Reporting Period.

Significant Investments

The Group did not make any material investments (including any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets as at December 31, 2023) for the Reporting
Period.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated January
10, 2023, Shenzhen Comtech and Shenzhen SDMC Technology Co.,
Ltd (RYITERERERMD AR AR]) have jointly participated in a
tender for the land use right and won the bid on January 10, 2023
and on the same day, entered into a letter of confirmation (A 22 FER E)
with Shenzhen Trading Group Co., Ltd. — Land Mining Rights
Business Branch (Y1122 5 &£ BB R A R T EEEH 5 2 7)) and
a land use right agreement (F3ITHEAERFEHERELZESR)
together with the Shenzhen Municipal Bureau of Planning and Natural
Resources Baoan Administration (YR B E AL BREELEIER)
to finalize the purchase of the land use right to a plot of land located
at Xin'an Street, Bao'an District, Shenzhen, China (f BEYTTE LS
¥ 27 4778) with a land site area of 10,302.25 square meters for a term
of 30 years at an aggregate consideration of RMB129.0 million (the
“Purchase of Land Use Right”). For further details of the Purchase
of Land Use Right, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated January 10, 2023.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
and disposals during the Reporting Period.
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Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

Shenzhen Comtech has submitted its listing application to the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the Proposed A-Share Listing (the
“Proposed A-Share Listing”) on the ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange on June 28, 2022 and was notified by the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange on June 30, 2022 that the application for the
Proposed A-Share Listing was acknowledged.

As of the date of this annual report, the Proposed A-Share Listing are
subject to, among other things, the approval from the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange and the completion of issuance registration
procedures with China Securities Regulatory Commission.

Further details of the Proposed A-Share Listing can be referred to the
announcements of the Company dated September 30, 2021,
December 7, 2021, June 30, 2022, February 28, 2023, June 27,
20283, and January 31, 2024 and the circular of the Company dated
March 10, 2022 in relation to the Proposed Spin-off and the
Proposed A-Share Listing of Shenzhen Comtech on a stock
exchange in the PRC.

The financial data of Comtech referred to in this annual report is
based on the separately managed business segments identified and
allocated by the Company and therefore is not equivalent to the
financial data of Shenzhen Comtech for the Proposed A-Share
Listing. The Group currently holds approximately 66.84% of
Shenzhen Comtech, which financial statements will continue to be
consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at December 31, 2023, the Group had 580 full-time employees
(2022: 568), of which 18 employees work part-time (2022: 19). The
number of employees employed by the Group varies from time to
time depending on need. Employee remuneration is determined in
accordance with prevailing industry practice and employees’
educational backgrounds, experiences and performance. The
remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
periodically reviewed. Apart from pension funds, in-house training
programs, discretionary bonuses, medical insurance and mandatory
provident fund, share awards may be granted to employees
according to the assessment of individual performance.
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Compensation of key executives of the Group is determined by the
Company’s remuneration committee which reviews and determines
executives’ compensation based on the Group’s performance and
the executives’ respective contributions to the Group.

The Company also has a restricted share unit scheme, of which
eligible participants include employee participants, related entity
participants and service provider participants, details of which are
disclosed in the circular of the Company dated May 18, 2023.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023 was approximately RMB206.1 million (2022:
RMB195.7 million).

Pledge of Assets

Except for the pledged bank deposits of approximately RMB287.7
million and approximately RMB190.5 million as of December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, the Group did not pledge
any assets for the year ended December 31, 2023. The pledged bank
deposits were placed as security for credit facilities granted by several
banks in Hong Kong and PRC.

Contingent Liabilities

Neither the Group nor the Company had any significant contingent
liabilities as of December 31, 2023.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Foreign currency transactions during the year ended December 31,
2023 are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
as at December 31, 2023. Exchange gains and losses are recognized
as profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates when the fair value was determined.

The results of operations with functional currency other than RMB are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of transactions. Consolidated
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statements of financial position items are translated into RMB at the
closing foreign exchange rates as at December 31, 2023. The
resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of an operation with functional currency other than RMB,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to that
operation with functional currency other than RMB is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognized.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group did not use
any derivative financial instruments to hedge against the volatility
associated with foreign currency transactions and other financial
assets and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business. The
Group’s management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Events After the Reporting Period

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated January
31, 2024, as part of the Proposed A-Share Listing, Shenzhen
Comtech has submitted, among other things, an updated version of
the prospectus of Shenzhen Comtech (committee meeting version),
sponsor’s letter (committee meeting version), reply of inquiries and
the audited consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen Comtech
for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six
months ended June 30, 2023 to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
which have been published on the website of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other significant
events that might affect the Group since the end of the year ended
December 31, 2023.

REVIEW OF OUR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

We have established the Audit Committee in compliance with the CG
Code. The members of the Audit Committee have discussed with the
management of our Company and reviewed the consolidated financial
information of our Company for the financial year ended December
31, 2023 set out in this annual report.
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OUR DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of six
Directors, comprising three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The functions and duties of the Board
include convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting on the Board’s
work at these meetings, implementing the resolutions passed at
these meetings, determining business and investment plans,
formulating our annual budget and final accounts, and formulating our
proposals for profit distributions and for the increase or reduction of
registered capital. In addition, the Board is responsible for exercising
other powers, functions and duties in accordance with the
Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The table below contains certain information about each of our
Directors.

BRAR(E 54 BITEZF IRREREWHITE 20144 3H1H 200047 A

KANG Jingwei, Jeffrey Executive Director, Chairman, and March 1, 2014 July 2000
Chief Executive Officer

A B A 49 HTEF HEVEERARAWE 2014F3A1H 2003410 A

WU Lun Cheung Allen Executive Director, Chief Financial March 1, 2014 October 2003
Officer and Company Secretary

FBFIE 39 HWITEF SEREMEER 20224 6H10H 201646 A

GUO Lihua Executive Director, vice-president of June 10, 2022 June 2016
group financing

BT 60 BUFNITESF 2014 7H18H 201447 A

YE Xin Independent Non-executive Director ~ July 18, 2014 July 2014

FRT 67 BUFMITESF 20174 6H2H 201746 A

MA Qiyuan Independent Non-executive Director ~ June 2, 2017 June 2017

aE— 64 BUFNITEF 2018%F2H13H 201842 A

HAO Chunyi, Charlie Independent Non-executive Director ~ February 13, 2018  February 2018

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023
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Executive Directors

KANG Jingwei, Jeffrey (EE#({&), aged 54, is the founder and
Chairman of our Group, and was appointed as an executive Director
on March 1, 2014. He has been appointed as our Chief Executive
Officer since July 18, 2014. Mr. Kang is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business direction of the Group. Mr. Kang is
also a director of the following company of the Group:

— Ingdan Group, Inc. (formerly known as Cogobuy Group, Inc.
and Vision Well Global Limited).

Mr. Kang earned his bachelor of engineering degree in electrical
engineering from South China Technology University in Guangzhou,
China in July, 1991. Mr. Kang has over 25 years of experience in the
Internet multimedia and electronic component distribution industry.
Prior to founding the Company in 2002, Mr. Kang founded the
predecessor of a former NASDAQ listed company Viewtran Group,
Inc. (“Viewtran”) (OTCMKTS: VIEWF), formerly known as Comtech
Group, in 2002, to act as a distribution channel for the sale of
electronic components in the PRC and has served as an executive
director of Viewtran until May 2014. Mr. Kang also founded an
Internet multimedia company, Viewtran Inc., in 2000.

WU Lun Cheung Allen (& B #£), aged 49, is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of our Group and was appointed as an
executive Director on March 1, 2014. Mr. Wu is also a director of
Ingdan Group, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor of business administration degree
in accounting from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in Hong Kong in 1997. Mr. Wu is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
certified public accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. Wu is also a member
and a chartered global management accountant of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wu has over 20 years of
experience in auditing and commercial consulting. He worked at
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 1997 to 20083, before becoming the
vice president of finance at Viewtran from 2003 to 2013, where he
was in charge of corporate finance, compliance and investment.
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GUO Lihua (38%i#), aged 39, was appointed as an executive
Director on June 10, 2022. Ms. Guo is the vice-president of group
financing of the Company and is mainly responsible for the Group’s
financing operations. Ms. Guo currently holds various positions in a
number of companies of the Group. Ms. Guo is a director of EZ
ROBOT, INC. She is also a legal representative, executive director
and general manager of Shenzhen Xeno Communication Technology
Company Limited, EZ Robot (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd. and INGDAN.com
(Shenzhen) Limited. Ms. Guo joined the Company in June 2016 as
the group financing director and has served as the vice-president of
group financing since November 2021. Before joining the Company,
Ms. Guo served as a senior financial analyst in Aesthetic Medical
International Holdings Group Limited from April 2014 to June 2016,
and a financial analyst in SMIT Holdings Limited from June 2011 to
March 2014. From September 2009 to May 2011, she was a
consultant at Shanghai Evo Enterprise Management Consulting
Company Limited.

Ms. Guo obtained a bachelor’s degree in Finance from Hunan
University in July 2007 and a master’s degree in Finance from Xi'an
Jiaotong University in July 2009.

Independent non-executive Directors

YE Xin (E 1), aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on July 18, 2014. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Ye received his bachelor of engineering
degree (FHE # R} 2 BE K 1l X) from Tsinghua University, China in
June 1986, and a master of science degree in Computer Science
from Marquette University in Wisconsin, United States in May 1988.
From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Ye was the Chief Technology Officer of
Linktone, a top wireless entertainment service provider in China.
Since 2006, Mr. Ye was the chief executive officer of CASEE Mobile
Ads (Z8#4#E4R), China’s leading mobile advertising network for
Android/iPhone applications and mobile content.
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MA Qiyuan (ERtJt), PhD, aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on June 2, 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Dr. Ma is the chairman and
chief executive director of Time Medical System Corp., a leading
technology innovator in medical imaging and service industry he
founded in 2006. Dr. Ma has over 25 years of experience in R&D
management in the US. Dr. Ma served as a professor at Columbia
University from 1994 to 2000, Associate Professor of Harvard Medical
School from 2000 to 2005 and Deputy Director of Magnetic
Resonance Engineering Center of the University of Hong Kong from
1998 to 2004. Dr. Ma holds 25 patents and has published more than
200 papers. Dr. Ma is engaged in the field of microelectronic devices,
superconducting technology, RF devices, biomedical electronics, and
medical imaging.

Dr. Ma co-founded Semiconductor Manufacturing International
Corporation (NYSE: SMI; Stock Exchange stock code: 981) (China’s
first major semiconductor company listed on NYSE and the Stock
Exchange) in 2000 and remained an advisor since. Dr. Ma has been
promoting the development of China’s electronic industry, and has
served as advisor in microelectronics to the Ministry of Information
Industry of the Chinese government, and in hi-tech industry to the
Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou governments.

Dr. Ma received his PhD in microelectronics from Columbia University
in 1990, and SEP degree from Stanford Business School in 2003. Dr.
Ma has been a board member of CIBR (Coalition for Imaging and
Bioengineering Research) in the US since 2010.
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HAO Chunyi, Charlie (54t —), aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on February 13, 2018. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Hao has
been appointed as the chief executive officer and director of Tristar
Acquisition | Corp., a company listed on NYSE (NYSE: TRIS), with
effect from July 18, 2023. Mr. Hao has also been appointed as
director of Finnovate Acquisition Corp., a company listed on NASDAQ
(NASDAQ: FNVT), with effect from May 29, 2023. Mr. Hao was the
chief financial officer and chairman to the board of directors of East
Stone Acquisition Corporation, an investment company incorporated
in the BVI and listed on NASDAQ (NASDAQ: ESSC), from January
2020 to November 2022. Mr. Hao was the chief executive officer and
president of Shandong Haizhicheng Energy Engineering Co., Ltd., a
pioneer in the research and development in new energy engineering
projects, from 2015 to 2019. Over the years, Mr. Hao has been
instrumental in the founding and establishments of several investment
funds and companies, including China Fundamental Acquisition
Corporation, where Mr. Hao was the chief executive officer from 2008
to 2010, and a member of the board of directors and the president of
China of Asia Automotive Acquisition Corporation from 2005 to 2008.
Mr. Hao was the chief financial officer of Delphi Automotive Corp
(Saginaw Steering System) (“Delphi”) of General Motors Inc., and
oversaw the financials of three joint ventures to Delphi headquarter in
Beijing from 1995 to 1999.

Mr. Hao received his MBA degree from Pace University, Master of
Arts from University of Notre Dame and Bachelor of Arts from Beijing
Language and Culture University.

OUR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management team of our Group, in addition to the
executive Directors listed above, comprises the following individuals:

Bk & 60  EERIAE 201441 A 20044 4 A
CHAN Edward Vice-president of operations January 2014 April 2004
T 40 Bl 20159 A 201549 A
WANG Vivia Vice-president September 2015 September 2015
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CHAN Edward (B &%), aged 60, is the vice-president of
operations of the Company and is primarily responsible for general
administrative operations of the Group, including human resources,
customer service, logistics and warehousing. Mr. Chan received his
bachelor of science degree in mechanical engineering from the
University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong in November 1985. Between
1987 and 2002, Mr. Chan worked for and later served as a senior
manager of Panasonic Shun Hing Industrial Devices Sales (Hong
Kong) Co., Ltd. Between 2004 and February 2013, Mr. Chan was the
vice president of operations of Viewtran, and was in charge of the
company’s customer administration and logistics operations.

WANG Vivia (£ #i), aged 40, is a vice-president of the Company
and is primarily responsible for the Company’s investment and
financing activites and is the head of IngFin Financing Services
business. Ms. Wang received her BBA and MBA degrees from
Tsinghua University, China in 2005 and 2007, respectively, and has
been a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) member since 2012. Ms.
Wang has over 10 years of investment banking experience and
worked at HSBC’s investment banking department as an analyst
from 2007 to 2008 and Bank of Communications as assistant
relationship manager in 2009. Prior to joining the Company, Ms.
Wang was an associate director at CCB International’s China
Business Division from 2010 to 2015, where she was in charge of
eastern China’s clients relationship management, sourcing deals for
structured finance, IPO bond issuance and PIPE transactions.

The Directors hereby present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on February 1, 2012. The
Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on July 18, 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company is a technology service platform (iPaaS) serving the
global IC chips industry and AloT ecosystem in China. The Group
operates under Comtech, a technology services platform for the chip
industry, and Ingdan, a platform providing AloT technology and
services, created a closed loop of ‘Chips-Devices-Cloud’ AloT
ecosystem, so as to provide technical integration solutions, marketing
solutions and distribution services to customers. Comtech focuses on
IC chip application design and distribution for electronics
manufacturing enterprises in China. Comtech maintains connections
with over 50% of global major high-end chip suppliers and many
leading domestic chip makers upstream and covering thousands of
enterprises in five key sectors: Pan-Al industry chain, Digital
Infrastructure, Industrial Connectivity, Energy Control and Big
Consumption downstream. Meanwhile, Ingdan focuses on the
research and development and sales of its own branded AloT
intelligent hardware products, as well as the data services of its AloT
intelligent hardware products under Ingdan Cloud. Ingdan focuses on
the emerging field of smart new energy batteries, which effectively
improves batteries’ efficiency and circulation with intelligent control
and management systems to achieve battery intelligence. Ingdan also
actively conducts R&D and marketing of its own AloT intelligent
hardware products, to customize AloT intelligent hardware application
solutions and products for customers, hence facilitating the
development of data services for the Ingdan Cloud. The Group
currently holds approximately 66.84% of Comtech and 100% of
Ingdan, which also operates certain non-wholly owned subsidiaries
and retains certain investments with less than 100% interests
strategically.
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The Group obtained approval from the Stock Exchange for the spinoff
and Proposed A Share Listing of Shenzhen Comtech in Mainland
China, which will further expand the Group’s development in the
domestic capital and chip markets. As the domestic chip market
gains strong support from national policies, Shenzhen Comtech has
been preparing for the Proposed A Share Listing. After the completion
of the Proposed A Share Listing, the Company will remain the
ultimate controlling shareholder of Shenzhen Comtech, and its
financial results will still be consolidated into the Company, which will
facilitate the sustainable growth of the Group’s performance.
Furthermore, in order to give investors a clearer understanding of the
main business of Shenzhen Comtech and the Company, the
Company has changed its name from Cogobuy Group to Ingdan, Inc.
In 2023, the Group fulfilled orders and derived a revenue of
approximately RMB8,863.4 million.

A list of the Company’s major subsidiaries, together with their places
of incorporation and principal activities, is set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the year ended December
31, 2023 (including analysis of the Group’s performance during the
year using key performance indicators and discussion of the Group’s
future business development) is set out in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 6 to 7 and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
8 to 25 of this annual report. A description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Company is set out on pages 35 to 37 of this
Report of the Directors.
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Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board of Directors and management are aware, the
Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
there was no material breach of, or non-compliance, with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Relationship with employees

Recognizing the value of investing in its employees, the Group
ensures that its employees are reasonably remunerated. The Group
has also implemented an annual self-appraisal program to provide
incentive and motivation to the staff to attain periodic goals. The
Company has adopted the 2023 RSU Scheme to reward the fidelity
of the employees of the Group. The Group continues to seek
improvement through the regular review and update (if needed) of its
policies on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health
and safety.

Relationship with suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining good
relationships with its suppliers and customers to meet its immediate
and long-term goals. Our customer service team is set up so that
they can be easily reached and serves to enhance our relationships
with customers. Our procurement and project management teams
work closely with our suppliers to maintain reliable and high-quality
product offerings. With the expansion of our service platforms, the
Group strives to provide one-stop supply chain services to all
stakeholders in the hardware innovation industry. The Group is
committed to upholding the highest ethical and professional
standards when dealing with its suppliers and contractors. During the
year ended December 31, 2023, there were no material and
significant disputes between the Group and its suppliers, customers
and other stakeholders.
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Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavors to comply
with the applicable environmental laws and regulations and to adopt
effective measures to ensure the efficient usage of resources, energy
conservation and waste reduction. Such initiatives include the
recycling of used papers, the adoption of energy saving measures,
the exchange of unsold inventory for new products or credit with
major suppliers, the adoption of electronics waste disposal
procedures and the donation of old computers to a school in remote
area of China. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we had
not been subject to any fines or other penalties due to any non-
compliance with health, safety, or environmental regulations. For
details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report, which is separately published on the Company’s website and
the website of the Stock Exchange at the same time as the
publication of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2023 is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 71 to 103 of this
annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, some of which are beyond our control. It is a non-
exhaustive list and there may be other risks and uncertainties further
to the key risk areas outlined below.

° The lock down of commercial activities due to the outbreak of
the pandemics may cause disruptions of our supply chains and
normal business operations, affecting both our sales of IC and
other electronic components and the provision of IngFin
Financing Services. While we carefully monitor the ongoing
developments to manage risks and continue to be responsive
to market opportunities, given the fast-changing nature under
the current circumstances, we may not be able to assess and
mitigate relevant impacts of pandemic outbreaks on our
financial performance.
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We derive substantially all of our revenue from purchases made
by companies in China that engage in electronics
manufacturing. As a result, factors that adversely affect Chinese
electronics manufacturers or the Chinese electronics
manufacturing industry could also materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

If we fail to manage our relationships with our suppliers, our
business and prospects may be adversely affected. We source
our products from some of the top brand-name suppliers in key
product categories. Maintaining good relationships with these
suppliers and procuring products from suppliers on favorable
terms are important to the growth of our business. There can
be no assurance that our current suppliers will continue to sell
IC and other electronic components to us on terms acceptable
to us, or that we will be able to establish new or extend current
supplier relationships to ensure a steady supply of IC and other
electronic components in a timely and cost-efficient manner.

Our business is subject to intense competition, and we may fail
to compete successfully against existing or new competitors,
which may reduce demand for our services and products. We
anticipate that China’s electronic components procurement
market will continually evolve. As we further develop our
e-commerce platform, we will face increasing competitive
challenges competing for new customers and retain loyal
customers.

We rely on third-party courier service providers to deliver our
products, and their failure to provide high-quality courier
services to our customers may negatively impact the
procurement experience of our customers, damage our market
reputation and materially and adversely affect our business and
results of operations. If our products are not delivered on time
or are delivered in a damaged state, customers may refuse to
accept our products and have less confidence in our services.
Thus, we may lose customers, and our financial condition and
market reputation could suffer.
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° We provide credit facilities to our customers to earn interest
income through our IngFin Financing Services business and
offer required payment terms to our direct sales customers,
which expose us to credit risks. The value of the collaterals for
secured loans we grant our customers may fluctuate due to
market conditions or other unforeseen adverse occurrences.
We may fail to identify high risk customers or detect
unlawfulness due to negligence, procedural errors, fraud and/or
misconduct committed by employees, customers or other third
parties. In the event that such customer or counterparty fails to
honor its financial or contractual obligations, we would suffer
financial loss.

o We rely on credit facilities such as factoring arrangements
granted by banks to partially fund our working capital. The
banking industry is sensitive to changes in market and
economic conditions and is highly susceptible to unforeseen
external events, such as political instability, recession, inflation,
changes in regulation, adverse market conditions, or other
adverse occurrences that may result in a significant decline or
other change in the credit facilities granted to us and put stress
on our cash position, which may necessitate us drawing on
existing working capital facilities or other sources of liquidity.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. KANG Jingwei, Jeffrey (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WU Lun Cheung Allen

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Ms. GUO Lihua

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. YE Xin
Dr. MA Qiyuan
Mr. HAO Chunyi, Charlie

Details of the Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company are set out in the circular to
be published on the Company’s website and the website of the Stock
Exchange and dispatched to the Shareholders, where applicable.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey, Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen and Ms. Guo
Lihua have each entered into service agreements with our Company
pursuant to which they agreed to act as executive Directors. The term
of office of our executive Directors is three years with effect from June
2, 2020 for Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey and Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen
and June 10, 2022 for Ms. Guo Lihua (subject always to re-election
as and when required under the Articles of Association), and
automatically renewed for successive periods of three years until
terminated in accordance with the service agreements. The Company
has the right to give written notice to terminate each of the
agreements.

Mr. Ye Xin, Dr. Ma Qiyuan and Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie have each
signed the letters of appointment with our Company. The term of
office of our independent non-executive Directors is three years with
effect from June 2, 2020 for Mr. Ye Xin and Dr. Ma Qiyuan and June 9,
2023 for Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie (subject to retirement as and when
required under the Articles of Association), and automatically renewed
for successive periods of three years subject to the terms and
conditions specified in the appointment letters.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has entered into any service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively. None of the
Directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
year ended December 31, 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
COMPETING BUSINESSES

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
headed “Related Party Transactions” and the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” of this annual report below, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended December 31, 2023.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the Directors nor
the Controlling Shareholders of the Company engaged in any
business that competed or might compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance has been entered into among the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders
or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended December 31,
2023.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers
each of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at December 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were (j)
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors or chief executives
have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO); (i) required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register maintained by the Company referred to therein; (iii)
required, pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange; or (iv)
disclosed according to the knowledge of the Directors were as
follows:

(i) Interests in the Shares of the Company

B %A ZIELEEERY 650,200,000 46.63%
Mr. Kang Interest of controlled corporation @
x4 EmEA A 1,800,000 0.13%
Mr. Kang Beneficial owner
ikt E=EAA 1,800,000 0.13%
Mr. Wu Beneficial owner
izt BEmEAA 600,000 0.04%
Ms. Guo Beneficial owner

B A - Notes

1) MERMDHUTA(ETERBLFANBSEMNE (1) All the Shares are held in long position (as defined under Part XV of the

XVER) 75 H ° SFO).
2 BE 5t 4 ¥ A Envision Global 89 100% # 25 - M 2) Mr. Kang owns 100% of Envision Global, which in turn owns these

Envision Global RII #E B UL 5 A& 7 - B Ut - BR&E &£
4% & 7 Envision Global#5 B 8 Itk Z D A
M2 o
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Shares. Mr. Kang is therefore deemed to be interested in these Shares
held by Envision Global.
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) The percentage is for illustrative purpose only, subject to rounding error,
and is calculated based on the number of Shares in issue as at December
31, 2023 (without taking into account the Shares to be issued pursuant to
the RSU Schemes).

(i) Interests in any associated corporation of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO

R Envision Global®
Mr. Kang Envision Global®
B &

) AEERCHOUFR(ERAEFRBEHIE
XVER) #5 A o

© [ %% 4 & # % A Envision Global 9 100% # 25 °
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(#ﬁ?é#&%ﬁ‘éﬂ%@ﬂ%xvﬁliﬁﬂa)E’JH%} izl
HOSEEERREBETEHOREESRPEK
BIEXVEBRMARE KRB RFTHERIAR
(BEREFFRBERIBEEABRXESHE
ESRABHBENEERAR)  JiBREBEESH R
H 5 15 5] 5 352 6 ZB 58 A 5% IR BT #8 00 & 22 i &Y
HEmOAR KRB RETFRSITBANAR
AR RS IORA -

EnEaA
Beneficial owner

1B (2
1 share

100%
100%

Notes:

(1) All the Shares are held in long position (as defined under Part XV of the
SFO).

2) Mr. Kang directly owns 100% of Envision Global.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, so far as is
known to any Director or the chief executive of the Company, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were (i) required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO
(including the interests and short positions which the Director is taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (i) otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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FERRAAQXTRYD - HEKR#H SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
REEIEZEZRKXE AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

H2023F 12831 H  IBEEEAE L FEE  As at December 31, 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the

BEARATBRD RBEBROTPHESEDE AR following substantial Shareholders have interests and short positions

NEBRIEFE 5 R EE &0 8 XVEL 2336 {F‘ J81F in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company, which have

BEZFEREECLHANER AR been recorded in the register of substantial Shareholders required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of Part XV of the
SFO:

Envision Global E=mBAA 650,200,000 46.63%
Envision Global Beneficial owner

BR % &P R AE R 650,200,000 46.63%
Mr. Kang® Interest of a controlled corporation

A EmHEA A 1,800,000 0.13%
Mr. Kang Beneficial owner

Total Dynamic® E=mBAA 182,888,000 13.12%
Total Dynamic® Beneficial owner

iz L+ © R EE R 182,888,000 13.12%
Ms. Yao® Interest of a controlled corporation

Bt - Notes:

1) FMERMEUTFRA(TERBZHF RS EMEXVE) 1) All the Shares are held in long position (as defined under Part XV of the SFO).

A -

2 FE 4t 4 ¥ A Envision Global B 100% #& %5 + 1 Envision 2) Mr. Kang owns 100% of Envision Global, which in turn owns these Shares.
Global Bl # A #Z & & 15 b EEERESE AR Therefore, Mr. Kang is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by Envision
Envision Global 15  #) 5% & iR (7 = # 5 # 25 © Global.

3) #k Z + # 75 Total Dynamic#)100% # z + M Total  (3) Ms. Yao owns 100% of Total Dynamic, which in turn owns these Shares.
Dynamic Bl BE A ZSB M- At kX T HKR AR Therefore, Ms. Yao is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by Total
Total Dynamic 5 A 0 5% S M 9 B i % - Dynamic.

(4) BHoLHEERS RN EAAMEEAE E (4) The percentage is for illustrative purpose, subject to rounding error, and is

A JhiR2023F 12 A1 BB & TIRME B (I E:+ & calculated based on the number of Shares in issue as at December 31, 2023
HEIRE TR HIRE D ERIst & P ARITHREMD):THE - (without taking into account the Shares to be issued pursuant to the RSU
Schemes).
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, the Directors
have not been notified by any person who had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Group has in force indemnity provisions for the
benefit of the Directors of the Company or its associated companies.
Each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his or her office or otherwise in relation
thereto in accordance with the Articles of Association.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at December 31, 2023, the Group had 586 full-time employees
(2022: 568), of which 15 employees work part-time (2022: 19). The
number of employees employed by the Group varies from time to
time depending on need. Employee remuneration is determined in
accordance with prevailing industry practice and employees’
educational backgrounds, experiences and performance. The
remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
periodically reviewed. Apart from pension funds, in-house training
programs, discretionary bonuses, medical insurance and mandatory
provident fund, share awards may be granted to employees
according to the assessment of individual performance.

Compensation of key executives of the Group is determined by the
Company’s remuneration committee which reviews and determines
executives’ compensation based on the Group’s performance and
the executives’ respective contributions to the Group.

The Company also has a restricted share unit scheme, of which
eligible participants include employee participants, related entity
participants and service provider participants, details of which are
disclosed in the circular of the Company dated May 18, 2023.
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The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023 was approximately RMB144.7 million (2022:
RMB146.8 million).

SHARE SCHEMES

The Company has one expired share scheme with RSUs outstanding
and one existing share scheme, namely the 2014 RSU Scheme and
the 2023 RSU Scheme, respectively.

No new shares may be issued in respect of awards granted during
the Reporting Period as no awards were granted under the RSU
Schemes of the Company during the Reporting Period.

2014 RSU SCHEME

The Company adopted the 2014 RSU Scheme on March 1, 2014,
which was terminated on June 9, 2023 at the conclusion of the
Company’s 2023 annual general meeting (the “Termination of 2014
RSU Scheme”).

As at December 31, 2023 and the date of this annual report, an
aggregate of 1,590,000 share awards and 1,325,000 share awards
remain outstanding under the 2014 RSU Scheme, respectively.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2014 RSU Scheme is to reward the fidelity of the
executive officers, senior managers and employees of the Group and
encourage their outstanding performance by aligning their interests
with those of the shareholders of the Company.

Eligible participants

This 2014 RSU Scheme is open to executive officers, senior
managers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Maximum number of RSUs (which can be satisfied
by new Shares or existing Shares) available for grant

The aggregate number of RSUs available for grant under the 2014
RSU Scheme (excluding RSUs which have been forfeited in
accordance with the 2014 RSU Scheme) would not exceed
137,400,000 shares, being 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company on July 18, 2014.

As of January 1, 2023, 69,557,151 RSUs were available for grant
under the 2014 RSU Scheme. During the Reporting Period, nil RSUs
were granted to eligible participants and 720,000 RSUs lapsed
pursuant to the 2014 RSU Scheme. It follows that, as of December
31, 2023, 70,277,151 RSUs would have been available for grant
under the 2014 RSU Scheme. However, no further awards would be
granted under the 2014 RSU Scheme after June 9, 2023 pursuant to
the Termination of 2014 RSU Scheme.

Maximum number of new Shares available for issue

Pursuant to the specific mandate in connection with the 2014 RSU
scheme obtained by the Company at the annual general meeting held
on June 10, 2022, the total number of new Shares issued and may
be issued pursuant to the 2014 RSU scheme would not exceed
42,304,192 Shares, representing 3% of the Company’s issued share
capital on the date of resolution for the annual general meeting (the
“2014 RSU Scheme Mandate”).

As of January 1, 2023, 42,304,192 new Shares were available for
issue under the 2014 RSU Scheme Mandate. Pursuant to the
Termination of 2014 RSU Scheme, as of December 31, 2023 and the
date of this annual report, no new Shares were available for issue
under the 2014 RSU Scheme Mandate, respectively.
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Limit for each participant

Under the 2014 RSU Scheme, there is no specific limit on the
maximum number of shares which may be granted to a single eligible
participant but unvested under the 2014 RSU scheme.

Vesting Period

The vesting period of any Shares that are the subject of RSUs issued
on or after December 22, 2014 shall be determined by the
Remuneration Committee as they see fit. Details of the vesting period
of individual grants are stated in the table below.

Consideration and purchase price

Pursuant to the 2014 RSU scheme, there is no amount payable on
application or acceptance of the RSU and no purchase price of RSU
awarded.

Remaining life of the 2014 RSU Scheme

The 2014 RSU Scheme commenced on March 1, 2014 and was
terminated on June 9, 2023 at the conclusion of the Company’s 2023
annual general meeting. The RSUs that are outstanding upon the
Termination of 2014 RSU Scheme shall remain in force according to
the terms of the 2014 RSU Scheme and the applicable award
agreement.
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Details of the outstanding RSUs granted under the 2014 RSU
HSREHRMDEM (BB ERMEL)FIESE  Scheme (to be satisfied by existing Shares) are as follows:

is
Directors
Put 200F7A168 5 12F (202057 - 600,000
F16E£2023
F7A158)
Ms. Guo July 16,2020 12 quarterly
installments
(from July 16,
2020 to July
15,2023)

BEHREARBHFALAHY
Five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period in aggregate®

EfpER ARG
Other grantees in aggregate
200F7A168 H12F (202057 - 7,080,007
FA16EZ2023
£7A158)
July 16,2020 12 quarterly
installments
(from July 16,
2020 to July
15, 2023)
N2F4A08 7127 (202254 - 3900000
F208E2025
£4/198)
April 20,2022 12 quarterly
installments
(from April 20,
2022 to Aprl
19, 2025)

1) RIE2014F ZRFIR M BEML M8 - BARERZR G
B2 BN BA X AR FRIE - ML SRR E
N TRBEEE -

@ ERIBODECOAFERBEEARATAUABEHRE
FRAN gt R RBREE  HIREETHORNEK
BRBEHERERHNETENE -

() # £ 202341 A 1H - 3,340,000 & B # H X B il i 17
FEURETHEMRNEENEERHZATELR -

@ DERSHHALRARSE RIS E R RTE
B 5 BR 1 B 13 BE AL ©

150,000

FERY
N/A#

870,000

3,250,000

Notes:

- - 150,000 - - 1.39 738,000 1.59
- - 750,000 120,000 - 1.39 8,708,400 1.59
- — 1,060,000 600,000 1,590,000 212 8,463,000 142

Pursuant to the 2014 RSU scheme, there is no amount payable on application or
acceptance of the RSU and no purchase price of RSU awarded.

The fair value of RSUs is determined in accordance with the accounting standards
and policies adopted for preparing the Company’s financial statements, which is
calculated based on the number of Shares granted and the closing price of the
Shares on the date of grant.

As at January 1, 2023, 3,340,000 awarded RSUs lapsed prior to their respective
vesting dates as a result of staff resignation.

The five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period do not have any
outstanding RSUs.
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2023 RSU SCHEME

The Company adopted the 2023 RSU Scheme on June 9, 2023,
which is meant to provide the Company with a flexible means of,
remunerating, incentivizing, retaining, rewarding, compensating and/
or providing benefits to Eligible Participants through aligning the
interests of Eligible Participants with those of the Company and
Shareholders by providing them with an opportunity to acquire
shareholding interests in the Company, and thereby, encouraging
Eligible Participants to contribute to the long-term growth and
profitability of the Company and to enhance the value of the Company
and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a
whole.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2023 RSU Scheme is to provide the Company
with a flexible means of, remunerating, incentivizing, retaining,
rewarding, compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible
Participants through aligning the interests of Eligible Participants with
those of the Company and Shareholders by providing them with an
opportunity to acquire shareholding interests in the Company, and
thereby, encouraging Eligible Participants to contribute to the long-
term growth and profitability of the Company and to enhance the
value of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company
and Shareholders as a whole.

Awards

Awards in the form of RSUs which may be settled by Award Shares,
which can be funded by Shares or an equivalent value determined by
prevailing market prices, or a combination of both.

Scheme administration

The 2023 RSU Scheme shall be administered by the Board and/or
any committee of the Board or other person to whom the Board has
delegated its authority to administer the 2023 RSU Scheme (such as
senior management members) (the “Scheme Administrator”).
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Eligible participants

Eligible participants are determined by the Scheme Administrator
from time to time to be eligible to participate as grantees under this
Scheme, including (a) Employee Participant; (b) Related Entity
Participant; and (c) Service Provider Participant.

Maximum number of RSUs (which can be satisfied
by new Shares or existing Shares) available for grant

The aggregate number of RSUs granted and to be granted under the
2023 RSU Scheme (excluding RSUs which have been forfeited in
accordance with the 2023 RSU Scheme) will not exceed 139,426,273
shares, being 10% of the total issued and outstanding share capital
of the Company as of the June 9, 2023 (the “2023 RSU Scheme
Limit”).

The total number of new Shares that may be issued pursuant to all
awards to be granted to service provider participants under the 2023
RSU Scheme is 4,182,788 Shares (representing 3% of the total
number of the issued share capital of the Company as of the June 9,
2023) (the “Service Provider Sublimit”).

During the Reporting Period, no RSUs involving new Shares were
granted to eligible participants under the 2023 RSU Scheme Limit. It
follows that, as of December 31, 2023, 139,426,273 RSUs and
4,182,788 RSUs were available for grant under the 2023 RSU
Scheme Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit, respectively.

The total number of existing Shares in issue which may be transferred
as Award Shares underlying an Award pursuant to the 2023 RSU
Scheme is set at 1% of the Shares in issue as of the June 9, 2023,
being 13,942,627 Shares (the “Existing Shares Scheme Limit”").
For the avoidance of doubt, the Existing Shares Scheme Limit shall
not count toward the 2023 RSU Scheme Limit. Shares which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the rules of the 2023 RSU
Scheme (or any other share schemes of the Company) shall not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the 2023 RSU Scheme Limit.

During the Reporting Period, no RSUs involving existing Shares were
granted to eligible participants under the Existing Shares Scheme
Limit. It follows that, as of December 31, 2023, 13,942,627 RSUs
were available for grant under the Existing Shares Scheme Limit.
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Maximum number of new Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares issuable pursuant to the 2023 RSU
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company (if any) in aggregate
is 139,426,273 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue on the June 9, 2023 (the “2023 RSU Scheme Mandate”).

During the Reporting Period, no new Shares were issued pursuant to
the 2023 RSU Scheme under the 2023 RSU Scheme Mandate. It
follows that, as of December 31, 2023 and the date of this annual
report, 139,426,273 new Shares (representing approximately 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of this annual
report) were available for issue under the 2023 RSU Scheme
Mandate, respectively.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

There is no specific maximum entitlement for each eligible participant
under the 2023 RSU Scheme. Grants to individuals that exceed the
thresholds set out in the Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules will be
subject to additional approval requirements as required under the
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Vesting period

The Scheme Administrator may determine the vesting period and
specify such period in the Award Letter. The vesting period of Awards
funded by new Shares may not be for a period less than 12 months
from the grant date, except in limited circumstances set out in the
rules of the 2023 RSU Scheme.

Purchase price and consideration

The Scheme Administrator may determine the amount (if any) payable
on application or acceptance of an Award and the period within
which any such payments must be made, amounts (if any) and
periods shall be set out in the Award Letter, taking into consideration
factors such as the prevailing closing price of the Shares, the purpose
of the Scheme, the performance and profile of the relevant Grantee(s).
For the avoidance of doubt, the Scheme Administrator may determine
the Purchase Price to be at nil consideration.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Performance targets

The Scheme Administrator may set performance criteria/targets in the
Award Letter in respect of Awards granted based on, among others,
transaction milestones, business or financial performance results,
individual performance appraisal and/or contribution to the Group,
and as evaluated by the Group over a specified evaluation period.

Remaining life of the 2023 RSU Scheme

Term of the 2023 RSU Scheme is 10 years commencing on June 9,
20283 unless terminated on the earlier of: (a) the 10th anniversary of
the June 9, 2023; and (b) such date of early termination as
determined by the Board, provided that such termination shall not
affect any subsisting rights in respect of the Awards already granted
to eligible participants. The remaining life of the 2023 RSU Scheme is
approximately 9.5 years.

EQUITY-LINKED INVESTMENTS

Save for the RSU Schemes as disclosed above, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the
Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 114 and 115 of this annual report.

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the most recent five years are set out on pages 273 and

274 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details of the capital structure are set out in the note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note
43 to the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 118 to 121 of this annual
report. As at December 31, 2023, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to the Shareholders were approximately RMB2,709.3
million (as at December 31, 2022: approximately RMB2,498.6 million).

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022: HK$0.04).

DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group has not made
any charitable and other donations (2022: nil).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and
the Group as of December 31, 2023 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2023, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s securities listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment during the year ended
December 31, 2023 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT, SALE
OR INVESTMENT

There is no property held for development, sale or investment for
which the percentage ratios (as defined under rule 14.04(9) of the
Listing Rules) exceed 5% as at December 31, 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Company held available-for-sale assets amounted to RMB884.6
million as at the year ended December 31, 2023 (as at December 31,
2022: RMB646.0 million).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated January
10, 2028, Shenzhen Comtech and Shenzhen SDMC Technology Co.,
Ltd (RYITmEREREIRMD BER A R]) have jointly participated in a
tender for the land use right and won the bid on January 10, 2023
and on the same day, entered into a letter of confirmation (5% 3 HEFRE)
with  Shenzhen Trading Group Co., Ltd. — Land Mining Rights
Business Branch (#3122 5 & B AR A 7l T i EE XK 5 A F]) and
a land use right agreement (Z3IIIHEA R A HEHELESR)
together with the Shenzhen Municipal Bureau of Planning and Natural
Resources Baoan Administration (Z3I| TR 2 B A S BRBEELEIER)
to finalize the purchase of the land use right to a plot of land located
at Xin’an Street, Bao’an District, Shenzhen, China (F2 Bl &SI & Z &
¥&f73E) with a land site area of 10,302.25 square meters for a term
of 30 years at an aggregate consideration of RMB129.0 million (the
“Purchase of Land Use Right”).

For further details of the Purchase of Land Use Right, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated January 10, 2023.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
and disposals during the Reporting Period.

£33} 2023 WEAH

53



54

EEgHE (A

Report of the Directors (Continued)

AREERRERERNEENE

FINEHRE R 2022F 6 A28H M A JIEHER H
TR FRINESR D ATEIEIRETERAR
Wz EmEEE - WHR202296 A30H E R
BEZXGMBAEREBAR LT 2B -

BEAFHRAY ZRAR LT AF(EHE
=

EEZERZHTAMEFRTAEER -

FHEBARLETZE—SPHFBUL2HAR
A H B A202149H30H 2021412478 -
20226 A30H ~ 202342 A28 H ~ 202346 A
27H N2024F1 A3 B AE  MEAR A H
B B2022F 3 A10B ME K - WA B @ FEIIE
BEFPENBHFRZMETER DT RERA
f& £ e

FEBEXS

7R 2019F 12 23 H * 7~ A 7] H Envision China
A — O MEHEREERBERBZY
X¥HEREERBERBGE]) - It - Envision
ChinnE AEL K REEMBARRAERASE
ERHVEHENREMEETERY -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Shenzhen Comtech has submitted its listing application to the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the Proposed A Share Listing on the
ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on June 28, 2022
and was notified by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on June 30, 2022
that the application for the Proposed A Share Listing was
acknowledged.

As of the date of this annual report, the Proposed A Share Listing are
subject to, among other things, the approval from the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange and the completion of issuance registration
procedures with China Securities Regulatory Commission.

Further details of the Proposed A Share Listing can be referred to the
announcements of the Company dated September 30, 2021,
December 7, 2021, June 30, 2022, February 28, 2023, June 27,
2023, and January 31, 2024 and the circular of the Company dated
March 10, 2022 in relation to the Proposed Spin-off and the
Proposed A-Share Listing of Shenzhen Comtech on a stock
exchange in the PRC.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On December 23, 2019, the Company and Envision China entered
into a property leasing and complementary services framework
agreement (the “Property Leasing and Complementary Services
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Envision China has
agreed, and will procure its subsidiaries to agree, to provide property
leasing and complementary property management services to the
Group.
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As the Property Leasing and Complementary Services Framework
Agreement was expiring on December 31, 2022, on December 19,
2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Envision China to
renew the Property Leasing and Complementary Services Framework
Agreement (the “2023 Property Leasing and Complementary
Services Framework Agreement”) to govern the renewal of the
existing continuing connected transactions contemplated under the
Property Leasing and Complementary Services Framework
Agreement and the entering into of new leases from time to time for
the operations of the Company, and to set annual caps for the
transactions contemplated thereunder for the three years ending
December 31, 2025. The term of the 2023 Property Leasing and
Complementary Services Framework Agreement commenced on
January 1, 2023 and will end on December 31, 2025.

The annual caps for each of the three years ending December 31,
2025 for property leasing under the 2023 Property Leasing and
Complementary Services Framework Agreement are RMB71.9
million, RMB55.9 milion and RMB36.3 million, respectively. The
annual caps in respect of the complementary property management
service fees payable by the Group to Envision China and/or its
subsidiaries under the 2023 Property Leasing and Complementary
Services Framework Agreement for each of the three years ending
December 31, 2022 is RMB2.5 million.

Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey is the chairman of the Board, chief
executive officer and an executive Director of the Company. As at the
date of this annual report, Mr. Kang holds approximately 46.76% of
the total issued share capital of the Company and is a Controlling
Shareholder. Envision China is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Kang,
and is therefore an associate of Mr. Kang and a connected person of
the Company.

Accordingly, the 2023 Property Leasing and Complementary Services
Framework Agreement entered into between the Company and
Envision China constitutes a continuing connected transaction of the
Company. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

For further details of the above agreement, please refer to the

Company’s announcements dated December 23, 2019 and February
20, 2020 and December 19, 2022.
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Contractual Arrangements

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

Due to certain foreign investment restrictions under PRC laws and
regulations, it was not viable for the Company to hold Shenzhen
Kegoubai directly through equity ownership. The Company, through
Kugouwang E-commerce, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao entered
into a series of contractual arrangements, under which the Company
gained effective control over, and received all the economic benefits
generated from the business operated by Shenzhen Kegoubai (the
“Contractual Arrangements”). The Contractual Arrangements allow
Shenzhen Kegoubai’s financials and results of operations to be
consolidated into our financials and as if it was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Group.

To comply with the relevant PRC laws at the time, our cogobuy.com
was operated by Shenzhen Kegoubai. Kugouwang E-commerce in
turn supervises the business operations of Shenzhen Kegoubai and
derives the economic benefits from Shenzhen Kegoubai. Shenzhen
Kegoubai held the requisite PRC permits, licenses and approvals for
developing and operating our e-commerce platform, including the
ICP license, and EDI license. In addition, Shenzhen Kegoubai held the
intellectual property rights, including software copyrights and the
domain name, and is in the process of acquiring the trademarks that
are important for the operation of our cogobuy.com. Shenzhen
Kegoubai had also performed the value-added telecommunication
services of the Company.

While we have completed the transfer of all of the Group’s value-
added telecommunications businesses in the PRC from Shenzhen
Kegoubai to Kugouwang E-commerce or its affiliate by the time
Kugouwang E-commerce obtained an EDI License on November 27,
2019, certain businesses historically conducted under Shenzhen
Kegoubai that had been consolidated into our financial results and
could not be transferred to Kugouwang E-commerce or its affiliate
directly due to technicality (immediate loss of net assets or heavy
taxation — see also the paragraph headed “Risks relating to the
Contractual Arrangements”). Our Directors are of the view that it is in
the best interest of the Company to maintain the Contractual
Arrangement until the relevant assets could be gradually transferred
to the Group without adverse effects on our financial results.

Further details of the revenue, profit and assets subject to the
Contractual Arrangements can be found in the paragraph headed
“Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements”.
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Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of the risks are set out on pages 39 to
45 of the Prospectus.

° Substantial uncertainties and restrictions exist with respect to
the interpretation and application of PRC laws and regulations
relating to online commerce and the distribution of Internet
content in China. If the PRC government finds that the structure
we have adopted for our business operations does not comply
with PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws or regulations or
their interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to
severe penalties, including the termination of our website or the
forced relinquishment of our interests in our operations.

° We rely on our Contractual Arrangements with our PRC
operating entity Shenzhen Kegoubai to provide certain service
to our business, and our Contractual Arrangements may not be
effective in providing operational control as equity ownership.

° Ms. Yao, the sole shareholder of Shenzhen Kegoubai, may
have conflicts of interest with us, and she may breach the
contracts with us or cause such contracts to be amended in a
manner contrary to our interests, which may materially and
adversely affect our business and financial condition.

° Certain terms of our Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by
Shenzhen Kegoubai if Shenzhen Kegoubai declares bankruptcy
or becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

° The Contractual Arrangements between Kugouwang E-commerce
and Shenzhen Kegoubai may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC
tax authorities and any findings revealing that we or Shenzhen
Kegoubai owe additional taxes could substantially reduce our
consolidated net income and the value of our shareholders’
investment.

° Our exercise of the option to acquire the equity interests of

Shenzhen Kegoubai may be subject to certain limitations and
the ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

Our management works closely with Ms. Yao and our external legal
counsels and advisors to monitor the regulatory environment and
developments in PRC laws and regulations to mitigate the risks
associated with the Contractual Arrangements. Our Directors are of
the view that this would not have a material adverse impact on our
business operation in light of the immaterial revenue and profit
contribution from the Contractual Arrangements and the assets
subject to the Contractual Arrangements constitute an immaterial part
of the Group’s total assets. Further details of the revenue, profit and
assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements can be found in the
paragraph headed “Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements”.

The extent to which the Contractual Arrangements
relate to requirements other than the foreign
ownership restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions as
set out on pages 139 to 144 of the Prospectus.

Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group engaged in
the following Contractual Arrangements.

1. Master Exclusive Service Agreement

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 13, 2014, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Kugouwang
E-commerce entered into a master exclusive service agreement
(the “Master Exclusive Service Agreement’), under which
Shenzhen Kegoubai agreed to engage Kugouwang E-commerce
as its exclusive provider for the provision of a number of
services in exchange for a service fee.

The services to be provided by Kugouwang E-commerce
include: (1) technology development and transfer, and technical
consulting services; (2) business support services; (3) market
consultancy and marketing services; (4) technical support
services; (5) selling and authorizing Shenzhen Kegoubai to use
software; and/or (6) other services determined from time to time
by Kugouwang E-commerce according to the need of business
and capacity of Kugouwang E-commerce and its designated
affiliates.



EE

REBRRGEHE REEKOAERS
ETEBE2ERNBEE  EP8ZERI
ARBENEEEST LKL EMBEHRRS
M THIEE: ()RR EE e
RIEE WRERBSHAERRE: ()REA
BREBEEE: kv s+ BURBH
HEBR-

7R HR

JE B8 A8 E F 7 7% AJ 4R AT 30K AR VI A] BB
BRDEEAXN  BER K B R RS AT
& o BRYIF B B AR E KB AR R
PRERNEETEBBEFEBE R N H
ERSETRBREENE=Z7% BRRK
B E A SR -

(¥KXeEmE

HEEEREDN

20149438138  FIIATEEH K H M —
MRk LT EHEERE TRE L EB
AEmH(EREGERED - BEBEEBKS
e FYIATE A Rk 2 HKB T -
ERDSEBRRETEEEAEREN  F
N - P4 3078 R B EE R
AEGTSETIMNAEREYEESE
E B BAKEENZS-

BE BN LY LB 1R X 15 4 cogobuy.com
BRHERNATBEEUIIOEMAREERR
RIER ERBEEBEERE EHEASE
TRKEREER)AIBEMNATEE -

EEgHE (A

Report of the Directors (Continued)

Pricing

Under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement, the service fee
will be determined by Kugouwang E-commerce at its sole
discretion taking into account the working capital requirements
of Shenzhen Kegoubai and the following factors relating to the
services provided: (i) technical difficulty and complexity of the
services; (i) time spent in providing the services; (i) contents
and commercial value of the services; and (iv) the benchmark
price of similar services in the market.

Term of the agreement

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement can be terminated by
Kugouwang E-commerce at any time upon 30 days’ advance
written notice to Shenzhen Kegoubai. The Master Exclusive
Service Agreement shall also terminate upon the transfer of all
the shares of Shenzhen Kegoubai to Kugouwang E-commerce
and/or a third party designated by Kugouwang E-commerce
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Business Cooperation Agreement

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 13, 2014, Shenzhen Kegoubai and its sole
shareholder, Ms. Yao, and Kugouwang E-commerce entered
into a business cooperation agreement (the “Business
Cooperation Agreement”). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao jointly agreed
that Shenzhen Kegoubai shall not, and Ms. Yao shall cause
Shenzhen Kegoubai not to, engage in any transaction which
may materially affect its asset, obligation, right or operation
without obtaining Kugouwang E-commerce’s written consent.

Although the contractual arrangements are silent as to the use
of the cogobuy.com domain name by the companies within the
Group other than Shenzhen Kegoubai, under the Business
Cooperation Agreement, Kugouwang E-commerce has the
right to supervise Shenzhen Kegoubai’s daily operation.

F3R 2023 EEAF

59



60

EEE®RE (E)
Report of the Directors (Continued)

REXBEERSE  FRITEANES
R EEMBEREMEREEREK
BEMBEERZE A ERBBETEHK
PR ERER  WARIHEBBEF
BIEAERE EEBEEFBAEMER
EFREFASMEREXNENE EXE
RIRLEMEZZR kX TIRYATERARA
RPREBEETEBENEZIEERER
BRAAL

BE SztRE KRIEBRETEH
R AR A G EHEARRRE K
AE AR T7 R ESKORYI AT BB B mORY AT B
BRERRDIKRERGN B2 BEXM
B RBLBIRIFA S RYIA B B R E b
TS S E A DK -

L
EBREHBAAERINTERFENS
FEREY RIFEBRETEBKEAN
BOKRE L EMMBA  HAREEFHK BB
BRI RENMBERNDERTE
BHEIIBR AHEBREFEBE
EME=ZFREIEEBEERZ -

BXBREDE

HEEEREDN

201443138  FIIATE & EEBR
BrEBAvuBRERERZ(BRE
BREHZED B EEEESFEHEE#E
Bk THERBENEMNEAEFRY
AR 2R EETERRES
TRBE /SAHEEENE=F HEAX
EEREETEENEEERATR -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

According to the Business Cooperation Agreement, the election
and appointment of directors, the general manager, the chief
financial officer and other senior management members of
Shenzhen Kegoubai shall be subject to satisfaction of the
qualification requirements put forward by Kugouwang
E-commerce and shall require the explicit consent of
Kugouwang E-commerce. If Kugouwang E-commerce raises
any suggestions over the replacement or dismissal of any such
directors or senior management members, Ms. Yao or
Shenzhen Kegoubai shall replace or dismiss such persons upon
Kugouwang E-commerce’s suggestions.

Furthermore, Ms. Yao agreed that, unless required by
Kugouwang E-commerce, she shall not make any shareholder’s
decision to, or otherwise request Shenzhen Kegoubai to,
distribute any profits, funds, assets or property to the
shareholder of Shenzhen Kegoubai, or to issue any dividends or
other distributions with respect to the shares of Shenzhen
Kegoubai held by the shareholder.

Term of the agreement

The Business Cooperation Agreement shall remain effective as
long as Shenzhen Kegoubai exists, unless Kugouwang
E-commerce terminates it upon 30 days’ advance written
notice or upon the transfer of all the shares held by Ms. Yao to
Kugouwang E-commerce and/or a third party designated by
Kugouwang E-commerce pursuant to the Exclusive Option
Agreement.

Exclusive Option Agreement

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 13, 2014, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Kugouwang
E-commerce entered into an exclusive option agreement (the
“Exclusive Option Agreement”’), under which Kugouwang
E-commerce has a right to require Ms. Yao to transfer any and
all of her shares in Shenzhen Kegoubai to Kugouwang
E-commerce and/or a third party designated by it, in whole or
in part, subject to Kugouwang E-commerce’'s specific
requirements.
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Term of the agreement

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall remain effective as long
as Shenzhen Kegoubai exists, and cannot be terminated by
either Shenzhen Kegoubai or its shareholder. The Exclusive
Option Agreement can be terminated () by Kugouwang
E-commerce at any time upon 30 days’ advance written notice
to Shenzhen Kegoubai and its shareholder; or (i) upon the
transfer of all the shares held by the shareholder to Kugouwang
E-commerce and/or its designee(s).

Share Pledge Agreement

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 13, 2014, Kugouwang E-commerce entered into a
share pledge agreement with Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao
(the “Share Pledge Agreement’). Pursuant to the Share
Pledge Agreement, Ms. Yao unconditionally and irrevocably
pledged all of her shares in Shenzhen Kegoubai, including any
interest or dividend paid for such shares, to Kugouwang
E-commerce as security for the performance of the obligations
by Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao under the Master Exclusive
Service Agreement, the Business Cooperation Agreement, the
Exclusive Option Agreement and other agreements to be
executed among Shenzhen Kegoubai, Ms. Yao and
Kugouwang E-commerce from time to time (collectively the
“Principal Agreements”).

Term of the agreement

The pledge shall remain valid until the Principal Agreements
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of Kugouwang E-commerce
or all of the Principal Agreements have expired or been
terminated, whichever is the latest.

Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney

Nature and purpose of the agreement

On March 13, 2014, Kugouwang E-commerce entered into an
irrevocable proxy agreement and powers of attorney (the “Proxy
Agreement and Power of Attorney”) with Shenzhen
Kegoubai and Ms. Yao, pursuant to which Ms. Yao nominated
and appointed Kugouwang E-commerce or any natural person
designated by Kugouwang E-commerce (including directors of
the Company) as her attorney-in-fact to exercise on her behalf,
and agreed and undertook not to exercise without consensus
with such attorney-in-fact, any and all rights that she has in
respect of her shares in Shenzhen Kegoubai.
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In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the
Exclusive Option Agreement and the Share Pledge Agreement
that Ms. Yao enters into for the benefits of Kugouwang
E-commerce or its affiliate, the attorney-in-fact shall have the
right to sign the share transfer agreement and other relevant
agreements and to perform all shareholder obligations under
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Share Pledge
Agreement.

Term of the agreement

The Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney shall remain
effective as long as Shenzhen Kegoubai exists. Ms. Yao shall
not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement and Power
of Attorney or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-fact
without Kugouwang E-commerce’s prior written consent.

Apart from the above, there are no new Contractual Arrangements
entered into, renewed or reproduced by the Group with Shenzhen
Kegoubai and Ms. Yao during the year ended December 31, 2023.
There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/
or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the year
ended December 31, 2023.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the Contractual
Arrangements has been unwound as none of the restrictions that led
to the adoption of the structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements has been removed.

As at the date of this annual report, () Ms. Yao holds approximately
13.12% of the total issued share capital of the Company, and (i)
Shenzhen Kegoubai is wholly-owned by Ms. Yao, and is therefore an
associate of Ms. Yao and a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, each of the Master Exclusive Service Agreement and the
Exclusive Option Agreement, which is entered into between
Kugouwang E-commerce, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Shenzhen Kegoubai, and each of the Business
Cooperation Agreement, the Share Pledge Agreement, the Proxy
Agreement and Power of Attorney entered into among Shenzhen
Kegoubai, Ms. Yao, and Kugouwang E-commerce, constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company.
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Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements

The revenue, profit for the year and total assets of Shenzhen
Kegoubai are set out as follows:

# £2023F
12831H
IFE
Year ended

December 31,
2023

AR T
RMB’000

Revenue - 751
Profit for the year

(21,328) (13,108)

R 2023 F
12H31H
As at

December 31,
2023

AR T
RMB’000

REE

Total assets

48,038 69,366

HE2023F12A31BLEE ZIYATEBHH
WARFERGFNDBMEAEBEKRARTFE NG
A #10% (2022 £ : 0.01%) N -6.67% (2022 £ :
—2.90%) °

R2023F12 A31H AT B EMEEEMAK
EFBEENL0.47% (20224 : 0.71%) ©

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the revenue and profit for
the year of Shenzhen Kegoubai amounted to approximately 0% (2022:
0.01%) and —6.67% (2022: —2.90%) of the revenue and profit for the
year of the Group respectively.

As at December 31, 2023, the total assets of Shenzhen Kegoubai
amounted to approximately 0.47% (2022: 0.71%) of the total assets
of the Group.
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Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual Review

As a substantial Shareholder of our Company and the sole
shareholder of Shenzhen Kegoubai, Ms. Yao is therefore the
Company’s connected person pursuant to Rule 14A.07(1) of the
Listing Rules. As a wholly-owned limited liability company by Ms. Yao
and by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, Shenzhen Kegoubai
is a connected person of the Company for the purposes of Chapter
14A, and in particular, Rule 14A.07(1), of the Listing Rules. The Group
operates its IC and other electronic components business in the PRC
through a series of Contractual Arrangements entered into between
Kugouwang E-commerce, Shenzhen Kegoubai and Ms. Yao. The
transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
The Stock Exchange has granted a specific waiver to the Company
from strict compliance with the connected transactions requirement
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements, including (i) the announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements; (i) the requirement of setting an
annual cap for the fees payable to Kugouwang E-commerce under
the Contractual Arrangements; and (i) the requirement of limiting the
term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less, for so
long as the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, subject to
certain conditions.

Our Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are
of the view that the continuing connected transactions under the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this annual
report, are fundamental to our Group’s legal structure and business
operations and have been entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Company; (ii) on normal commercial terms
or better; and (i) according to the relevant agreement governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable or to the advantage of the
Group and are in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. Our
Directors also believe that our Group’s structure whereby the financial
results of the consolidated affiliated entities are consolidated into our
Group’s financial statements as if they were our Group’s subsidiaries,
and the flow of economic benefits of their business to our Group
places our Group in a special position in relation to relevant rules
concerning connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
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Our independent non-executive Directors reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that: () the transactions carried out
during the year ended December 31, 2023 have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements, have been operated so that the revenue generated by
Shenzhen Kegoubai has been substantially retained by Kugouwang
E-commerce; (i) no dividends or other distributions have been made
by Shenzhen Kegoubai to the holders of its equity interests which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group; and
(i) no new contracts have been entered into, renewed or reproduced
between our Group and Shenzhen Kegoubai during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Furthermore, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, the Company’s auditor,
were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited has issued a letter to the Board
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, pursuant to which it confirmed
the following:

(@  nothing has come to their attention that causes SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions under the New Agency Agreement, the New
Service Agreement and the Property Leasing and
Complementary Services Framework Agreement, have not
been approved by the Board;

(b)  nothing has come to their attention that causes SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and
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(c)  with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions under the New Agency Agreement, the
New Service Agreement and the Property Leasing and
Complementary Services Framework Agreement, nothing has
come to their attention that causes SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited to believe that such continuing transactions have
exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

Note:

(1) Reference is made to the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”
and the Company’s announcements dated December 23, 2019, February 20,
2020 and December 19, 2022. For the year ended December 31, 2023, given
individual lease agreements were entered into pursuant to the 2023 Property
Leasing and Complementary Services Framework Agreement, additions to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities arising from property
leasing amounted to RMB30.0 million (2022: RMB1.2 million), and the
complementary property management service fees amounted to RMB1.5 million
(2022: RMB1.2 million).

During the year ended December 31, 2023, save as disclosed in the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this annual
report, no other related party transactions disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules with respect to the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group during the
Reporting Period as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company, except
for contract of service with any Director or any employment contract,
were entered into or existed for the year ended December 31, 2023.

CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Our customers primarily consist of electronics manufacturers based
in China. None of our customers accounted for more than 10% of our
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022: nil). For the
Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were approximately 17.4% of the Group’s total
sales, and the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer were
approximately 4.8% of the Group’s total sales. None of our Directors,
their respective associates, or close associates, or any Shareholder,
to the knowledge of our Directors, owns more than 5% of our issued
capital or has any interest in any of our largest customer.

As of December 31, 2023, we had a strong network of approximately
396 suppliers, including some of the top suppliers in key product
categories, such as Intel for industrial control, surveillance, gaming,
medical, robotics, Al, data center/cloud, Mellanox for E-commerce,
Data Center, Al, Microchip for industrial and AloT, Microsoft for cloud
service and AloT, OSRAM for automotive, illumination and sensing,
Realtek for PON communication, loT and ethernet switch, SanDisk
(Western Digital Corporation) for smart mobile device components
and OTT/education electronic learning machine storage device,
Skyworks for 5G communications and WiFi Network, and AMD-Xilinx
for industrial, medical, communication IC design, test and
measurement. For the Reporting Period, our five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 51.5% of the Group’s total
purchases and our largest supplier accounted for approximately
22.7% of the Group’s total purchases. None of our Directors, their
respective associates and close associates, or any Shareholder, to
the knowledge of our Directors, owns more than 5% of our issued
capital or has any interest in any of our five largest suppliers.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
annual report, the Company maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands or under the Company’s Articles of Association that
require the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

LITIGATION

As of December 31, 2023, the Company was not involved in any
material litigation or arbitration. Nor were the Directors of the
Company aware of any material litigation or claims that were pending
or threatened against the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has reviewed together with the management
and the external auditor the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2023 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
(“SHINEWING”). A resolution for the reappointment of SHINEWING
as the Company’s auditors is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other significant
events that might affect the Group since the end of the year ended
December 31, 2023.

UPDATES ON NON-COMPLIANCE MATTERS

As at December 31, 2023, 12 of our lease agreements with PRC
landlords had not been registered with the relevant government
authorities. Under relevant PRC laws and regulations, the non-
registration would not affect the validity of these lease agreements,
but the relevant governmental authority may ask the parties to a lease
to register the lease within a given period, and a fine ranging between
RMB1,000 to RMB10,000 may be imposed on the parties to a lease
for failing to rectify within the given period. We estimate that the
aggregate maximum amount of penalties for not registering such
lease agreements would be RMB120,000. During the period between
the Listing Date and December 31, 2023, we had not been ordered
by any authorities to register the lease agreements within a given
period or fined by such authorities with respect to these non-
registered lease agreements. In addition, the fine which may
potentially be imposed as a result of the failure to register the relevant
leases would be immaterial.

Our PRC Legal Advisor is of the view that the above incident is not
material to our Group as a whole, and all the PRC governmental
authorities referred to are the competent authorities for the matters
mentioned.
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Our Directors are of the view that this non-compliance incident will
not have a material operational or financial impact on us, given that
the potential maximum fine for failure to register lease agreements for
properties we leased would be immaterial.

The Company undertakes that it will rectify all non-compliances in a
timely manner and will update the progress of the rectification of the

non-compliance incidents in the Company’s subsequent interim and
annual reports.

On behalf of the Board

Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, March 28, 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of Directors is pleased to report to the Shareholders on
the corporate governance of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2028.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Group is the provision of an (Integration platform as a
Service) iPaaS technology services platform serving the global IC
industry and AloT ecosystem in China. The Group’s core businesses
are (i) Comtech, a technology services platform for the chip industry,
and (i) Ingdan, a platform providing AloT technology and services.
The Company recognizes the importance of stakeholders at the
Group level and at the Company’s two independently managed core
businesses level.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct affairs with a view to ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Company is committed to maintaining
and promoting stringent corporate governance and endeavour to
ensure achievement of its long-term objectives:

° Integrity — we strive to maintain high standards of ethics

° Customer satisfaction — we aim to deliver high-quality products
and services to the satisfaction of customers

° Industry development — we participate in the formulation of
national technology standards and endeavour to foster the
development of the innovative industry

° Accountability — our overall business risk is monitored and
managed promptly
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° Sustainability — we are committed to create values to
stakeholders through sustainable growth and continuous
development

° Care — we care about our stakeholders — employees,

customers, supply chain and the industry and community

The Board will continuously review the Group’s business strategies
and monitor the changing market conditions to ensure prompt and
proactive measures will be taken to respond to such changes to
foster the sustainability of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors is committed to achieving good corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value and
accountability, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the CG Code contained
in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended December
31, 2023, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code in force during the Reporting Period, save and
except for the deviations from code provisions C.2.1 and D.1.2 of
part 2 of the CG Code as explained below:

Deviation From Code Provision C.2.1:

Code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The Company does not
have a separate chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Kang
currently performs these two roles. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board considers that the balance of
power and authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired
and this structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and effectively. The Board will continue to review
and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate by
taking into account circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Deviation From Code Provision D.1.2:

Pursuant to code provision D.1.2 of part 2 of the CG Code,
management should provide all members of the board with monthly
updates, giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
issuer’s performance, position, and prospects in sufficient details to
enable the board as a whole and each director to discharge their
duties. During the Reporting Period, although the management of the
Company did not provide a regular monthly update to the members
of the Board, the management has provided update to the Board on
quarterly basis and when appropriate, the updated business
information of the Group to keep all Directors abreast of the
performance, position and prospects of the Group and to enable
them to discharge their duties.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for
dealings in the securities of the Company by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

The Board has also adopted the Model Code to regulate all dealings
by relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company in respect of
securities in the Company as referred to in code provision C.1.3 of
part 2 of the CG Code. No incident of non-compliance with the Model
Code by the Company’s relevant employees was noted by the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors take decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them that are
commensurate with their role and the Board responsibilities. The
Board includes a balanced composition of executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.
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EEgAR Board Composition
REZE2023F12A31HIEFEREZAFH  During the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this
HE AL EFepiENTESE annual report, the Board comprises the following Directors:
HITES
Executive Directors
EEHUE & A&
(BEENTEREFSEE)

Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey

(Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board)
[l ke

(BB EFRLAWE)
Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

BHRIE L £
Ms. Guo Lihua
BYFHITES
Independent non-executive Directors
Birks&E REZEEXRE
YFMZEEKE
ExEEEKE
Mr. Ye Xin Chairman of the Nomination Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee
Member of the Audit Committee
BRUTIE L FHEEgXE
REZEGXE
EZLZEGENE
Dr. Ma Qiyuan Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Member of the Nomination Committee
Member of the Audit Committee
a— %A EREZEGER
REEZEGXE
YFMEZEEEKE
Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie Chairman of the Audit Committee

Member of the Nomination Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee
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The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 26 to 31 of
this annual report.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s) between the Board members.

Independent non-executive Directors

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing
more than one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Currently, each independent non-executive Director was appointed
for a specific term of three years commencing on the date of his
appointment letter subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Director in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, which allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement or
further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve
the Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training
and development needs of each Director.
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Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board which
will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of part 2 of the CG Code states that all
Directors, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

According to the requirements under the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. All Directors
are subject to re-election in accordance with the provisions of the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board shall hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions
of the board and management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board directly
and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides direction to
management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place. The Board of Directors takes
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information,
including regularly updates on the Group’s performance, financial
position and prospects, as well as the services and advice from the
Company Secretary and senior management. The Directors may,
upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their
duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

Continuous professional development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the
Company’s key plant sites and meetings with senior management of
the Company.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Online training courses and reading material on relevant
topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Directors have
attended seminars and training sessions conducted by qualified
professionals/legal advisers. The training sessions covered a wide
range of relevant topics including Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
corporate governance and regulatory updates. In addition, relevant
reading materials including compliance manual/legal and regulatory
updates/seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors for
their reference and studying.

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to date of this annual report are summarized as follows:

HITES Executive Directors
BRWUE A& Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey A&B
AR ST Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen A&B
R E L+ Ms. Guo Lihua A&B
BIUKHITES Independent non-executive Directors
BT 5 A Mr. Ye Xin A&B
SRUTE L Dr. Ma Qiyuan A&B
W4 — k4 Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie A&B
B 5 Note:
1) EalEA (1) Types of Training
A: HEEIRE BEETRERABERS Wl A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to briefings, seminars,
& @50 TIEY conferences and workshops
B: HEMAENERER @A BT FHEREE B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and

T4

relevant publications
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs
and delegated its authority to these committees to assist it in the
implementation of its functions. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference, which are
published on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to Shareholders upon request. All
committees should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances upon
request.

Audit Committee

As at December 31, 2023, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye Xin, Dr. Ma
Qiyuan, and Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie (with Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie
possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise). Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie is
the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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The Company adopted revised terms of reference of the Audit
Committee on December 16, 2022. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in
the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting process,
internal control procedures and risk management system,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, audit plan and relationship
with external auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Audit Committee held
three meetings to review, discuss and consider the interim and annual
financial results and reports, accounting principles and practice
adopted by the Group, significant issues on the financial reporting
and compliance procedures, operational and compliance controls,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
and internal audit function, external auditor’s qualification and
independence, engagement of non-audit services and relevant scope
of works and connected transactions, 2023 full year audit plan,
financial control and whistleblowing policy.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors three times
without the presence of the executive Directors for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Remuneration Committee

As at December 31, 2023, the Remuneration Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye Xin, Dr.
Ma Qiyuan, and Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie. Dr. Ma Qiyuan is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

F3R 2023 WEAIF 81



82

TEERKE (FH)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

AN A A2022F 12 516 B B 41 18 51 89 3 B
ZECRBEEE - FNZESNBRERETL
TEEARTANMBERER -FHEES2E
ERERRERAEANNTEERRREEE
2EHEMEE 2RESRSAETEBZHMK
RKREE ITRUERNEESREEZ UEKE
VERABHENBEFUNEREBHFINB R LR
B UHERMEESHHTABRANSEE]
FEREOFMALEH RS & MR
FITEB TN EBABERESEMNEBER -

REZE2023F 12 A31HILFE FHEE g4
T—RE&F UBRTHRREBRREBEENLA
ARRAERERENTNEE TRESSED
EERERE UARBRSTEMBRAUE+LEEBETHE
BAQARKRDHENERZTE BREHRTAL
F]20283F R A D BALRH Bl E FIEF -

BREBECEEERENRAFRIEERS
MEEE | — 6 H E=2023F128318 Ik F
B SREEEBITEBRIN B EBER L
R

The Company adopted revised terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee on December 16, 2022. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management, the establishment of formal and transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure, ensuring that
no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/
her own remuneration, and reviewing and/or approve matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make recommendations
to the Board on the policy, structure and packages for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the
Company, and review material matters relating to the Company’s
Share Schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, including
reviewing certain terms of the Company’s 2023 RSU Scheme.

The remuneration of the senior management (excluding executive
Directors), whose biographical details are included in section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report, for the year ended December 31, 2023 falls within the
following bands:

2,000,001 7% 7T Z 3,000,0007% JT
(18N AR 1,800,361 L=
AR #2,700,5407T)

1,000,001 7T Z 2,000,000 7T
(BN AREO181TTE
AR #1,800,3607T)

HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,800,361 to
RMB2,700,540)

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1
(equivalent to approximately RMB900,181 to
RMB1,800,360)

mEt

Total
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The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors and senior
management, is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and
involvement in the Company’s affairs. The remuneration packages of
executive Directors are also determined with reference to the
Company’s performance and profitability, the prevailing market
conditions and the performance or contribution of each executive
Director. The remuneration for the executive Directors comprises
basic salary, pensions and performance/discretionary bonus. Subject
to the approval of the Remuneration Committee, Executive Directors
are entitled to receive awards granted under the Company’s share
award scheme. The remuneration policy for independent non-
executive Directors is to ensure that independent non-executive
Directors are adequately compensated for their efforts and time
dedicated to the Company’s affairs, including their participation in
Board committees. The remuneration for the independent non-
executive Directors mainly comprises Director’'s fee which is
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the
Board. Independent non-executive Directors shall not receive awards
to be granted under the Company’s share award scheme. Individual
Directors and senior management have not been involved in deciding
their own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

As at December 31, 2023, the Nomination Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye Xin, Dr.
Ma Qiyuan, and Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie. Mr. Ye Xin is the chairman
of the Nomination Committee.

The Company adopted revised terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee on December 16, 2022. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code. The principal duties of the Nomination
Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board, developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
Directors, reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the Director
Nomination Policy and assessing the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board Diversity
Policy, further details of which are set out in the section headed “Board
Diversity Policy” below, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to review the Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on June 27, 2014, which was revised and adopted on
December 14, 2018 and December 16, 2022. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set out the approach on the diversity of the Board and
a sustainable and balanced development. The Company recognizes
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage. During the
Reporting Period, the Board conducted a review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy, and
considered that the experience and competence of the Directors in all
aspects and areas could enable the Company to maintain operation
at a high standard.



TEERHKE (FH)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

REBEEEFERESLZTILRR REBEZESEH
R EFEHNRE  ABLRER  XTREEF
HREAARAMNARREMREESTSIELN
EPRLER UREREZSAFHEMS
TIEWEAE REZBEETHERTRERE
FERHTEREEENE S TL(BEER
ZRILNAGFERR YTRHEFSRLESR
AHEEBREAN BEUFNEFTSERITERER
BERZ -

EZeNBZMEBRRITAREESRTE AEN
—RINZTILERE BREER BELR-
REE - MBI RTERMEERIN TEREE
TERRMER - Fik - XMEERREK -

ARAMBR THBEFENERFHRALAR
AEBEEREHENEESZTIEREDERE
VHNBEREBEZTSEUNTEERNEELE
EALEENRBIEFET NEEAERLR
AEGRES -

REBEFSZILBE CHRMAUTAFGE
ERE

A B2D—

#
B EL—REFTERBEARIFBPTESFH
#, :

= <

BYFWTES

C EI=DZ-—WMEFEKEEARBIUIF
MITEE

D EL—REFTE@XBEACHEEAE
EEELR :

B EIP=DZ-WEFEXREAGEHEM
TETHABBSFNER

A ZELASBNESSKAALSTEIEH
M TSR -

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
reviews regularly the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to
ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profie. The
Nomination Committee will also discuss periodically and where
necessary, agree on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity,
including gender diversity, of the Board and make recommendation
to the Board for consideration and adoption. Diversity will not be
considered to be achieved for a single gender Board.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out a range of diversity perspectives
in selecting candidates to the Board, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and
is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices
at all levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured
so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A)  atleast one of members of the Board shall be female;

(B) atleast one of the members of the Board shall be non-executive
Directors or independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(D) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications;

(E) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall have more
than 5 years of experience in the industry he/she is specialised
in;

(F) at least a majority of the members of the Board shall have
China-related work experience.
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EH:ARES
Male: 5 Directors
zh: —RES

Female: 1 Director
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Designation

HITES  =—RES
Executive Directors: 3 Directors
BN TEE: =RES

Independent non-executive Directors: 3 Directors

FEAEBE R TR
China-related working Experience
RNEEE

6 Directors
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Note: Some Directors may fall into more than one category
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An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the
measurable objectives is set out below:

FHeAR

Age Group
3NFEE40: —REF
31-40: 1 Director
MFRESO : —RES
41-50: 1 Director
S1REGOR MBES
51-60: 2 Directors
B1RETORR: MBESE
61-70: 2 Directors

HEER

Educational Background
ITHER MBES

Business Administration: 2 Directors
g kem MEBEES

Account and Finance: 2 Directors
ERTR/ET NAESF
Engineering/Electronics: 4 Directors

[GEX<:

Business Experience
gtk Eem =2EF
Accounting & Finance: 3 Directors
BRIMER: "BEF

Tech industry: 6 Directors

The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view that the
current composition of the Board has achieved the objectives set in
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the diversity
of the Board and will monitor and evaluate the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group, including the Board and senior management as at the date of
this annual report:

A Board 16.7% (1) 83.3% (5)
2RER Senior Management 50% (1) 50% (1)
HihEgS Other employees 43.3% (249) 56.7% (326)
2EES Overall workforce 43.1% (251) 56.9% (332)

EEZeNERRERELA—RBRUMES  —
ARUESRERBABR=92Z - HEMEERK
e MEMBIREDEK EFR/ LM B AT
MR Z BT AME

BERAARNEEMER O R ABBUENFBHNIR

S HEREREE -

EERAEK

EXEECRERBERZTESNEELENE
BETREZBg-

KATR2018FE 1214 M —HEERSE
BER(ESBRABHE]  WH2022F12 5168
EHEERRPN EERZBKREENERIRES
MEAEEMTERELRERF BMREZGA
BEHARARMEBEENMENHRG EBE%
ENEBIEAT UAKBEBRESTEEERSE
EeEHAAEEMEE -

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least one
female Director, one female senior management and one-third of the
other employees of the Group being female and considers that the
above current gender diversity is satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) on December 14, 2018 and revised and
adopted on December 16, 2022. The Director Nomination Policy
aims to set out the selection criteria and process in the nomination
and appointment of Directors, ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company, and ensure the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.
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The factors that the Nomination Committee of the Company may use
when assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate include but are not limited to the
following:

° character and integrity;

° qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience;

° diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

° requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the
Board and independence of the proposed independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;

° commitment in respect of available time and relevant
contribution to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/
or Board committee(s) of the Company; and

° such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and the succession planning and where applicable,
may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the
Nomination Committee from time to time for nomination of
Directors and the succession planning.
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The nomination process set out in the Director Nomination Policy is
as follows:

Appointment of New Director

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above
to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

(i)  If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

(i) ~ The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

(iv)  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election
as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

(i) ~ The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

(i)~ The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make

recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of Director at the general meeting.
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Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a
candidate as Director at the general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/
or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or
applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review of the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Director
Nomination Policy, and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board for consideration and approval to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs
to ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors. The Board is responsible for
performing the functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of part 2 of
the CG Code.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board had reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
committee meetings and the general meeting of the Company held
during the year ended December 31, 2023 is set out in the table
below:

EREE Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey
HA B Wu Lun Cheung Allen
EF S Guo Lihua

)0 Ye Xin

BROT Ma Qiyuan

B4 — Hao Chunyi, Charlie

BREMBITHEFTE RN NEE2023F
12ANBLEFERN BEFETRNIRATE
ETESNERATEHBIIFATEERIT KX

= =

E O
=i

BURTEFCHEARRABRAE U
mTRERANER -

Bl gHEN FRSEESHENEETE
BREAZRBETEXNEEMNEERERNT
BRI

15/15 T EA N/A @A NA T@EB NA 1/1
15/15 T EA N/A A NA TEBA NA 11
15/15 T @A NA TEA NA TEAB NA 11
15/15 2/2 11 3/3 1/1
15/15 2/2 11 3/3 1/1
15/15 2/2 11 3/3 1/1

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executive Directors during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The independent non-executive Directors have attended general
meeting of the Company to gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the view of the Shareholders.

Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring the Board’s approval
were also arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions to all
Board members.
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PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least
14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management as and when they deemed appropriate.

Directors may attend meetings either in person or through electronic
means of communications and are free to contribute and share their
views at meetings and major decisions will only be taken after
deliberation at meetings. Directors who are considered to have
conflict of interests or material interests in the proposed transactions
or issues to be discussed will not be counted in the quorum of
meeting and will abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions.

The Company Secretary records all matters considered by the Board,
decisions reached and any concerns raised or dissenting views
expressed by the Directors. Minutes of all Board meetings and
committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies
circulated to all Directors for information and records.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023 and confirm that the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view for the year under review, and are
prepared in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements
and accounting standards.
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The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 104 to 113 of
this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems. The Company has
developed and adopted risk management procedures and guidelines
with defined authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including project management, financial
reporting, human resources and information technology.
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The Company’s risk management and internal control systems have
been developed with a clear governance structure, policies and
procedures, as well as reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to
manage its risks across business operations and to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The risk
management system consists of the following phases:

° Identification: identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

° Management: consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.

All departments continuously assess and identify risks and internal
control defects that may potentially impact the business of the Group
and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security. Any risks
identified shall be reported to the management, which will direct the
internal audit department to develop or refine policies and procedures
to address such risks. Any material internal control defects identified
shall be reported to the management and the Audit Committee,
which will provide directions for management to resolve and remedy
such internal control defects and direct the internal audit department
to develop or refine policies and procedures to address such risk.

The management, working closely with department heads and the
internal audit department, assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence,
devised risk management plans, monitored the risk management
progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on key
issues and the effectiveness of the systems. Also, working closely
with the management and department heads, the internal audit
department develops and refines policies and procedures for each
applicable operational and financial process, which may include
approvals, authorisation, verification, recommendations, performance
reviews, asset security, and segregation of duties as appropriate.
Each department conducts regular evaluations to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with. The management has provided a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended
December 31, 20283.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the internal audit function
of the Group was performed by the Company’s internal audit
department, which is responsible for performing regular review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The internal audit department examined key issues
in relation to the accounting practices and all material controls and
provided its findings and recommendations for improvement to the
Audit Committee.

The Company also engaged an external professional advisor in
possession of relevant expertise to conduct an annual independent
review of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2023, in order to ensure (j)
proper process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks; (i) main features of the risk management and internal control
systems were identified; (i) the systems were designed to manage
the risks to achieve business objectives and provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss; (iv) appropriate
process to resolve material risk management and internal control
defects; and (v) effective procedures of risk management and internal
controls for inside information management.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report, internal audit findings and the preliminary report
issued by the professional advisor, has conducted a review on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023. Such review
covered the areas of all material controls, including the Group’s
financial, operational, compliance control and risk management
functions and the adequacy of resources, training programmes,
budgets, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions. Based on the internal
control review, no significant control deficiency was identified. The
Board considered that such systems are effective and adequate.
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Dividend policy

The dividend policy was adopted by the Company pursuant to the
Board meeting held on December 14, 2018 (the “Dividend Policy”)
and was revised and adopted on December 16, 2022. The Dividend
Policy sets out the factors in determination of dividend payment of the
Company, the frequency and form of dividend payments. The
Dividend Policy will be reviewed periodically and submitted to the
Board for approval if amendments are required. The Company does
not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio and intends to
retain most, if not all, of available funds and any future earnings to
operate and expand the business of the Company. The Dividend
Policy outlines the following factors of the Group that the Board
should take into account in determining the distribution and the
amount of any future dividends:

° results of operations;

° cash flows;

° capital requirements;

° general financial condition;

° contractual restrictions;

° future prospects; and

° other factors that the Board may deem relevant.

Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will
be subject to the Articles of Association and the Companies Law,
including the approval of the Shareholders and that dividends can
only be paid out of profits or other distributable reserves. The future
dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend upon the
availability of dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries that
are established in the PRC. Depending on the financial conditions of
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, interim
dividend, final dividend, special dividend, and any distribution of net
profits that the Board may deem appropriate may be proposed and/
or declared by the Board during the financial year and any final
dividend for a financial year will be subject to the Shareholders’
approval.
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Whistleblowing policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest
possible standards of openness, probity and accountability.
Employees at all levels are expected to conduct themselves with
integrity, impartiality and honesty.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy, which was
revised and adopted on December 16, 2022, for employees of the
Company and those who deal with the Company to raise concerns,
in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about
possible improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

Anti-corruption

The Company has in place the Anti-Corruption Policy, which was
adopted on December 16, 2022, to safeguard against corruption and
bribery within the Company. The Company has an internal reporting
channel that is open and available for employees of the Company to
report any suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can also
make anonymous reports to the internal audit function, which is
responsible for investigating the reported incidents and taking
appropriate measures. The Company continues to carry out anti-
corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity,
and actively organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to
ensure the effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company held one
anti-corruption training and briefing to 113 employees. The Group’s
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Internal
Guidelines were also accessible to all employees on the group
intranet at all times. During the Reporting Period, there were no non-
compliance cases in relation to bribery and corruption.

Information disclosure policy

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited. The Board is entrusted with the responsibility for
monitoring and implementing the procedural requirements in the
information disclosure palicy.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditor of the
Company, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, and its affiliated firm, for
the year ended December 31, 2023 in respect of audit and non-audit
services is set out below:

=R -

Audit service:

HAREEEH E2023F 12 A31 B IEFEH Annual audit on the consolidated financial statements of

REMBHRRETFESER the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 3,000,000
IEZE R - Non-audit service:
HAREEFHZE2023F6 8308 1E7<@ 8  Interim review on the consolidated financial statements of

MirE M mRETHHER the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023 1,000,000
HAEEEIEITE D (FRE) Industrial analysis on internal controls (Note) 850,000
#Et Total 4,850,000

MisE: mEXKDBERERERARUEKPN(ER) Gat
MEBMERAR 2B ERF)ET

RAME

RAMERARANEBEEYHEZTEXRME &
B EZERREFERFTRABETRES
ERFERRSHIMET RTEERRES
RN THMABERNEE RA - RO ki
XERMER-

NAMEEHER  BEREE2023F12A31H 1t
FERNBEL2NTLR16E/NEFERNFEEEI - AU
FHEERME  FA ETAHRE3.2915 8
FIE °
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Note: Performed by SHINEWING Risk Services Limited, an affiiated company of
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and is
appointed by the Board, who supports the Board by ensuring board
procedures are followed and board proceedings are efficiently and
effectively conducted. The incumbent is also responsible for ensuring
that the Board is fully apprised of all applicable laws, rules, regulations
and corporate governance developments.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of professional training to update his skills and
knowledge for the year ended December 31, 2023 in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the
Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward enquiries
to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention of the Board
of Directors by mail to 11/F, Microsoft Comtech Tower, No. 55
Gaoxin South 9th Road, Nanshan, Shenzhen 518057, PRC or by
email to ir@ingdan.com. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

Shareholders may propose a person for election as Director, the
procedures for which are available in the section of “Corporate
Governance” under the column of “lnvestor Relations” on the
Company’s website (http://www.ingdangroup.com).

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meeting

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Company to be
discussed at general meeting. Shareholders who wish to put forward
a proposal should convene an extraordinary general meeting by the
procedures set out in “Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting”.

Contact details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

11/F, Microsoft Comtech Tower, No. 55 Gaoxin South 9th Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen 518057, PRC

BEER
BREAMUATIH AR EL EXRR2EHK
Ek:
ok H BURYITH E LR = 5T R LB S5 SR M E R R K E 1148 - F4R - 518057
GERKHEARKREEBEEE)
Address:
(For the attention of the Investor Relations Director)
BE: +86 (755) 2674 3522
Fax: +86 (755) 2674 3522
B ir@ingdan.com
Email: ir@ingdan.com
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MEBASESHRBRAME) 2 EARRXR 3
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For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

To manage its relationship with the investment community, the Group
meets regularly with the press and financial analysts and participates
frequently in other conferences and presentations.
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To further promote effective communication, the corporate website is
maintained to disseminate Company announcements and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a
timely basis.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy.
The policy aims at promoting effective communication with
Shareholders and other stakeholders, encouraging Shareholders to
engage actively with the Company and enabling Shareholders to
exercise their rights as Shareholders effectively. The Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’
Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining
an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

(@) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules
refers to any document issued or to be issued by the Company
for the information or action of holders of any of its securities,
including but not limited to the following documents of the
Company: (a) the Directors’ report, annual accounts together
with a copy of the auditor’s report and, where applicable, its
summary financial report; (b) the interim report and, where
applicable, its summary interim report; (c) the quarterly report; (d)
a notice of meeting; (e) a listing document; (f) a circular; and (g)
a proxy form. The Corporate Communication of the Company
will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk) in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be provided to
Shareholders and non-registered holders of the Company’s
securities in both English and Chinese versions or where
permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as required
by the Listing Rules. Shareholders and non-registered holders
of the Company’s securities shall have the right to choose the
language (either English or Chinese) or means of receipt of the
Corporate Communication (in printed form or through electronic
means).
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Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on
the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on the
Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company’s website (www.ingdangroup.com) under the Investor
Relations section.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The information provided
shall be reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to make
an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s).
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and
on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where
appropriate or required, the Chairman of the Board and other
Board members, the chairmen of board committees or their
delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions (if
any). The chairman of the independent board committee (if any)
should also be available to answer questions at any general
meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, via its online holding enquiry
service at www.computershare.com/hk/contact, or call its hotline
at +852 2862 8555, or go in person to its public counter at
17M Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company has not
made any changes to its Articles of Association. An up-to-date
version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

On behalf of the Board

Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, March 28, 2024
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F., Chubb Tower, Windsor House
311 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

EXPH(ESR) G BISHAARAT
HBIEEETFE311%R
EXZREREASTAELTE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF INGDAN, INC.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ingdan, Inc.
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 114 to 272, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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FEEFESEE

ARBAFTHEEREUAMNERAE  REH
AERAMBREINBARBERNFTE L
EEREEUMBABEBGAVBRRI LA
EARETEEN RATSHZFEHEH
EBMER-
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20236 12A381H " EEENEFREER
EEREED AL B A R 445,154,000 7T
& A R #607,007,0007T © 2 9 B £ TR &
ReEtEf- EXENEEEYUETEE
ENEEBETRENRE  DTUAEREES
BEMUNEREEAEEREAR - B E2023
FI2AN B IEFETEERTAREESRE -

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s intangible assets and goodwil
are approximately RMB445,154,000 and
RMB607,007,000 respectively, which were
allocated to different cash-generating units. The
management of the Group performed
impairment testing on the intangible assets and
goodwill based on value-in-use calculations of
each cash-generating unit. No impairment loss
was recognised for the year ended 31
December 20283.

B ERVEENBENREERR B
BREGFEE RERBETVEERBENRE
HEHGEEHBERREBMEEEXR A
R ESEEERBEEETRENAREDL
BARRE I R EE -

We have identified the impairment of intangible
assets and goodwill as a key audit matter
because the carrying amounts of intangible
assets and goodwill are significant to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole
and there is involvement of a significant degree
of judgements and estimates made by the
management of the Group when performing the
impairment testing.

B M % AR ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

Refer to notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies on pages 132 and 150.

HMWEAIRFEEBRERBENTMG UARAARETE
& B N B E R S e (5 S o

Our audit procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment, and its estimations and judgements used in the
impairment testing on intangible assets and goodwill.

BMETERRENHESREEEELELOHZRNA K E
FEERHEBHSHRSEEAENIELEN I EESEE -

We have assessed the reasonableness of the identification of each
cash-generating unit and the allocation of the intangible assets and
goodwill to each cash-generating unit for impairment assessment.

BMTEaE ESEEEEEMETHRENR BZME2E
BEAE BESEEEREMRANTESE  ASEMNEARRS
mEBFEAMANBEEBELRER TEEEREAHR/IEA
EGNEBEREAETHB -RMATRBEEHAISEHNERE
BERARENBARBeREBATNAGREARE S
B BREEANFHEERERX - BRMTEABZAEERRK
W ABETSRR R EXEEERENBIL(GERM
REREBEFTEMRMNNITIRE -

We have also assessed the impairment testing performed by the
management of the Group. We have tested the underlying data and
assumptions used in the profit forecasts and cash flow projections
by agreeing the budgets approved by the management of the
Group and compared with actual results available up to the report
date. We have also challenged the reasonableness of the
management’s judgements and estimates used in the profit
forecasts and cash flow projections, including the forecasted sales
and growth rate, against latest available information. We have also
challenged the discount rate adopted by the management of the
Group and the independent valuer in the value-in-use calculations
by reviewing its basis of calculation and comparing the input data
to market sources.
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FERE Allowance for inventories
IRMG AT RENT25 AR E151HHE  Refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the
GETER © accounting policies on page 151.
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MR2023F12A31H - EEEMNGFEREE
R T & H 4 AR ¥28,364,0007T 1% -

4 B AN R #4,506,058,000 T ° & Z 20234
12ABIEFE EHIALNGFEEREE
#) AR ¥2,622,0007T °

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of the Group’s inventories is approximately
RMB4,506,058,000, net of allowance for
inventories of approximately RMB28,364,000.
The net allowance for inventories of
approximately RMB2,622,000 was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

B FEREHRRAS —HUEREFS
H - RAR EXEFENREEYHGRSH
BHREAEBMEBER URFR BEEH
EEERBNRERFHEHFERERTEE
RRAE TSR RETA R FENATER
FE]) BB EARHET R fkET -

We have identified the allowance for inventories
as a key audit matter because the carrying
amount of the Group’s inventories is significant
to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole and there is involvement of significant
judgements and estimates made by the
management of the Group when identifying
obsolete and slow-moving inventories and
determining the net realisable value (“NRV”),
which are based on conditions and the
marketability of the inventories.
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BMPNEFEFEAETEEEBERENFHEFENRIR
MHFREBRNGFEBEBROME -

Our audit procedures were designed to evaluate the management’s
assessment on the conditions and the marketability of obsolete and
slow-moving inventories and identification of allowance for
inventories.

BHMEHFENAZE FEETEAENSERELNMGE I
Y EEEEEEMEAFEENRAKRTISERELFE-

BMERMBEEELFENREDTENRRXHETHS -

HAPPERMEEESRHEHEHE BRI ETRE -

We have assessed the reasonableness of the basis adopted by the
management of the Group on determining the NRV of inventories
and evaluating the conditions and marketability of the inventories.
We have performed testing on the ageing analysis of the
inventories, on a sample basis, to source documents. We have also
tested the subsequent sales, on a sample basis, to source
documents.

BMITERMEREE K2ERAEE THURERFH
FEELNBERES AR RAGATZRFEE-

We have also assessed the adequacy of allowance for obsolete
and slow-moving inventories and the estimated NRV with reference
to the latest selling price, on a sample basis.
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Loss allowance on trade receivables

BEZRURENGRER

IR AR A M S MR M 26 - AR S 168E164
HRMEHBER-

Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies from pages 158 to 164.

R2023F12A31H EXEEMNE 5 E WK
FIBEREEN RO ARB115747,0007T
WESRKRFIEEERERZ ORARE
1,679,780,0007T ° # £2023F 12 A31 8 1t
FEERALNMBROERREBEIHAOARA
R #24,115,0007T °

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of the Group’s trade receivables is
approximately RMB1,679,780,000, net of loss
allowance on trade receivables of approximately
RMB115,747,000. Net loss allowance of
approximately RMB24,115,000 was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BB ESRRAENEERERRR —
HERENFE RFAE BESEEZREK
RENREHEH G BEREEREMSE
BRX UREFGHEREEEE(EHRESR
EEDEAR PREEERBRAANGEE
BIELR EHEARTENIELEENRES
B AS B IR IR 4 I B KR A BT R Ak Bt o
We have identified the loss allowance on trade
receivables as a key audit matter because the
carrying amount of the Group’s trade
receivables is significant to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and there is
involvement of a significant degree of
management’s judgements and estimates
involved in assessing the expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model, based on the historical credit
loss experience and forward-looking information
specific to the debtors and their economic
environments.

BB IEFEEBZEREBYHNE 5 KFIAN B EEEN
RANEREEBEBREEL A -

Our audit procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment of the ECL model adopted for the loss allowance on
trade receivables.

B2 TR
HHFTRRF °
We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used and
its development processes adopted by the management of the
Group in the ECL model.

EEEEREARPNEEBRELUMRANITER

BMITENE BESEEREHMRAEHCEEERER .
FkiE 2 8 KR PR A B A 3B 15 B AT AR 1 I B0 R &R I HI B =2
BB -BAMTEHMEEREHEEFEBEXMANEIER
B AT EEEREREEY -

We have also assessed the reasonableness of assumptions and
judgements made by the management of the Group on the ECL
model adopted, parameters selected and the internal credit rating
used. We have also examined the key data used in the ECL model
on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and reasonableness.
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Loss allowance on loans receivables

BHRERNEERE

IR AR S SRR M 5227 - LAK 158 F 164
BREEBUR -

Refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies from pages 158 to 164.
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M2023F12HA31H - EXENEKE KK
H B4 & A R ¥709,247,0007C * & KR
BHEESRERK(BISI V&R REES) R
EXEEEP BMEARFERERES
REMER - B E2023F12A31H L FE
I B HE R A B R R -
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of the Group’s loans receivables is
approximately RMB709,247,000, representing
the loans granted to customers, associates and
non-controlling investees of the Group under
the supply chain financing services, namely
IngFin Financing Services and employees. No
loss allowance was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

BMEEKREFRODEBEEEGERRA RS —HH
REGFFE RER S5£EEKEFHER
HEHGEEHBERERERBMEBEER UK
EFHEREEBEBEEXR PR E&E
ERERBYHEMBERATINEEEBRE
KB BEHEARTEHNREEENRESHK
EIRBELERRE 6 HET R G5 -

We have identified the loss allowance on loans
receivables as a key audit matter because the
carrying amount of the Group’s loans
receivables is significant to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and there is
involvement of a significant degree of
judgements and estimates made by the
management of the Group and the independent
valuer in assessing the ECL model, based on
historical credit loss experience and forward-
looking information specific to the debtors and
their economic environments.
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BMOBEAEFE B EEBUNBERERNEBRERR
ERANEREEEEEXELOTMGE -

Our audit procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment of the ECL model adopted for the loss allowance on
loans receivables.

BMETHR BESEERERBUMEMEEHEEERBER
BAEKAN T EREHETET -

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used and
its development processes adopted by the management of the
Group and the independent valuer in the ECL model.

BMAENE ESEEEEBRBUGEEMYMEBESRE
EEEEX R E2HRARAORSEETRMIELD
BERAGEESE BMTEHEEREREEBEEEREN
FTANETEZEE UFHHEEERSEM -

We have also assessed the reasonableness of assumptions and
judgements made by the management of the Group and the
independent valuer on the ECL model adopted, parameters
selected and the internal credit rating used. We have also examined
the key data used in the ECL model on a sample basis to assess
their accuracy and reasonableness.
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As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of the Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI is
approximately RMB884,596,000. Independent
valuer was engaged by the management of the
Group for the fair value determination of each of
the unlisted equity investments as at 31
December 2023.

B EERAFTEAFAEME2EKE S
TREENATERRR —Iﬁﬁéfﬁ%ﬁ%
B RERZEHEYGRaMBREER
EEEXR UREEBEER #&iﬁﬂiﬂﬁ/&ﬂ?
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Kok BEXEEREENRBEAERMEL
BERAG KRG BECAERTA B REH
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We have identified the fair value determination
of financial assets at FVTOCI as a key audit
matter because the carrying amount is
significant to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and there is involvement
of significant judgements and estimates,
including use of significant unobservable inputs,
made by the management of the Group and the
independent valuer when determining the fair
value of financial assets at FVTOCI at the end of
the reporting period.

B M % AR ()

Fair value determination of financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 157.

HPNEAEFEEBRAGLGEE (BREA S5EEEE
REEMREEATERKANERTAHERAE) 256
3 o

Our audit procedures were designed to review the reasonableness
of judgements and estimates, including use of significant
unobservable inputs adopted in the fair value determination by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer.

BMEREBIAEMARGEEST L - BMTEERBERAE
EXRREBBABBETISRR EH BE5EEEERSE
ifﬁfﬁ R ATFEREANERR “)Si%ﬂﬁ (1 40 2F &
AFERRANBIEHERHEERERI TR AR
We have discussed with the independent valuer on the valuation
methodology and challenged the reasonableness of the underlying
assumptions and data used by the management of the Group and
the independent valuer in the fair value assessment, such as the
earnings multiples and sales multiples adopted in the fair value
assessment by reviewing its basis of calculation and comparing the
input data to market sources.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in corporate information, directors and senior management, report of
the directors and corporate governance report but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report,
and the financial highlights, chairman’s statement, management
discussion and analysis and five-year financial summary, which are
expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Kwan Chi Fung.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwan Chi Fung

Practising Certificate Number: PO6614

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income
ELZE20235F 12 A31H LS E For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 F

2023

AR% T

RMB’000
WA Revenue 7 8,863,382 9,535,519
$HE KA Cost of sales (7,833,461) (8,422,214)
ESl Gross profit 1,029,921 1,113,305
EUg A - Yz 258 Other income, gains and losses 9 52,845 66,163
HERDHERX Selling and distribution expenses (199,828) (140,725)
e Research and development expenses (102,582) (155,691)
THREMKEEFRST  Administrative and other operating expenses (315,031) (298,960)
B 7 AR R Finance costs 10 (109,295) (67,746)
BB E N R EE Share of results of associates 4,435 (451)
B B4 Al Profit before tax 360,465 515,895
g x Income tax expenses 11 (40,595) (63,475)
F 35 F Profit for the year 12 319,870 452,420

AT EMEFREA : Profit for the year attributable to:

EiN/NEIE RPN Owners of the Company 210,700 314,414
TR = Non-controlling interests 109,170 138,006
319,870 452,420
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
B ZE20235F12 A31H L /E For the year ended 31 December 2023

20235
2023

AR¥T R
RMB’000

HEh2mEMAXZ Other comprehensive expense

HETEEN BT Items that will not be reclassified subsequently

BmhEE - to profit or loss:
BT sk B aE B Exchange differences arising on translation
BEABEREEHTE of financial statements from functional
AHER E58 currency to presentation currency (23,131) (71,961)
BERAFEEAEM Net change in fair value of equity investments
2ERAEBRAKRE at fair value through other comprehensive
WA EZEEFE income (182,617) (283,395)
(205,748) (855,356)
Ak EM 7 EZE Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
EmhIEE - profit or loss:
W E B INETS B TS Exchange differences arising on translation
7 P E A 8 of financial statements of foreign
fE 3 =% operations (5,296) (27,281)
(5,296) (27,281)
FREMEEAE Other comprehensive expense for the year (211,044) (382,637)
FA2E (X)) K= Total comprehensive (expense) income for the
FER year 108,826 69,783
UTEEFARAZAE Total comprehensive (expense) income for the
() s 48%8 year attributable to:
ZiN/NETE F =N Owners of the Company 12,575 (725)
FEVE AR 2 Non-controlling interests 96,251 70,508
108,826 69,783
A& & K| EARNINGS PER SHARE
ERKAR®IT) Basic (RMB) 16 0.154 0.224
#E(ARET) Diluted (RMB) 0.154 0.224
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
202312318 As at 31 December 2023

2023 F

2023

AR% T

RMB’000

EMENEE Non-current assets
W E NEE Plant and equipment 17 14,569 8,306
FEHEEE Right-of-use assets 18 122,702 29,549
KEYE Investment properties 19 222,403 237,653
B EE Intangible assets 20 445,154 1,027,026
S Goodwill 21 607,007 607,007
BAFEFAHMEE Financial assets at fair value through other

WS mEE comprehensive income 22 884,596 646,024
FEWE X Loans receivables 27 284,612 704,002
REE AR = Interests in associates 23 26,839 22,404
R—EALPENEZ  Interestin ajoint venture 24 = —

2,607,882 3,281,971
MBEE Current assets
=ZE8 Inventories 25 4,506,058 4,080,543
E 5 W RIE - I Trade, bills and other receivables

B R E A E Y FRIE 26 1,932,233 1,469,767
& E Loan receivables 27 424,635 —
EAFEFAER Financial assets at fair value through profit

(M RFEFTAER]D or loss (“FVTPL”)

NEREE 28 - 6,000
BEEMFIRITER Pledged bank deposits 29 287,705 190,539
HekBEE&EEY Cash and cash equivalents 29 437,777 676,419

7,588,408 6,423,268

MEBE Current liabilities
B 5 & E A A RRIA Trade and other payables 30 3,304,924 3,423,946
HEAE Lease liabilities 18 19,193 12,555
aHAEE Contract liabilities 31 101,700 262,551
e ET 1SR Income tax payables 1,249 33,866
RITER Bank loans 32 1,597,377 888,116
5,024,443 4,621,034
MB)E E SRR Net current assets 2,563,965 1,802,234
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
M2023FE12 4318 As at 31 December 2023

2023 F
2023
AR T
RMB’000
MEERABBE Total assets less current liabilities 5,171,847 5,084,205
FRBBE Non-current liabilities
REFRIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 33 33,878 41,530
Hitema&i Other financial liabilities 34 610,699 571,347
HEAE Lease liabilities 18 12,550 17,976
657,127 630,853
BEFE Net assets 4,514,720 4,453,352
EAR K FE Capital and reserves
fi% Z< Share capital 35 1 1
fE Reserves 3,993,792 4,028,675
3,993,793 4,028,676
FEVE AR M = Non-controlling interests 520,927 424 676
1 Total equity 4,514,720 4,453,352

F14ZE2T2E MR A M ISR KRR 2024F 3 A 28
AREEeRARITERE AL TESNK
REZE:

BEaE
Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey
BFE

Director

The consolidated financial statements on pages 114 to 272 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

[ x4
Wu Lun Cheung, Allen
BFE

Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

KATRAAER
Attributable to owners of the Company

RERHRH
Efiitll
2RERS
HRHAERH Bt
RitaE HREs BANRS EERE ATEER &t FERER
Shares held
for the
Restricted
Share Unit
Share-based Scheme (the Non-
Share Share Capital  compensation Other “RSU  Exchange  Statutory  Fairvalue  Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve Scheme”) reserve reserves reserve profits Total interests Total
ARBTR ARETR AR%TR ARETR ARMTR ARETR AR®TR ARMTr ARMTR ARETR ARETR AR®Tz ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'00  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(H335) (W) (WaEa) (WG (W) (G G ET)
(note 35) (note (i) (note () (note (i) (note (iv)) (note (v)) (note (vi))

#0351 R18 At1 January 2023 1 2,073,753 18,923 2172 (110,184) (39,900) (9,091) 13,891 (444528) 2,498,639 4,028,676 424676 4,453,352
EREH Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 210,700 210,700 109,170 319,870
A28 (%) i Qther comprehensive (expense) income
BENBRRAELD Exchange diferences arsing on
EXER tranglation of financial
statements - - - - - - (1550 = = = (15508 (12919 (8421
BOFEHALHZE Net change in fair value of equity
Wi ((RAFEFA nvestments at far valug
B2 ENE ) HRE through other comprehensive
RENATERSE income (FYTOCH) - - - = = = - - (182617) - (182617) - (et

ENRERT)NEEE Total comprehensive (expense) income for

the year - - - - - - (15,508) - (182,617) 210,700 12,575 96,251 108,826
ke Dividends - (50402) - - - - - - = = (50,402) o (50,402)
RETRHRGELF BT Issue of shares under the RSU scheme
et (Hiiz38) note 38) - - - (1,842 = 1842 = - - - - - -
REAEENRGTAOBEE  Equity-setied share-based compensation
R% (H3k38p) expenses (note 38(0) - - - 2944 - - - - - - 204 - 204
Ho0sE 128318 A3 December 2023 1 om 18 /A4 (HO1Y  @B0SY (45 19891 (M5 270931 88373 SN ST
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

#0251 R18 At1 January 2022 1 2,115,407 18,923 26,214 (22,508) (43,097 22,653 13,891 (161,133 2184225 4154638 307509 4542147
ERE Prft o e e - - - - - - - - -GN G4 106 440
L2 (%) it Other comprehensive (expense) income:
BENBRRAEEN Exchange diferences arising on
EXER tranglation of financial

setements - - - - - - B - - N I 7 N 1 )
BATEHARBEE Net change n far value of equity
Yt RERER nvestments at FVTOCI
APEZEE - - - - - - - - - - o

ER2E ) hEaE Total comprehensive (expense) income for

the year - - - - - - (31,744) - (283,395) 314414 (725) 70508 69,783

HERBRE (M 400) Disposal of a subsilary (note 40(a) - - - - - - - - - - _ 13765 13765
ERAEBERIE Reclassiication ftom share repurchase

(H35) (note 35) - (41,654) - - - - - - - - (#1,854) - (41,654)
HE-HHBARNES Disposalof nterest n a subsidiary

() (e 41d) - - - - e - - - - N 7 I V1A N 8]
BERBHRRAEMTBZS  Issue of shares under the RSU scheme

B (338) {ote 3] - - - B197) - 3107 - - - - - _ -
REGEENRGIAHBE  Equity-setied share-based compensation

B3 (K3 380) expenses (note 38(0) - - - 409 - - - - - - 409 _ 4005
H02E12A318 At 31 December 2022 1 2,073,753 18,923 2112 (110,184) (39,900 (9,091 13891 (444508 2498639 4028676 424676 4453352
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REka2BR(E)
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

B &E :

(i)

(i)

)

EARfHERE

EHEREE2012612 A31 8 L FE AN R & R A
/& A E AR FKIA3,000,000% T (HHERHDARKE
18,923,0007T) °

UARR 7 73 EE 8 &) 78 1 4

EHERBEHASHARDAZRRONIEANN S
AHRRERNREIRIBOEMAERTARA
REMBARNEZRERNBROMNE L EHAFE

D e
HoAth 5%

HFEHRNBEFEE AREENBARERE
TS W E G R GIE

R S v & S ) 40)

fems LBEARRRNDZENREZINAIHZR
HIRDEMFEFENRND] MAARSEAAER
k-

RARRMBEOHERBMBETEEAR CHEBN
52 By AR £ 6 4B BE AR A 5 AT L X2 R ) R £ B AL F 81 5
BRRMDIA - HTARD SEROBERZHIED
MR o

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

Notes:

(i)

)

Capital reserve

It represents an amount of US$3,000,000, equivalent to approximately
RMB18,923,000, contributed by the shareholder of the Company in the form of
cash during the year ended 31 December 2012.

Share-based compensation reserve

It represents the portion of the grant date fair value of the shares granted to the
directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries under the RSU
Scheme that has been recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note 3.

Other reserve

The other reserve is set up in prior year to deal with the changes in ownership
interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control.

Shares held for the RSU Scheme

The consideration paid for purchasing the Company’s shares from the market is
presented as “shares held for RSU scheme” and the amount is deducted from
total equity.

When the Company’s shares are transferred to the awardees upon vesting, the
related costs of the awarded shares vested are credited to “shares held for RSU
scheme”, with a corresponding adjustment made to “share-based compensation
reserve”.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

REFEARAKMB(HEDIIHRECENER
AP ABERAR RERR R BEREANIEINGTE AR
mED REMBARAEERETR AR RA
(TFEARERAEENAFOEE BOBRE
SHER R - REAEREEESKER(RBDEE
il -

R—REBNS  BREE - REANSFHHEBRTE
MEBARMEEMERE ZREEENTAERERSE
RAAERRERE DK

WEATBERFEETNS  HETENBEARNAERES
B2 R & AR B B TE Y AL Y 10% 8 8 20K E B ER
B BEERBESEDNEETRNBARZMELRD
50% ° EE = UL FEH AR 2 KIS ATEST AT R
REAMERNEFEZBER(WB)BA @ LA R K
RIZE B AR B PIBATH AR - S IE AR B
FREZBROEE  FHEATERBFEERBRA  HH
TRMEZ EHR TGO REME R Z225% © 50% i #
‘RBUASINERNESSBETRBEBETRMBERRS
IRAERBRR B EBE - ERETEMBRE -

AFEER
AFEEBEERBREMMARATFENAL L2
WS HAENA T ERELDFR - DREN
BEFT LA B B IR AR ¢

R EREEHRBR -

Notes: (Continued)

v)

(vi)

*

Statutory reserves

According to laws applicable to the foreign investment enterprises in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the Articles of Associations to laws applicable
to the foreign subsidiaries in the PRC, the subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
appropriate part of their net profits as determined in accordance with the
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the PRC (the “PRC GAAP”) to various
reserves. These include general reserve and statutory surplus reserve (collectively
referred to as the “statutory reserves”).

For general reserve, appropriation to general reserve is at the discretion of the
directors of the relevant subsidiaries in the PRC. The reserve can only be used for
specific purposes and is not distributable as cash dividends.

For statutory surplus reserve, 10% of the net profit, as determined in accordance
with the PRC GAAP, of the relevant subsidiaries in the PRC is transferred to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the relevant subsidiaries in the PRC. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of dividends. The statutory surplus reserve can be
utilised with the previous years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into share
capital by the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing
shareholders or by increasing the par value of the shares currently held by the
shareholders, provided that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of
the registered capital. Any amount of funds outside of the 50% reserve balance
can be distributed as by the relevant subsidiaries in the PRC, as advances or cash
dividends, subject however, to complying with applicable requirements.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of

financial assets at FVTOCI at the end of the reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies in note 3.

The English name is for identification purpose only.
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HEEERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 F
2023
AR®B T
RMB’000
RETH OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B B¢ A A Profit before tax 360,465 515,895
BLLATN S IE ML FE Adjustments for:
BEREETE Depreciation of plant and equipment 2,424 879
TRBEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 24,464 18,656
WEMERE Depreciation of investment properties 15,250 309
B AEES Amortisation of intangible assets 287,672 276,724
B 7% Bk AR Finance costs 109,295 67,746
RITHF B U A Bank interest income (14,991) (5,461)
B RN FIE (BREE Loss allowance (reversal of loss allowance on)

BE)BIERE on trade receivables 24,115 4,127)

GFE(BERD) BB FHE Allowance for (reversal of allowance for)

inventories, net 2,622 (491)
FEALHE & N RS AE Share of results of associates (4,435) 451
HEK B QW F5E Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 40)

(Hf3E40) - (48,913)
BT B Government grants (19,777) (5,438)
Il 58 R 5 % AR Written off of plant and equipment 159 —
BHEREE RN I M® Equity-settled share-based compensation

mERX expenses 2,944 4,095

LEESEHIIKLER S Operating cash flows before movements
mE in working capital 790,207 820,325

FEEM Increase in inventories (460,752) (2,176,724)
B oEWNZIE  EWEE KR (ncrease) decrease in trade, bills and other

H e U ZR A (38 00) Ik 4 receivables (488,251) 582,445
}T’i WE R &S i j]l] Increase in loans and interest receivables (5,245) (304,845)
B 5 & EH b IR (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables

CR 4,/ 48 (165,641) 1,667,091
AR BEORD), M (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (162,795) 153,365

REZSH (A ABERE Cash (used in) generated from operations (492,477) 741,657
SRS Income tax paid (80,864) (83,190)

reEEE (A MBES NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING
SE ACTIVITIES (573,341) 658,467
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 F
2023
AR% T
RMB’000
REZEH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(FH) @G B EARITFER  (Placement of ) release on pledged bank deposits (97,166) 191,474
BEFHEEE Purchase of right-of-use assets (94,789) —
BEELEE Purchase of intangible assets (64,411) (269,087)
BEME MRME Purchase of plant and equipment (8,833) (1,403)
(EE)EAFEMEE AEBZHN  Proceeds from (purchase of) financial asset at
CREEMNMERE FVTPL 6,000 (6,000)
2 W F B Interest received 14,991 5,461
HAEEEAEMEEUZ  Additional capital contribution in financial assets at
HNEMEEREIINEE FVTOCI - (360,240)
HEMBRARIZREERA Net cash inflows from disposal of subsidiaries
FEE (FE40 % 41) (notes 40 and 41) - 17,179
RETBHFAREFHE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (244,208) (422,616)
g E B FINANCING ACTIVITIES
MERTER New bank loans raised 2,778,686 1,350,022
IR T 478 B M 3K Receipts of government grants 19,777 5,438
THERBER Repayment of lease liabilities (24,102) (20,651)
EfER S Dividend paid (50,402) -
SRR PIY Interest paid (65,787) (25,644)
BEBTER Repayment of bank loans (2,083,353) (860,820)
BOEZTEER Repurchase of issued ordinary shares - (41,654)
U B B [ A B 58 I A B Payment for acquisition of additional equity interest
- 5% (BF 7% 40(a)) in a subsidiary (note 40(a)) - (134,784)
METEMEBEEFEE NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 574,819 271,907
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GEHERER(E)
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

20235
2023

AR¥T R
RMB’000

ReRESEZEY RD) NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND
EmFEE CASH EQUIVALENTS (242,730) 507,758
FHNERERBEESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 676,419 137,295
[EREBH T2 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4,088 31,366
FRESRESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END
ERTTHE S AR e R K OF THE YEAR, represented by bank balances

and cash 437,777 676,419

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—RER

BEAM(ABEARBILIHER) (AR
Al A—HR2012F2A1BERESHSE
BIEF S BB AP E22E A A (1961
FEIFED - K ixE RIEET) T LK
EHRREBER AR HERHK201457 518
BEEBHAERZMARAE ([BERAT])
FREM o

NN & 5 M 3 25 R /9 3 3iE & CricketSquare,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands = X 2
RIEZL XMW NI AR BEFRYITE
W[ = ¥ R LB M B R A1 -

KRB EERE AEEMNEEREZERA A
MEEEBRRAR AR EBRLZEE ([®
B iR 2 B & |) =% ft BX 32 B9 Envision Global

Investments Limited

AEBTBREEXNER(IC)  HME
Froastt  ALE e EYEAE (TAoT]) E
mhkEMEFERBERNHEE RAE=T
BPKRKREREFFANMSERIS
=X FERAD  BHRELERE K
A UREHERESRERS Dl hE
R nER] -

ARE R ERE LML E QA
(TXZBERIAEEDNNEEE BE
se(3ETl) - MR B & B 2 R HY
D EERARE(TARE] - R AE
BrREEEURTE  SHBEAUH
BENERE SEYBHRRUARR

el

HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ingdan, Inc. (the “Company”) is a limited company incorporated
on 1 February 2012 in the Cayman lIslands under the
Companies Law (Chapter 22, Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
and its shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 18
July 2014.

The address of the registered office of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands. The address of the principal place of
business of the Company is 11/F., Microsoft Comtech Tower,
No. 55 Gaoxin South 9th Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
the PRC.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the
Group are Envision Global Investments Limited, which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

The Group was principally engaged in the sales of integrated
circuits (“IC”), other electronic components, Artificial Intelligence
and Internet of Things (“AloT”) products and proprietary and
semi-conductor products, commission fees charged to third-
party merchants for using the e-commerce marketplaces
(“marketplace income”), service revenue from software licensing
and provision of supply chain financing services, namely IngFin
Financing Services (“IngFin Financing Services”).

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) incorporated
in Hong Kong is United States dollars (“‘US$”) while the
functional currency of the subsidiaries established in the PRC
are Renminbi (“RMB”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB for the convenience of users of the
consolidated financial statements as the central management of
the Group was located in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

REAFEE  AEBEEXRNEARAEH
B2023F1 A1 8 MRK 8 KFE 4D
LTHEASHMAE(HEBMA
eHEAHFI AT ERSEEN(SE
B ISR 2R ) KRS ET

BEEMBHREEN RBREL
FATHR(BIE
BN RELE
B 2517 522020 4F
10 A K& 20224
2 A®EET)
BXEGEER SHBREE
FAHERES
B 75 & 2 A
BEBREF 29
ok
ARG ER I M ER
EX L0k
BB GFER

i

HE-XZELEN

FA125RHEET BENABEMRBED
EETR IR
FE g £ BRMENE —
FA25RHEFT £ - XHERE A

EAFERBIMAREEITNELMB
HFEA HAKEAHEEAEHEN

BRI RMOR R AR A SRR AT

HORBEEHLBEEARTE -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new and amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which
are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 January
2023:

HKFRS 17 (including the  Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and
February 2022
amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12  International Tax Reform-Pillar Two
Model Rules

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior periods
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. KA HTEBMEHREXEEH 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
(BB EREEDL]) R EL AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
CHINC ) FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
CHEMEERERNE B YK R Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
& E R WIEET effective
AEBVERPHERUATE BMHEEK The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
LN EBM B REERANES] - HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.
EAEMERELER REEFHEELBEN T Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
F10REB B SEETEZHAN HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
S AERIE 28 EBEHEHI/AS HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®
R
BEAMBHREEN EEEEMNES Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
E165RHIIER] BE HKFRS 16 Leaseback!
FEET AL BENREHNIERH Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
F1RMIEET WEl» REERE Current or Non-current and the
NEF 55 (2020 related amendments to Hong
F) B 75 ) 7= 1 7| Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
W —ERAEBRS Presentation of Financial
Al BE B ZRE R IK Statements — Classification by
KO EHERTNS the Borrower of a Term Loan
HHMBEEE] that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause'
AT AL M A 2 H IR R & Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
FARAIEET & Covenants'
HE g5 ER] HIEERE LB Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’
BTHRREE and HKFRS 7
B 7 & 2 R
FTHRBIEET
BB GER R Al a2 Amendments to HKAS 21  Lack of Exchangeability?
F21RHIEET
L AR2024 51 A1 B 7 1% 514 H F Z HA R A & ! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 R2025%1 A1 B 2% BB HEE IR &% 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
¢ REFETER B Bis 2 1% 518 &) & 5 B £ & E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
AAFESTEEY HEZEESVESRE The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
ERIWETI BT B AEFR XS LB the amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
BHRABRERTE - results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. EXEHKRESN

RAVMBBRRNIBREZT LG AEH
Mz BEM B REERBE - UL
FEVBBRREAMIMES LT R A
(TETARAD REERBERDIREHNER

WEEHE-

BRETERTIADNDEREHRERNERY
RFEFEI  REMBHRRRIBE LK

AR

JE SRR AN — AR IR B 7 mm K AR 75 B AT A

RE2 ATEHE -

AFETIRE & RTS8 R E RN
BB HEE BT (KEARNTS) &
BT TRE TGRS EAE
B L 8 8 L B AT RO R (D
() - TR AR E T B
R — fh R A TS © DT B2 3

BRTIXAEN SR BEE-

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Company Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date in the principal (or
most advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement
are explained in the accounting policies set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

BEASHBEER @

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

BEARAESTBERHFHNMAT - The material accounting policies are set out below.
mEeEERE Basis of consolidation

RAMBBRRERARARZHEEGN
ER(ERABLEER)RENBAAN
LR E
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has:

o the power over the investee;

o exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group’s return.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (i)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interests in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
(including any components of other comprehensive income
attributable to them), and (i) recognises the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest, with any resulting difference being recognised
as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the Group. The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisition of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs incurred to effect a business
combination are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair values.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another
standards, are measured at acquisition-date fair value except
for non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at fair
value or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate
share in the recognised amount of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating unit) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-
generating unit) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or groups of
cash-generating unit). Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating units,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

The Group’s policy for goodwill relating to an associate or a
joint venture that included in the carrying amount of the
investment is set out in “Interests in associates and joint
ventures” below.

Interests in associates and joint ventures
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not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s interests in associates and joint ventures are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method. Under the equity method, interests in associates
and joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted

EEBHE AT RS PEMESI R HM thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
2HE W - MANE B B — B2 R a) sk and other comprehensive income of the associates and joint
—EAEENENEESENSBEAENZ ventures. If the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a
MEANRSEENENES(BEETE joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or

BRAEBENRBERARARNAGELERE

joint venture, which includes any long-term interests that, in

FE IO REHER)  AEBEK substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
IFHEREELNE-—FTER EXFEH associate or joint venture, the Group discontinued recognising
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its share of further losses. Additional losses are provided for,
and a liability is recognised, only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment, any excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate or joint venture is recognised as
goodwill and is included in the carrying amount of the
investment.

The requirement of HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets are applied
to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s interests in
associates or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwiill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the net investment subsequently
increases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of equity method from the date
when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services to a customer.
Specifically, the Group uses a five-step approach to recognise
revenue:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies
a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled specified in a contract with a
customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

° Sales of IC, other electronic components, AloT products
and proprietary and semi-conductor products;

o Marketplace income; and
° Service revenue from software licensing.

Sales of IC, other electronic components, AloT
products and proprietary and semi-conductor products
and marketplace income

Revenue from sales of IC, other electronic components, AloT
products and proprietary and semi-conductor products is
recognised at the point when the control of the goods is
transferred to the customers (generally on delivery of
equipment).

Revenue from marketplace income (i.e. commission fees
charged to third-party merchants that sell products on the
Group’s marketplace platforms) is recognised at the point of
delivery of corresponding products by the merchants.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Service revenue from software licensing

For granting of a licence that is distinct from other promised
goods or services, the nature of the Group’s promise in granting
a licence is a promise to provide a right to access the Group’s
intellectual property if all the following criteria are met:

o The contract requires, or the customer reasonably
expects, that the Group will undertake activities that
significantly affect the intellectual property to which the
customer has rights;

o The rights granted by the licence directly expose the
customer to any positive or negative effects of the
Group’s activities; and

o Those activities do not result in the transfer of a good or
service to the customer as those activities occur.

If these criteria are met, the Group accounts for the promise to
grant a licence as a performance obligation satisfied over time.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is
the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date, including extension options exercisable by the Group
which are likely to be exercised taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for
the Group to exercise the options. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise fixed lease payments.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation
for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the
site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a
provision is recognised and measured under HKAS 37
Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The
costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets below).
They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Property, Plant and Equipment to
determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to some of its investment properties. Leases for which
the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract
is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits
are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, interests
in associates and a joint venture, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management, including cost of testing whether the
related assets are functioning properly and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the
appropriate categories of plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties recognised
by the Group as right-of-use asset and leased out under
operating lease.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. A
leased property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is
derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which
the property is derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property when there is a change in use, as
supported by observable evidence, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date of
transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in properties revaluation reserve. The properties
revaluation reserve in respect of that item will be transferred
directly to retained earnings when it is derecognised.

If a property held for sale becomes an investment property
when there is a change in use, as supported by observable
evidence, any difference between the carrying amount and the
fair value of that property at the date of transfer is recognised in
profit or loss.

If an investment property becomes an owner-occupied property
when there is a change in use, as supported by observable
evidence, the fair value of that property at the date of transfer is
the deemed cost for subsequent accounting for that property
as an item of property, plant and equipment.

If an investment property becomes a property under
development for sale in the ordinary course of business when
there is a change in use, as supported by observable evidence,
the fair value of that property at the date of transfer is the
deemed cost for subsequent accounting for that property as a
property under development.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and

>~ H development expenditure

WMEBREBECBERATHAERE  HE % An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
(AN TEE 2HERER) MR A I E development activities (or from the development phase of an
EEREEHAER: internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following
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have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are carried at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net
realisable value of inventories represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less costs necessary to
make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and
bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand
deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are shortterm
(generally with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather for investment or
other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents, as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management. Such overdrafts are
presented as short-term borrowings in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment losses on plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (other
than impairment of goodwill set out in
accounting policy of goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating unit for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment losses on plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (other
than impairment of goodwill set out in
accounting policy of goodwill above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value-in-use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss was recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss was recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial asset at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial asset at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on
the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, FVTOCI and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

£ET A @) Financial instruments (Continued)
ERMEE (@) Financial assets (Continued)
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Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective
interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future
cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised
cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in
the “other income” line item (note 9).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

£ET A @) Financial instruments (Continued)
ERMEE (@) Financial assets (Continued)
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Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at
FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for
trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains or losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve. The cumulative gain
or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained
profits.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income” line item in profit
or loss (note 9).

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically, debt instruments that do not meet the
amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at
FVTPL.
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BEEREATEFE MEMAFEEREZE K each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
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recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the ‘other income, gains and
losses’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 6.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on investments in debt instruments that are
measured at amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at
the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated on an individual
basis for customers with significant balances and/or collectively
by using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

@I A m Financial instruments (Continued)
ERMEE (@) Financial assets (Continued)
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic information
that relate to the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to
which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than
its amortised cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default; (ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to
meset its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and {iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade” in
accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either

U e : of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

. EESAER AR 8 ° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

° A BBl TE 3k 48 AN R R OR B Y B R o information developed internally or obtained from external

BR BBATKAEZ2BENRT
HERABRBAKHE) (T REAK
B Pras A M TR ) o

sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

T LD AEERR ETMEE
EEMBIBoOKRE - D& AEL  BRIE
AEBAEBEEAAXKHNER  FHHE
WERHNEBNEEEREE -

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

ERLEIZERELN D/ EE
E-REAZHEBEREENGBAARARR
TREBRTFNEZENTHECERLE
B ZeMEENCSHLEEERE - EB
CREECRLAGERENERREAR
AT EHm A SRR

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

° T ASET AL E AR E . significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

. ERE A 0w H KA R sk @ B o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
E gL

° EHABNKRE AEREZ A LR . the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

BRABBAOEEXGHREAE - M
BMTERACEEMEMBR THE
AT EELAOZES

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

@I A m Financial instruments (Continued)
ERMEE (@) Financial assets (Continued)
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over 180 days past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information
as described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition of an
investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on
initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the fair value reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2R T A @ Financial instruments (Continued)
THEERRATIA @ Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
BRATA Equity instruments
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An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination; (i) held-for-trading; or (i)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, net realisable value
of inventories and value-in-use of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, interests in associates, goodwill and intangible
assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, the Group
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy
for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on
recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group grants shares of the Company to employees at nil
consideration under the RSU Scheme, and the awarded shares
under the RSU Scheme are either newly issued or are
purchased from the open market. The cost of shares purchased
from the open market is recognised in equity as shares held for
the RSU Scheme. The fair value of the RSUs granted to
employees is recognised as an equity-settled share-based
compensation expenses with a corresponding increase in
share-based compensation reserve within equity. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the RSUs, the total estimated fair
value of the RSUSs is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the RSUs will vest.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of RSUs that are expected to ultimately
vest. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based compensation
reserve. On the vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of RSUs that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the service
conditions. The equity amount is recognised in the share-based
compensation reserve until the RSUs are vested (when it is
included in the amount recognised in share premium for the
shares vested).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.
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UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Control obtained through contractual arrangements

As disclosed in the note 44(c), Shenzhen Kegoubai Information
Technologies Limited (formerly known as “Shenzhen Cogobuy
Information Technologies Limited”) (Z&3IITH 7] 88 & {2 BT AR
2 al) (“Shenzhen Kegoubai”) is considered an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. Although the Group does
not own any shareholding in Shenzhen Kegoubai, the Group
has the control over Shenzhen Kegoubai since the Group has
the power to appoint and remove the board of directors of
Shenzhen Kegoubai to direct the relevant activities of Shenzhen
Kegoubai to affect the amount of the Group’s return, through
various contractual agreements signed between the shareholder
of Shenzhen Kegoubai and the Group. Therefore, in the
opinions of the directors of the Company and the independent
legal adviser of the Company, the Group has the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of Shenzhen Kegoubai unilaterally
and hence the Group has the control over Shenzhen Kegoubai.

Significant influence over associates

As disclosed in note 23, the directors of the Company
considered ZIM (HK) Limited (“ZIM HK”), in which the Group has
15% equity interest in, is an associate of the Group as the
Group has significant influence over ZIM HK by virtue of its
contractual right to appoint one out of three directors to the
board of directors of ZIM HK.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

The management of the Group performed the impairment
assessment on the separate acquired intangible assets by
identifying the indication of possible impairment of such
intangible assets. Once identified, the management of the
Group performed impairment testing, which requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units to which such intangible assets have been allocated.

The management of the Group performed impairment testing
annually, or if there is indication of possible impairment
identified, for the goodwiill.

Determining whether intangible assets and goodwill are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill and intangible
assets have been allocated. The recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is determined using the value-in-use
calculation, which requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from each of the cash-generating
unit and a suitable pre-tax discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of intangible
assets and goodwill were approximately RMB445,154,000 (2022:
RMB1,027,026,000) and RMB607,007,000 (2022:
RMB607,007,000) respectively. No impairment loss in respect
of intangible assets and goodwill has been recognised for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. Details of the value-
in-use calculations are disclosed in note 21.



fr e B 7 3R R B A (4E)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

FEEHYUEREAEHFREEY CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
7Y B8 8 R R (m) AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

fH 5 T E M A 8 2R R (|

BILEEBER

REREHER  ARFESREBEY
BUMENEBREENERAIERFH
MEBRATE2EEMRABUETLE
ENAERFH B BEEENGETA
ERERRERTTE MAFERBER
ERELES  ARARESHIRARELE
BRIt A ERF R R EHRTTE -

R2023F12A31H  WEHKRREBELN B
A R #445154,0007C (2022F : A R &
1,027,026,0007T) W E 2 & ES 5] fh 5 Al
FRFERESRTE-

BAFEFAHEMCEZAREZNEME
ENAFEEE

YA EER2023E12 A31 B #E A T E &t
AHEME2ERENAFE AARESHE
ETEAFEFAEMEZERIHNE M
BEMNAFENABEBRIERBERERS
HET Rt e ARREZ RB Y LEME
BHEATEERAR(ERNRERS
MERREAGENRBIEHIEERS
S 1T 0 H BT R (h AT o M E R 8 A E K
g ARAFEFAEMCEZARENSH
BEEMNAFEAUELNRERER -

R2023F12A31H A FEF AH
HEEREZNEREENRA2FEL A
A R #884,596,0007C (20224 : A R #&
646,024,0007T) * I 7 £ 2023 F 12 A 31
HIEFERNERAFERBREFRD
4N R #182,617,0007T (20224 : A R ¥
283,395,0007T) ° A AR EEHE - B &
AmETERBREEREERRATFE
FFAEMEERENEREEN R FE
mE&BEE -

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Amortisation of the intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the
Company review the estimated useful life and the amortisation
method of intangible assets, based on the historical experience
of the actual useful life of intangible assets of similar functions or
the useful life of similar intangible assets adopted by the market
participants. The directors of the Company will revise the
estimated useful life and amortisation method prospectively if
there is a need for the change with reference to the actual
usage.

As at 31 December 2023, there is no revision of the estimated
useful life and amortisation method on the intangible assets with
carrying amount of approximately RMB445,154,000 (2022:
RMB1,027,026,000).

Fair value determination of financial assets at FVTOCI

For the determination of the fair values of FVTOCI as at 31
December 2023, the directors of the Company use their
judgements and estimates in the underlying assumptions and
data for the fair value determination of financial assets at
FVTOCI. The directors of the Company and the independent
valuer, CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited (“CHFT”),
exercises judgements and estimates in applying suitable
earnings multiples and sales multiples with reference to the
available market sources. Where the actual inputs are varied, a
material variance on the fair values of financial assets at FVTOCI
may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of financial assets at
FVTOCI was approximately RMB884,596,000 (2022:
RMB646,024,000), with corresponding net decrease in fair
value reserve of approximately RMB182,617,000 (2022:
RMB283,395,000) recognised during the year ended 31
December 2023. The directors of the Company believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate
in determining the fair values of financial assets at FVTOCI.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Allowance for inventories

Management reviews the condition of the inventories of the
Group and makes allowances for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale.
Management estimates the net realisable value for such
inventories based primarily on the estimated and subsequent
selling price in the ordinary course of business. The Group
carries out an inventory review at the end of each reporting
period and makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
items.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of inventories
was approximately RMB4,506,058,000 (2022:
RMB4,080,543,000), net of allowance for inventories of
approximately RMB28,364,000 (2022: RMB25,742,000).

Loss allowance on trade receivables and loans
receivables

The loss allowance on trade receivables and loans receivables
are based on assumptions and estimates used in the ECL
model. The Group uses significant judgments in making these
assumptions and estimates and selects inputs in the ECL
model, based on the Group’s historical experience and forward-
looking information at the end of the reporting period. Changes
in these assumptions and estimates could materially affect the
result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make
additional loss allowance in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and loans receivables are approximately
RMB1,679,780,000 (2022: RMB930,790,000) and
RMB709,247,000 (2022: RMB704,002,000) respectively, with
accumulated loss allowance on trade receivables of
approximately RMB115,747,000 (2022: RMB91,632,000). No
loss allowance on loans receivables has been recognised as at
31 December 2023 and 2022.
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UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Income taxes

As disclosed in note 33, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the estimated unused tax losses of
approximately RMB241,436,000 (2022: RMB242,084,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams as at 31
December 2023. In addition, no deferred tax liabilities has been
recognised in respect of temporary differences associated with
the PRC subsidiaries’ undistributed retained earnings of
approximately RMB2,099,709,000 (2022: RMB2,654,103,000)
because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
such temporary differences will not be reversed in the
foreseeable futures. In case where the actual outcome differs
from the management’s assessment above, a material
recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the year.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the pricing of products and services that
commensurate with the level of risk and by securing access to
financing at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-equity ratio on a semi-annual basis. The Group’s policy
is to maintain the net debt-to-equity ratio at not more than
100% (2022: 100%), which is determined and reviewed with
reference to the funding needs of the Group semi-annually. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes lease liabilities disclosed in note 18, bank loans
disclosed in note 32 and other financial liabilities disclosed in
note 34, net of pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents disclosed in note 29, over total equity. The net
debt-to-equity ratio at the end of the reporting period was as
follows:

2023 £

2023

ARET T

RMB’000
BER Net debt 1,514,337 623,036
R Equity 4,514,720 4,453,352
FEG LR (%) Net debt-to-equity ratio (%) 33.54 13.99
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HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2023 F
2023

AR®BT R
RMB’000

EREE Financial assets
IREHB R AT ENSEEE  Financial assets at amortised cost
(BEHEESLRRESZEY) (including cash and cash equivalents) 3,198,329 2,596,130
EAFEFAEMEZE Financial assets at FVTOCI
W EmEE
—ETAERRAFERA — Equity instruments designated at
HE2mEREH A FVTOCI
TE 884,596 646,024
BE AL AFETAER Equity instruments designated at FVTPL
RRATA - 6,000
4,082,925 3,248,154
SRAE Financial liabilities
BB AT EN SR AR Financial liabilities at amortised cost 5,513,000 4,883,409

TREREEBEERBERE

AEENTIEZSREEREBERESET
B 5 R WHIR - BREE & &K
B RBAFEFABRSEMRAFEFAH
EERENEREE BEER BK
HRTER RehkReFEY BHRK
HtENRE ROTERLEMGESHE
B ZEeR TR ZHBNERMNESD
BE-HAFSRTAEENEREBRETS
B (E%ER LA XRR)  EERRK
B MR o B a0 [ R F AR 2 X
KRR TIXEHS  -EREEEREEZFA
B A RE (R & B B O IR BUE B 15 € -

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include certain
trade, bills and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL and
FVTOCI, loans receivables, pledged bank deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables, bank loans and
other financial liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments included market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group has certain pledged bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
currencies other than the functional currency of the
subsidiaries of the Company, which expose the Group to
currency risk. The Group did not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group has applied the sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%)
increase and decrease in relevant foreign currencies
against RMB. 5% (2022: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the
reporting period for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had an aggregate
amount of approximately RMB287,705,000 (2022:
RMB190,539,000) which represented cash and cash
equivalents that mainly denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the subsidiaries of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2023, if the foreign currencies
strengthen 5% (2022: 5%) against RMB, the post-tax
profit for the year will be increased by approximately
RMB4,837,000 (2022: RMB38,473,000). If the foreign
currencies weaken by 5% (2022: 5%) against RMB, the
post-tax profit for the year will be decreased by
approximately RMB4,837,000 (2022: RMB38,473,000).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed interest rate loans receivables (note 27),
pledged bank deposits (note 29), bank loans with fixed
interest rate (note 32) and other financial liabilities (note
34).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to bank balances with variable interest rate (note
29) and bank loans with variable interest rates (note 32). It
is the Group’s policy to keep its loans at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) and loan prime rate
(‘LPR”) arising from the Group’s US$ and RMB
denominated bank loans, respectively and variable
interest rate bank balances.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2022: 50) basis
points increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 (2022: 50) basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2023 would increase/decrease by
approximately RMB9,641,000 (2022: increase/decrease
by approximately RMB1,715,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Company’s exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate bank balances and bank loans.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group in the
event of the counterparties’ failure to discharge their obligations
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amounts of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The credit risk of our Group mainly arises from trade, bills and
other receivables, loans receivables, pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The
carrying amounts of these balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on an individual basis for
customers with significant balances and/or collectively by using
a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

For loans receivables and other non-trade related receivables,
the Group has assessed whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.



a5 B AR M R ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

£FT A um

tHEREEEERBEK @

EERE @
EERRTERERSMREFED S
EONEERRER RERXZHFAR
EEREETARBRESEETRD
#RIT ©

AEERVNEEREERSZERENM
X -YRBEREAFEEEREERRE
BERZIRM - RFEEER MEE,%E%i
e AREEKZEERRE B B E 5 E
REAEEZEMEORBRETLR
WZERAIENESEAA X FHHAEEE
B BEMATIER

s REEEFRE:
o SINEMEERFAR:

O ¥ PR EERAER Lk E
HedHREASERERARBRTE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

° internal credit rating;
o external credit rating;

° actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are

EEMENBEERENERNTA expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s
2E) ability to meet its obligations;

e BRANKEXREER FEHg e actual or expected significant changes in the operating
BERE results of the borrower;

s YRZAMHNEARAGMNEEBEXEZ= e significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting

THERTIBEEENERRENRE

the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees or
credit enhancements;
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
° significant increase in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the borrower; and

o significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers in the Group and changes in
the operating results of the borrower.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its
operation management committee to develop and maintain the
Group’s credit risk grading to categorise exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if
not available, the operation management committee uses other
publicly available financial information and the Group’s own
trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

Financial risk management objectives and

R4F

Performing

R b

Doubtful

fi
2F

Default

Write-off

hEEMEENENRRE FSERR B B ERURIT MEZE
B AR TEBELEEERE(ERBE1ER)

For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and that are
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

HESREENEERR B NHEREAARDBEIEM BREF%
EEERE(WRE2RER)

For financial assets where there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired (refer to as

Stage 2)

E-HAZEHTREENGTRAKREREBRTNFZENSE

12@AEEE
&5 18
12-month ECL

GEHESREE
BiE— RELE
EERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit
impaired

GEBEREE

HERBELR ZeRMEERTERCELGERERBAFIRE BE %4

B)

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

EBRBRTEBABABRENTHNE AEEYEZHROKE
i

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

EERE
Lifetime ECL —
credit impaired

SR e 8

Amount is
written-off
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6. £ I Awm@m 6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

SHREREEEERBE @ Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

EE R E) Credit risk (Continued)
RNEEBEKEE EEAE @) The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)
TRAVWNAEFB ZTESRHEENEEE The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s major
= URAEFBIREERSIRE B D financial assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to
NESEERMRAE: credit risk by credit risk rating grades:

2023 12H31H
31 December 2023

FHAE HEERE KREFE

Gross Net
carrying Loss carrying
amount allowance amount
ARBTR ARBTR AR¥TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ED) L6 26 @R (M) FEDES
FEER
(1L H %)
Trade receivables N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL 1,795,527 (115,747) 1,679,780 1,022,422 (91,632 930,790
(simplified
approach)
e 26 TER  RE 1218 A 888
FEBE
Bills receivables N/A Performing 12-month ECL 22,196 - 22,196 29,265 — 29,265
H it B YR 26 TER  RE 1218 A 888
FEBE
Other receivables N/A Performing 12-month ECL 61,624 - 61,624 65,115 — 65,115
U E R 21 TEA R¥ 12 /TS
FEBE
Loans receivables N/A Performing 12-month ECL 709,247 - 709,247 704,002 - 704,002
fizsr: B SEKREMS  AEECEBRESHG Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in
HEEREOE R AL )k - RTF 4 HATE H HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
CEBESEEERE AEBFENEBEAN determines the ECL on these items based on the past due status of the
BEERE N SEERECHEAEEERE  XE debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and
VE W B H R DA BB HR S O M oK R AR estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile
AR EEH G - Bt WEEBENEZERR of these assets is presented based on their past due status in terms of the
SRR BB IR E H B R 25 - fsT265 provision matrix. Note 26 includes further details on the loss allowance on
PEHBLEEEBERENE ST these assets respectively.
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£FT A um

tHmEREEEERBE @

FEERE &)
TEEWNEERKEE @)
MN2023E12A31E B HEWHIBE A%
$H§M&$¢l§ﬁ&l\ﬁ5¥}5&ﬁﬁ£ﬁ9l\
EERZKED BIE17% (20224 : 6%)
&40%(2022& %) At AEB A &E
FHEERR -

AEEZRHWBRE SN EFEERREE
URPBE(BEES) 1;57502023¢12ﬂ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 17% (2022: 6%)
and 40% (2022: 7%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest external customer and the top five largest
external customers respectively as at 31 December 2023.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC (including Hong Kong), which

31H & 5 JE W3R8 42 58 #9 95% (2022 F - accounted for 95% (2022: 97%) of the total trade receivable as
97%) © at 31 December 2023.
NEBE S @k Liquidity risk

AEBEETHEYLLEEREARTRE
ReEBIH BRASCESKNEHRE
REEEFARNEMREF R HEMS
EBLETHEEREKER  AREAR
ﬂ%%@ﬂ@?ﬁt}& KEIE’JBZ”EEHH?
ERPESFEW B TERLSE  NE
1%/\,’&?73’%?@6’9@&1%%1%&1@3é‘éﬂ?ﬁ‘%
BERSREANAERERE  UENHHE
RAERHRBESHK -

AREBRBHEBETERATERDES
R © 5@2023¢12H31 B e AR
B FBERM 828 & o 72023 F & 2022
F12A318  AEEVEEREMERK
2o

TRAXEENETELREBEBTA
WEIMBMEE  RRREAEETRE
FENSBEABRFBESRBENES
AEEEMRFRRESRERY - Lk
LR Y TEEESS y Y PY=
HIEHE -

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for
their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surplus and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval by the board of
directors of the Company when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with loan covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source of
liquidity. Details of the available bank facilities as at 31
December 20283 are disclosed in note 32. The Group did not
have any breach of loan covenants as at 31 December 2023
and 2022.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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6. @ THEm 6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
SHREREEEERBE @ Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
RENE S B2 (E) Liquidity risk (Continued)
ZEEEINNEERASHERE - MEFE The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
MERZBHNE  RFHEEURREH extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
MARMERANEFESD - amount is derived from effective interest rate at the end of the

reporting period.

7#2023F12 831 H
At 31 December 2023
i1 F HBE2F RFBEBES
1FR BPR2F EHILR5EF mE B IREE
More than More than

1 year but 2 years but Total
Within less than less than undiscounted Carrying
1 year PATCETES 5 years cash flows amount
AR TR AR®BTR AR¥®TR AR®TR AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

B5 NEAM Trade and other

FE 1S 5108 payables 3,304,924 - - 3,304,924 3,304,924
RITER Bank loans 1,740,662 - - 1,740,662 1,597,377
Hipg g A  Other financial

liabilities 665,478 - - 665,478 610,699

5,711,064 - - 5,711,064 5,513,000

WM AREBBEEENRHBE RAT - In addition, the maturity profile of the Group’s lease liabilities is
as follows:

HEAE Lease liabilities 20,358 10,111 2,979 33,448 31,743

184 INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023



e B A 3R R MY A (4E)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. SR I Am 6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

SREREE B ZREBEK @

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

RBEEEE @&

Liquidity risk (Continued)

B NMEAM Trade and other
FE S FR0E payables 3,423,946 — — 3,423,946 3,423,946
RITER Bank loans 911,226 — — 911,226 888,116
Hi&mBE Otherfinancial
liabilities 670,160 — — 670,160 571,347
5,005,332 — — 5,005,332 4,883,409

o NREBEEABENIIBBERNOT

HEAaE Lease liabilities

14,504

In addition, the maturity profile of the Group’s lease liabilities is
as follows:
10,985 8,301

33,790 30,531

NEBEOEMLE R A E S HHI E34m
BENEOEEBERASBEALENN
RRER BRERGKEMRAREALAES
PRIEE NEBERRMEREOEA LT
R BAINZHIA AW - LB
sl &8 F 202312 A31 H E A& A
MR E k& -

i 7% B A R B9 L B3R AR R B R MY
MRGEFAR - ABER EMFE N XY
FITESRBBENSRAIEEREE -

The other financial liabilities included above are the maximum
amount the Group is required to be settled if the redemption
right has been triggered as disclosed in note 34. Based on
expectation from the directors of the Company at the end of the
reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than
no redemption right would be triggered and no such amount
will be payable. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the future event, which is unpredictable at 31
December 2023.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate non-
derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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6. £ I Awm@m
REAUBRRERBINQFE

F !
FEERBEEUHELERQFENE
MEMEENLDFE

TREHEENSREDERZE R FET
ENERITADN  WIHREBEAKENS
ABEREAFEAEREERER £
ZEMR-

BAF@ES AHAMMZE Financial assets at

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance
to the Group’s accounting policy.

M2023F12H31H
At 31 December 2023
-~ Jl 1} E=4 et
Level 2 Level 3 Total
ARBTRT AR®TR AR%®Tr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

E—&

Level 1

ARBT R
RMB’000

HEENEREE FVTOCI
I ETIRAEE Unlisted equity
securities - — 884,596 884,596
= - 884,596 884,596

BRAFES ABEMN Financial assets at

ERMEE FVTPL

EEMER Structured deposit — 6,000 — 6,000
BAFETTAHM Financial assets at
2HKENEEMEE FVTOCI
FE b AR AR 7 Unlisted equity
securities — — 646,024 646,024
— 6,000 646,024 652,024
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6. @M I Awm@m 6.

REEHMBERIXRERNLOTE
EHB-AC )

AEBRBEEHEERNTVEHFE
NEMEENDFE @
REMEBEFENAFEERZEL
EER -

RELEEEEFESRSRTANQF
BERMANMGBERDT R A KB
LN

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in
the current and prior years.

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurements of each financial instruments on a recurring
basis are set out below:

2023
AR®T R
RMB’000
BELERER E_8 BEOROHRE TER TE A TER
[EESES
Structured deposit  Level 2 - 6,000 Quoted rate of N/A N/A N/A
return by
issuing bank
FEmEARE F=R mEE— &% BNEH BMEH 3845 % BREaYE
(1 89615 (20224 : 251  ATEHR
Z29.91(5)
Unlisted equity Level 3 875,491 636,919  Market approach  Eamings multiples  Eamings muttiples: from 3.84  The higher of
investments — eaming t0 8.96 times (2022: earnings multiples,
multiples from 2.51 t0 9.91 the higher the fair
times) value
FrmkEEe £Z4 MARFEREZ HAEFAREM  0%-100% FrEEgE-
HEEMI00% (20226 1 0%-100%)  ATFEHER
Unlisted equity fund  Level 3 9,105 9,105  Adjusted net Discount factor of ~ 0%-100% The lower the
assets method 100% appliedto  (2022: 0%-100%) discount rate, the
projects with net higher of the fair
liabilities value
884,596 652,024
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6. TR TR mwm

RGBEEMBERRRBRNAFE

T E @)

AEERBEFHEEEZQAVEFE

NEMEEN D FEG@E

REEAATEEBRPE AL
AFEFEMS  WEBEERRXHTAHE
REASBEGELTRAREN AT G
FNEHEGHURELETREZSNI
BEH)IRS/TEK5%(2022F 1 5%) -
mMATEEMEERFIIAE  AEAFE
SFAEMmEZEARENEREENQTF
BE& g 54 A R ¥39,003,0007T
(20224 : A R #31,199,0007C ) /& &
4 A R #39,003,0007T (20224 : A R #&

31,199,0007T) °

BREKFTUHERSREEF=ARFE

5B

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
For recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy, if the unobservable inputs (earnings
multiples and sales multiples for unlisted equity investments and
discount factor of unlisted equity fund) to the valuation model
were 5% (2022: 5%) higher/lower while all the other variables
were held constant, the fair value of the financial assets at
FVTOCI would be increased by approximately RMB39,003,000
(2022: RMB31,199,000)/decreased by approximately
RMB39,003,000 (2022: RMB31,199,000) respectively.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial
assets on recurring basis:

M20229F1H1H At 1 January 2022 577,430
FEEMEAKETE Capital contribution in unlisted equity investment 360,240
HEme2mKBFEANAFEEEIE  Fair value loss in other comprehensive income (283,395)
PE 5, 3 8 Exchange adjustment (8,251)
MR2022F12 A31H At 31 December 2022 646,024
FLTBRAKETE Capital contribution in unlisted equity investment 421,189
Hi2mK A FEEIE  Fair value loss in other comprehensive income (182,617)
7 2023F 12 A31H At 31 December 2023 884,596
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£FT A um

REAHBRIREIANDFEE
B0 )

AEBRBELEMEER AT EFTE
MWEmEENDFE @

H E22023F12A31H IEF B R R
Eme2EmBREZMNAFEBSENARE
182,617,000 7T (20224 : A FEEE AR
#5083,395,000 ) AR R E AR KRIFH
BEAEAFEFAEMEZE K EAIE
FTRALERREESHORER I
1A o

B E2023F12A31HIEFE » W ERR
EHARAREBEAFEFABRMERAF
B EEE -

RELEMELELFRAFEFEN
TRIENAFE

ARREFRR  HAWBRERTIRER
RAGENEMEREEREMABED
BREEEEAFEMES -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fair value loss
recognised in other comprehensive income of approximately
RMB182,617,000 (2022: fair value loss of RMB283,395,000)
was unrealised gain or loss on unlisted equity investments and
equity fund designated at FVTOCI held at the end of the
reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no fair value gain or
loss is recognised for FVTPL at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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7. WA 7. REVENUE
WAEHEEIC EMEF L2 AloTE Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of IC, other
Gh N B AT R R A P EA AU A - B electronic components, AloT products and proprietary and
RIELERBWARS DERMELED semi-conductor products, service revenue from software
MEWA - REBBFRNKRASTAT : licensing and interest income generated from IngFin Financing
Services. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as
follows:

20234
2023

ARBTR
RMB’000

BARAEAMEHREAERE15  Revenue from contracts with customers
FEEANNEFAMHUA :  within the scope of HKFRS 15:

—IC- EtEFmEM - — Sales of IC, other electronic
AloT  an & & Bff 2 components, AloT products and
HEEDRNIEERE proprietary and semi-conductor
products 8,816,984 9,490,407
— B ELSERBE KA — Service revenue from software licensing 4,622 9,244
8,821,606 9,499,651
KB H b 2RR e A - Revenue from other sources:
—RES|I RO EHKA — Interest income from IngFin Financing
Services 41,776 35,868
8,863,382 9,535,519
RN EEREREERTEENEER The directors of the Company have chosen to organise the
HEARER RNETAEEN2HD P Group around differences in business natures. No operating
B ITEEAFEQERTEMETHL segments identified by the chief operating decision maker have
SO AEmM=S  NEBNE2H DA been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
(R REERR - Group. Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are

“Comtech” and “Ingdan”.
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7. WA @

AT &5 AN & B AR

EROBELED

BEFPAMNWAR)ERERE : &)t R

BEIDH DA

REVENUE (continued)

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue
from contracts with customers by (i) timing of recognition; and (ii)
geographical markets, arising from different reporting segments:

B i EEB R et
Comtech Ingdan Total

ARBTR AR TR AR TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

HZE2023%12 A31H For the year ended 31 December

HFE
BEmEkRBBA
—IC - EMEFIir=s
% - AloTE @ &

2023

Revenue from goods and services:
— Sales of IC, other electronic
components, AloT products

B g E and proprietary and
mHE i E R semi-conductor products 7,835,381 981,603 8,816,984
-G ERELE — Service revenue from
PR 75 A software licensing - 4,622 4,622
7,835,381 986,225 8,821,606
WA B3R B ] Timing of revenue recognition:
— P — fE R B — At a point in time 7,835,381 981,603 8,816,984
—R—EREH — Over time - 4,622 4,622
7,835,381 986,225 8,821,606
& H i Geographical markets:
—FE(BESP — The PRC (including
&55) China Hong Kong) 7,835,381 986,225 8,821,606

3R 2023 EEAIF

191



e B S R AR MY A (4E)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

7. WA @ 7. REVENUE (continued)

B = 2022912 A31H For the year ended 31 December

IEFE 2022
EmERBRA Revenue from goods and services:
—IC  EMEFtee — Sales of IC, other electronic
%~ AloTE W@ & components, AloT products
EfEEEaE and proprietary and
mEEEEE semi-conductor products 8,186,573 1,303,834 9,490,407
—HERRELE — Service revenue from
PR 755 U A software licensing — 9,244 9,244
8,186,573 1,313,078 9,499,651
WATEREM Timing of revenue recognition:
— RN — A2, — At a point in time 8,186,573 1,303,834 9,490,407
—R—BREHE — Over time - 9,244 9,244
8,186,573 1,313,078 9,499,651
@RS Geographical markets:
—HEH(BEF — The PRC (including
HE) China Hong Kong) 8,186,573 1,313,078 9,499,651
TERERTEANSENRZER Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations
R2023F12H31H o B & K W & As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of transaction
NENETHNRZIERBEENAA price allocated to the performance obligations that are
R ¥101,700,0007C (2022 F : A R ¥ unsatisfied is approximately RMB101,700,000 (2022:
262,511,0007T ) ° % & ¥ 15 78 B R 2R A5 1 RMB262,511,000). The amount represents revenue expected
CHEBRRMHEELERBWAER to be recognised in the future from sales of IC and service
B A o revenue from software licensing.
AEBEFEHRTERICHSE MR —BREH The Group expected to recognise revenue within 12 months
NEREGEERA - BHEN12(E A (2022: 21 months) upon the completion of sales of IC and over
(20224 : 21fE B) M EE 4 - time for software licensing.
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ZEHER

MARBIATES(EZELERRKRSE
(TEBLERRED)REAEERDE
RoBERRFHBENERE TN IR
HERIMEEE - ARANATESRD
BEESRERMRENERAMLASE -

BEEHABERTAEE T ZLER
RENEERIPELRRRIGAZ
TR AEED BRI MIER 2% DA

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”), for the
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services provided.
The executive directors of the Company have chosen to
organise the Group around differences in products and
services.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has identified two reportable segments:

BEE: #HEIc - EMErF Ttk Comtech: Sales of IC, other electronic components and
AloT £ AloT products
BERE: HEAWELFEEEESLS 3 Ingdan: Sales of proprietary and semi-conductor

el F=FFREEK
B RERE RS

T BERE L R B R RE
EREMGEDBE A K13 HAEE

A28 E -

products, Ingfin Financing Services, marketplace
operation and software licensing

Operating segments in Comtech and Ingdan, as identified by

the CODM, have been aggregated in arriving at reportable
segments of the Group.
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194

UTRAEEZAZ2HD HME D KA
K B DT -

BZE2023F12A31BLEE

8. ZHMERm 8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
DEUWARFEE Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

EEBK
Ingdan

ARBT R
RMB’000

BB B A

Comtech

ARBT R
RMB’000

5t

Total
AR¥ TR
RMB’000

7 U A Segment revenue

— D EpIHE 4 — Total segment sales 7,838,952 1,057,361 8,896,313

— D EEEE — Inter-segment sales (3,571) (29,360) (32,931)
REINEEF K Segment revenue from external

7 JUA customers 7,835,381 1,028,001 8,863,382
7 B 4 K| Segment profit 352,358 156,642 509,000
Ko B A Unallocated income 52,845
ROBARIFAEZ Unallocated corporate expenses (96,520)
& 9 B B 75 A AR Unallocated finance costs (109,295)
FEAL B & N R EAE Share of results of associates 4,435
B 1 At Profit before tax 360,465
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72 & B om)
D EUW AR FELE E

KT R/RASEZAZ®RD ME D8 RA
REBEDN - (B

BZE2022F12A31BLEE

#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable segments. (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

7 U A Segment revenue

— DB E A — Total segment sales 8,212,767 1,387,179 9,599,946

— D EAREEE — Inter-segment sales (26,194) (38,233) (64,427)
REAINBEFH Segment revenue from external

A EWA customers 8,186,573 1,348,946 9,535,519
5 88 Segment profit 497,602 124,362 621,964
Ao BLUA Unallocated income 66,163
F N /NG Unallocated corporate expenses (104,035)
x5 BB RS AR Unallocated finance costs (67,746)
JEEEE AR EE Share of results of associates (451)
B A5 Al g Profit before tax 515,895

3R 2023 EEAIF

195



e B S R Y A ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2 E B ) SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
D EBU A R ¥ & () Segment revenues and results (Continued)

REDBNEITHREMANAEES
sHBCRAAR © 23 5B K35 B & 20 5B P AR EX
B A MR D EE R RITH R E T H A
RER - EBA - FBERA - S
BRI RS RAREE - MY
MERELBEBRRERESEERS LK
mRIBENTEE -

DEEHEERERMIBKFKE -

THEERAR

RTRASEZAZROMEIOMNEE
RBED:

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administrative and certain other
operating expenses, other income, finance costs, gain on
disposal of subsidiaries, and share of results of associates. This
is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable segments:

DEBEE Segment assets

2023 F

2023

AR TR

RMB’000
i sl Comtech 6,022,735 4,630,059
WERE Ingdan 3,191,133 3,640,839
DECEERE Total segment assets 9,213,868 8,270,898
NN Lok Interests in associates 26,839 22,404

BAFEFAERDN Finanical assets at FVTPL

SREE - 6,000
N MEMEE Corporate and other assets 955,583 1,405,937
HEE Total assets 10,196,290 9,705,239
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8. ZIWER @ 8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
THEERES @ Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
DEEE Segment liabilities

2023 F

2023

ARET T

RMB’000
Rl i@ H iy Comtech 3,005,801 3,158,974
2R B Ingdan 336,638 457,218
DEPAREBEER Total segment liabilities 3,342,439 3,616,192
N kEMEE Corporate and other liabilities 2,339,131 1,635,695
BERE Total liabilities 5,681,570 5,251,887

MEIEDIPRIDE DD I ERMS : For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

— FAEBREIERERLRE DI ERE —  All assets are allocated to operating segments, other than

NI S F‘ﬁ %g% PEOREZRS F interests in associates and a joint venture, financial asset

ALEEFAEBZNESREE - 5T at FVTPL, certain other receivables, pledged bank
HMEWHE 2HEMETER deposits, cash and cash equivalents; and

RekBREFEMERI &

— FEABEIRELKLES I HEETF — Al liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other
H b fE 30 IE HEEE: ENEAT than certain other payable, lease liabilities, income tax
Bl LT ER HMmemadE & payables, bank loans, other financial liabilities and
RIEFIEE 15\[9,%54\ o deferred tax liabilities.
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8. 7WERm 8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
HibpBER Other segment information
HZE2023F 12831 B LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

BHE & T | B Nl et
Comtech Ingdan Unallocated Total

ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

A D 2B F 5 Amounts included in the

NEBEEFEN measure of segment
FRIE profit or segment assets:
REERBEE Additions to non-current
(Bt 5%) assets (note) 8,878 181,983 - 190,861
I E R e Depreciation and
amortisation 25,947 303,863 — 329,810
B 5 B IER Loss allowance on trade
E R receivables 21,437 2,678 = 24,115
FEREBEFH Allowance of inventories,
net 2,622 - — 2,622
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

8. 7WERm 8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Hib o BER @) Other segment information (Continued)
BZ2022F12A31B LEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

A D 2B F 5 Amounts included in the

NEBEEFEN measure of segment
O profit or segment assets:
REERBEE Additions to non-current
(B E) assets (note) 5917 508,473 - 514,390
ITE R Depreciation and
amortisation 668 219,482 76,418 296,568
B REINFIEN Reversal of loss allowance
&5 18 B 15 B [ on trade receivables (2,498) (1,628) — (4,126)
FERER D FEEE Reversal of allowance of
inventories, net (491) — — (491)
iz : ERBEESABIERE KREWE KAFE Note: Non-current assets excluded goodwill, investment properties, financial
AR EEUENEREE BRERER assets at FVTOCI, loans receivables and interests in associates and a joint
MERR R —MEECENER- venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

8. AHER W
i & & ¥
HRAEBRBABYPESRIERDEE
RREE(BEFEES) Bt Kx25HE
B
EBEXTEEFNER

B E20234F K2022F12 A31 8 IF FE#
EEREBBEWRAI0% A EHEE

9. H A KWEREE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

Since substantially all of the Group’s operations and non-
current assets are located in the PRC (including Hong Kong),
no geographic information is presented.

Information about major customers

No customer contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

2023 £

2023

AR¥ T

RMB’000
H|ATHB WA Bank interest income 14,991 5,461

HEMNBARMNKZFE Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net

(P 5£39) (note 39) - 48,913
B T 4 B (Bt =) Government grants (note) 19,777 5,438
B 5 s F 5 Exchange gain, net 3,766 5,901
Hth Other 14,311 450
52,845 66,163

FieE : BUGHBI B BR BB R L - TE IS
B - W ER A 8 4 B B A R R B AT M IR M R E
B EIEA -

200 INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

Note: The government grants were granted at the discretion of the government
and were non-recurring in nature. There are no unfulfiled conditions and
other contingencies attached to the receipts of those subsidies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

10. Bt #& B A 10. FINANCE COSTS

2023 F

2023

AR T

RMB’000
Huega & E (i) Interest on other financial liabilities (note) 39,352 39,352
RITERFE Interests on bank loans 65,787 25,644
HEaENE Interests on lease liabilities 2,486 2,025
IR B AR Factoring costs 1,670 725
109,295 67,746

ek : emEEMmSmEa & (M E34) NEFE Note: The amount represented the accrued interest on the other financial
518 {7 % /Y Bl E FF R 2K 728% © liabilities (note 34) carried a fixed rate of 8% per annum per agreements.
11. T8 HBEX 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2023 F

2023

AR T

RMB’000

BV BT 18 - Current tax:

REDERER PRC Enterprises Income Tax 37,598 53,897
EENFH Hong Kong Profits Tax 10,649 17,229
48,247 71,126
i AE £ 7B (BT 5E33) Deferred tax (note 33) (7,652) (7,651)
40,595 63,475
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. FiIgHBAIZ @

(i)

(v)

REREREREBEREENERER &
SEBABMRERERABRELESNE
] PR TE ©

R2018F3A21 H + &3 /A € i 1BC2017F
MBS (BTR)GOIERI(ZER]) - #
1T W AR I R 15 B A o sZ B SR M201843 A28
AEEEKRAZE YR T—BHETE - EMEK
FFERHET  GEKEZEEH2BEE B TE
F 5 128.25% ## Fi - HBiB2E & B I B i B
1 16.5% R 1 o B = 20234 K 2022412 31 H
HEE AEEEERBEEBNESFEHBIE
R A% il )15 B il B AT 5 o AN SR B E AN A
MARBIF SR ENESE BT - 2R
216.5%F — P ERFL -

REFECERBHE(EEMSTHED ki
ERBTUEE RGP BB AR 820184
1TA1BRBATHKRE R26% S THEMEQ
ARRERBMHEEYEEMFLHRER
ZERFEBAAE -

BERITEEMBREREMERBER  EHH
ERMCEFBE2008F1A1HREHEFPEHF
REKEERBFIREHRE - H UK 10% 8
TEMB (RIERBER B HE RAULHERR) -
7200841 A1 H Bl E & K K 5 Ik & T EEH %
BNA BB -

RSP 3 F0 & B R B 1T K & B X i P 1S 38
EE BN L @R =B R KM BA
B HBERBEERIBESHEA A RRERE D
EABET —BAERRATREREEK
Dos%H kAR AIMBEERARIRN T HE
R ERERA B E K RRE%M TR B
RGMIAT -
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

()

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the
BVI.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 milion of profits of qualifying
corporation will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, Hong
Kong Profits Tax of the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of
other Group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
from 1 January 2018 onwards, except for certain PRC subsidiaries which
were qualified software enterprises and being granted two-year tax
exemption followed by three-year 50% tax reduction.

According to the prevailing the EIT law and its relevant regulations, non-
PRC resident enterprises are levied on withholding tax at 10%, unless
reduced by tax treaties or similar arrangements, on dividends from their
PRC-resident investees for earnings accumulated beginning on 1 January
2008. Undistributed earnings generated prior to 1 January 2008 are
exempt from such withholding tax.

Under the Arrangement between the Mainland of China and the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation
and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income and
its relevant regulations, dividends paid by a PRC resident enterprise to its
direct holding company in Hong Kong will be subject to withholding tax at
a reduced rate of 5% (if the Hong Kong investor is the “beneficial owner”
and owns directly at least 25% of the equity interest of the PRC resident
enterprise for the past twelve months before the dividends distribution).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the profit before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

2023 %
2023
AR® TR
RMB’000
R B BID& A Profit before tax 360,465 515,895
1% 8 B AT S BB £ 25% Tax at the applicable income tax rate
(20224 : 25%) 5 & #) T)fé T of 25% (2022: 25%) 90,116 128,973
MeE=HMELEENHEEZE  Tax effect of two-year exemption and
three-year reduction (47,069) (562,219)
HEBMNT SO REAER  Tax effect of entities with jurisdictions
NEENREZZE not subject to income tax (2,601) (2,274)
BB E N EENRE Tax effect of share of results of associates
mE (1,109) (113)
BEFHRBRANRETE Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purposes (3,850) (3,134)
AR ARG & Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purposes 3,169 1,581
BAHEBARERNMIEEIE  Taxeffect of utilisation of tax losses
ORiTE S previously not recognised (5,758) (7,708)
RERMBEROFREFE  Taxeffect of tax losses not recognised 15,246 7,870
£ ﬁ hEEE R L ERME  Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
NATRAMENTE operating in other jurisdictions (7,538) (9,484)
BEEEBNEH %7\% B2  Effect of Hong Kong Profits Tax exemption
(B FE) granted (note) (1) (17)
Frisfif = Income tax expenses 40,595 63,475

MsE : B E S5 B3 % E £2023F K2022F
12ABLEEFENEEMNERER ESE
B2 £ R 73,0007 7T (M8 & R4 A R #2,700

T (20225 : AR#58,1007T)) °

BB TR B E N FES3

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 33.
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Note: Hong Kong Profits Tax exemption granted represented a reduction of
Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
subject to a ceiling of HK$3,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB2,700
(2022: RMB8,100)) for each entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

12. FR R F

F RHE R TR IR (GEA)

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after

20234
2023

ARBTR
RMB’000

AT EBERER: charging (crediting):

EEREETHA B Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(KM¥5E13) (note 13) 4,822 7,911
HMET: Other staff;

—¥He ITE - -FMEK — Salaries, wages, allowance and other

E 18 A benefits 170,956 163,440

— RIKEF T 84X — Retirement benefit scheme contributions 32,233 27,360

—EEREEUARO A — Equity-settled share-based

#4812 B 2 (M9 3£38(0)) compensation expenses (note 38(b)) 2,944 4,095
Hih 8 T ABE Total other staff costs 206,133 194,895
% A B & Auditors’ remuneration
— XA B B A — Auditor of the Company 3,600 2,577
— H i HED — Other auditors 7,369 8,708
10,969 11,285
SFAUTREBRNNEFEE  Amortisation of intangible assets included in:

Ben

—HEKAE — Cost of sales 97,400 41,259

—ITHEEMEERE — Administrative and other operating

expenses 190,272 235,465

287,672 276,724

WERFETE Depreciation of plant and equipment 2,424 879

FTRAEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 24,464 18,656

WEWMERE Depreciation of investment properties 15,250 309

PE H U 28 5 %8 Exchange gain, net (3,766) (5,901)
B S REBGRENEBEE Loss allowance (reversal of loss allowance)

(EiEfERmE) on trade receivables 24,115 (4,126)
%5 K 5% 1 i 85 Write off of plant and equipment 159 —
FEEE(BERD) FE Allowance for (reversal of allowance for)

(T ASHE K A) inventories, net (included in cost of sales) 2,622 (491)
ot 2% 5 sz (B 53 Research and development expenses (note) 102,582 155,691
BRAFXNFEERE Amount of inventories recognised

as an expense 7,845,574 8,380,955
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

12. F Wi M @) 12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Mz : 8l 2202312 A3 LEENHAERI B Note: Research and development expenses include staff cost of employees in
ERE MEBMEENETIREANARE the design, research and development function of approximately
50,138,0007T (20224 : A R #73,735,0007T) ° RMB50,138,000 (2022: RMB73,735,000) for the year ended 31 December
ZRBENAFALXFEBENE TRAR - 2023, and such amount is also included in the staff costs as disclosed

above.
B E2023F12A31H It FEMH IR Research and development expenses also include depreciation charge of
34 A R 738,000 (20224 : A R #& approximately RMB738,000 (2022: RMB986,000) for the year ended 31
986,0007C) M E M X » 2 XIBINET A XA December 2023, and such amount is also included in the depreciation of
BEOBEREETENR - plant and equipment as disclosed above.

13. EERBETHRAENME 13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS
(@ EERESTHRAEN#ME (@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
BT ERM T65(2022F : 65) & The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 6 (2022: 6)
ERGERITHRAESEMNMESHOT - directors and the chief executive were as follows:

3R 1.1 RUKER

EZHe RHEMEF MiERA HE- R
Salaries, Retirement

allowance benefit

Directors’  and other Discretionary scheme
fee benefits bonus contributions Total
AR%TR AR¥Tr AR¥Trn AR%Tn AR%Tx
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000  RMB’000

52202312831  For the year ended 31 December 2023

5E

HITEE Executive directors

FAERE(TEELE]D M Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey (‘Mr. Kang”) - 1,137 - 54 1,191

B L Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen - 1,209 720 16 1,945

BRZELL Ms. Guo Lihua 484 230 97 65 876

BUKHITEE Independent non-executive directors

ELPit3 Mr. Ye Xin 270 - - - 270

SRTEL Dr. Ma Qiyuan 270 - - - 270

wa—LE Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie 270 = - - 270
1,204 2576 817 135 4,822
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

13. BEEREESTHAENM £ @w 13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(@ EERBRSITHRAEN (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
B € (@) (Continued)

HZ2022F 1283181k For the year ended 31 December 2022

FE
HITEZE Executive directors
Fr4E Mr. Kang - 1,080 1,883 54 3017
HBELAE Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen - 1,202 1,790 15 3,007
BHRELL Ms. Guo Lihua 482 260 155 87 984
FHTEE Non-Executive director
Rzt (R t)) Ms. Ni Hong, Hope (‘Ms. Ni") (note ()
iEa0)) 129 - - - 129
BUHHTEE Independent non-executive directors
ESipi: Mr. Ye Xin 258 - - - 258
SRrEL Dr. Ma Qiyuan 258 - - - 258
B —rE Mr. Hao Chunyi, Charlie 258 - - - 258
1,385 2,542 3,828 156 7911
B aE - Note:
[0) R2022F 6 A10 AR E © [0) Retired on 10 June 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

13. EERBREITHAENME @)

(a)

(b)

(c)

BEEREESITHAEW

B € (@)

A ROBTESTMEES R
BEREREBEAEEEKEHN
PR o

AEFRREZLEHOMEEZ S RE
ERARRBIESREMR

FEETRBARARSITHRASR
REXHBER2FHERBRIES
RRTBRABRERBOME -

AEMBENRBEATHARE
MFHEERBEARBMERE -

0 A £2023F Kk2022412 A31H
IEFE ARAANZSTHRAER
FAEERERESIRERERSE
B TR B2 o KB E22023F &
2022F 12 A31BEFE  AEEW
BERAARAEETBRABRESY
NEANMESEAENAREENES
S ERBEE A E -

EESNERNER RBEEREF

Br | SCRT#E BE & AN - A £ 20234
N2022F 12 A31HILFEARN » XA
B)E = I & U BT ] E fb R R 48 F
SR AR A o

MTE=ZTRHESERBD
RE

R E R R E 22023F K&2022F
12A31H IEFEAERRRE - &
BFRENEZFIREEETRED
KE-

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Group.

The emoluments of Ms. Ni shown above were mainly for
her services as director of the Company.

Mr. Kang is also the chief executive of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include those for
services rendered by him as the chief executive.

Discretionary bonuses disclosed above were determined
by the Remuneration Committee of the Company with
reference to the individual performance.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors of the
Company waived or agreed to waive the emoluments
paid by the Group during the years ended 31 December
20283 and 2022. No emoluments were paid by the Group
to the chief executive and directors of the Company as an
inducement for joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company
did not receive any other retirement benefits or termination
benefits during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No consideration provided to or receivable by third parties
for making available directors’ services subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

13. EERESTHRAENME @

(d)

(e)

FHOEE ZFEENR
EHZABENREERRE
HHNERREUER UR
ggz%x¢mam&zm

20234 K 20224 12 A31 H sk i &
F 20234 K 2022F 12 A31 B IEF &
RERER TEFETHREAD
REE HEMNIZIEABRER
HEETRREENEMCER  BUE
FOARERZEALTHEMRS -

EEREARS RHRE
HIE KRR =
B Y FE36 P 1 B8 & J) - 120234 I

202212 A31 H = K # £20234F
K 202212 A31 B 1F & & AT {A] B
M WEARRAITHNIMEZR
EREESKEELESEARNGS

BERAEBMEBABANEARS -
ZH AW TIRER -
14. EEBN &

RAGEELZEEMEALF B4
(20225 : MB)ARBEE HMESH
RNEXHMEIBHHREER AR M

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favor of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favor of directors of the Company, their controlled
bodies corporate and connected entities subsisted at 31
December 2023 and 2022 or any time during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance

Except as disclosed in note 36, no significant
transactions, arrangements or contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company was a party and
in which a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at 31 December 2023 and 2022 or
at any time during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the

Group, 1

(2022: 2) director(s) of the Company whose

emoluments is included in the disclosures in note 13 above.

Z22F ZR)EaFMA TS The emoluments of remaining 4 (2022: 3) highest paid
PN individuals were as follows:
2023 F
2023
AR T
RMB’000
e EEREMER Salaries, allowance and other benefits 5,723 17,135
RINTE I EI 5K Retirement benefit scheme contributions 241 330
IR AEEROHERNX Share-based compensation expenses 2,723 691
8,687 18,156
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14. EEM £ @)

mENMESETIEBER

HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2023 F
2023

AE
Number of
individuals

1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000 7T
(M R4 AR #1,350,2707C
= AR #1,800,3607T)
(20224 : AR #1,290,6007C
= AR #1,720,8007T)

2,000,001 7T & 2,500,000 7T
(H8E R4 AR 1,800,361 70
& AR#2,250,4507T)
(20224 + AR#1,720,801 7T
= AR#2,151,0007T)

2,500,001 7 7T Z 3,000,000 7T

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,350,270
to RMB1,800,360)
(2022: RMB1,290,600 to RMB1,720,800)

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,800,361
to RMB2,250,450)
(2022: RMB1,720,801 to RMB2,151,000)

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

(HERHARE22504517C  (equivalent to approximately RMB2,250,451
= AR#2,700,5407T) to RMB2,700,540)
(2022 : AR #2,151,001 7T (2022: RMB2,151,001 to RMB2,581,000)
&= AR #2,581,0007T) 2 -
3,000,001/% 7L £3,500,000/8 7t  HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
(HHE RO ARKED7005417T  (equivalent to approximately RMB2,700,541
£ AR®3,150,6307T) to RMB3,150,630)
(20224 :+ AR 2,581,001 7T (2022: RMB2,581,001 to RMB3,011,400)
= AR#3,011,4007T) - 1
3,500,001 7L £4,000,000/8 T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
(FHE R ARY3,150,631 T (equivalent to approximately RMB3,150,631
£ AR ™3,600,7207T) to RMB3,600,720)
(20224 : AR™3,011,401 T (2022: RMB3,011,401 to RMB3,441,600)
&= AR #3,441,6007T) - 1
4,000,001 7L £4,500,000/% 7T HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000
(FHERHARES600,72170  (equivalent to approximately RMB3,600,721
&= AR #4,050,8107T) to RMB4,050,810)
(20224 © AR #3,441,601 T (2022: RMB3,441,601 to RMB3,871,800)
£ AR #3,871,8007T) - 1
RN B 22023F N2022%12 831 H 1IF & No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
E AEBTERNRAZEZSHMA LTI individuals as an inducement for joining the Group or as
TS EANARNEEN RS SKIES compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31

BEmAHE -

December 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

15. K E 15. DIVIDENDS
B ZE20283F12A831ALEFE AA A A 2022 final dividend of HK$0.04 per share of a total amounting
B& 17 i B P FE R K 322022 F R Ef X B & to approximately RMB50,402,000 (2022: nil) was recognised as
f%0.047% 7T+ & HE 4 A R #50,402,0007T distribution out of the Company’s share premium during the
(20224 : 4B) o BEREHARAE i fm S year ended 31 December 2023. No dividend has been
IKERR S o proposed since the end of the reporting period.

16. BB F 16. EARNINGS PER SHARE
KAGER ANEHERERRBERDF The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
THIR A TN E A E attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following:

20234
2023

AR®T R
RMB’000

2 F Earnings
AHEGREAREERT  Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted
WEF - BARBHEEA earnings per share, representing profit for

P& F A s the year attributable to owners of the
Company 210,700 314,414
2023 £
2023
AR TR
RMB’000
BROEE Number of shares
ATEERERB N Weighted average number of ordinary shares
T3 AR N A 19 £ for the purpose of basic earnings per share 1,368,853 1,401,033

BB #HENEN L MALA  Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

B2 488 .
e

BRIEAZREREARQF Deemed issue of shares under the

B 5 BRI AR 10 BB AL T &) Company’s RSU scheme for nil
BT consideration 2,175 4,337
R EBREERTN Weighted average number of ordinary shares
A AR I AE T I B for the purpose of dilutive earnings per
share 1,371,028 1,405,370
MEEENATESREANAZ NN I @ The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
RZ N #E SE 5 B2 5t X 5 AR 1B PR #l B calculation of earnings per share for both years has been
DEMNAEBEENRMTHZE/EL T adjusted for the effects of the shares held by the trustee

pursuant to the RSU scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

A COST

®H2022F1 A1H At 1 January 2022 780 6,889 10,913 - 18,582
NE Additions - — 1,403 — 1,403
P& H % Exchange adjustments 66 148 94 — 308
72022912 A31H At 31 December 2022 846 7,037 12,410 - 20,293
NE Additions - - 729 8,104 8,833
Jift 88 Write-off (858) - (203) - (1,061)
0E i 3% Exchange adjustments 12 - 53 - 65
2023612 A31H At 31 December 2023 - 7,037 12,989 8,104 28,130
E DEPRECIATION

R202241H1H At 1 January 2022 578 4,317 5,939 — 10,834
FRNG Charge for the year 20 - 859 - 879
(EPAE =S Exchange adjustments 63 93 118 — 274
72022412 31 H At 31 December 2022 661 4,410 6,916 - 11,987
F AR Charge for the year 58 1,407 959 - 2,424
Ji61 88 B B RR Eliminated on write-off (726) — (176) — (902)
EREAEEE Exchange adjustments 7 — 45 — 52
72028412 A31H At 31 December 2023 — 5,817 7,744 - 13,561

IREE CARRYING VALUE

72023412 A31H At 31 December 2023 — 1,220 5,245 8,104 14,569
2022912 A31H At 31 December 2022 185 2,627 5,494 - 8,306

F 3R 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

17. RE R R E @

18.

17.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

BMERZEERTNBEFRSEAEERZUT Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis
HETAEARFHAEREETTE after less their residual values over their estimated useful lives
as follows:
bt 54 Motor vehicles 5 years
HEWMEERE HEFERKSF Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of
(AREE RE) the lease or 5 years
RERBRAZRE 1257 Furniture and office equipment  Over 1 to 5 years
HE 18. LEASES
(@) FEHEEE (@) Right-of-use assets
2023 £
2023
AR T
RMB’000
T Land 91,630 —
EFRkEE Buildings and warehouses 31,072 29,549
122,702 29,549

FAREEREMNAT RN LibE
A # A R #91,630,0007T (2022 4 :
) A=+ - KEB I
RERNEREEFEHERH M
EH BN TRENF (2022F 1 [

EREF) e

HRITLHF L BFHE &
#H E2023F12A31H It F E 8
RERARBEENRERNARE
117,617,000 7T (2022 = : A R #&
5,938,0007L) c FFREEEMN AR E
4 AN R 22,828,000 7T (2022 4 :
A R #1,172,0007T ) & #& ¢ Envision
(China) Holding Ltd. & £ Fff B 2 & (%%
78 [ Envision (China) Group J) U B8 &9 {#
RREEE MERLERZARAES
B o i (FT 5E36()) °

* X A TRE G
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Right-of-use assets consist of RMB91,630,000 (2022: nil)
which represents land use rights located in the PRC with
a lease terms of thirty years. The Group also has lease
arrangements for buildings and warehouses with the
lease terms of generally ranged from two to six years (2022:
two to six years).

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB117,617,000 (2022: RMB5,938,000) due to new
leases of land, buildings. Included in the additions to the
right-of-use assets of approximately RMB22,828,000 (2022:
RMB1,172,000) was right-of-use assets acquired from
Envision (China) Holding Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Envision
(China) Group”), in which Mr. Kang has beneficial interest
in (note 36(a)).

*

The English name is for identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

18. A& @) 18. LEASES (continued)
b)) HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
2023 £
2023
AR T
RMB’000
ERE Non-current 12,550 17,976
T E Current 19,193 12,555
31,743 30,531
B E2023%F 128318 IEFE B & During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered
EERBEEEFIUE THHEER into a number of new lease agreements in respect of renting
Z W RTEERBEERE R buildings and recognised lease liabilities of RMB22,828,000
g & & A R #22,828,000T (2022 (2022: RMB 5,938,000) was recognised at inception of leases.
F: A R #5,0380007T ) > 72023 Included in the lease liabilities as at 31 December 2023 was
F12A3MHMNEHEEBERIEADN A approximately RMB22,150,000 (2022: RMB23,882,000) arising
R #22 150,0007T (2022 F : A R ¥ from leases with Envision Communication.
23,882,0007T) iR B BRIEBIEZ
RIMHEE -

20234
2023

AR¥TR
RMB’000

HEBEBETHNENSHE Amounts payable under lease liabilities

—F R Within one year 19,193 12,5655
—FEERFEAN After one year but within two years 9,509 10,113
WEBBREFNAN After two years but within five years 3,041 7,863
31,743 30,531
g 2@ A R B EiAA T HY Less: amount due for settlement within
2R RHEaRE 12 months (shown under
HR) current liabilities) (19,193) (12,555)

A12@ A BB B4 NS % Amount due for settlement after
12 months 12,550 17,976
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

18. A& =)
(c) REZHEINEEH

18. LEASES (continued)

(c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

2023 F
2023

AR®BT R
RMB’000

FTRHEEEMNTERX Depreciation expense on right-of-use
assets 24,464 18,656
HEBENFERX Interest expense on lease liabilities 2,486 2,025
HEEHEERBOMX Expense relating to short-term leases 13,807 14,043
(d Hftb (d) Others

#H E2023F12A31B IEFE A -
HEMNBESREBLELNAARE

37,909,000 7t (2022 & = A E
34,694,0007T) °

19. REWE

e RMB37,909,000 (2022: RMB34,694,000).

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash
outflows for leases amounting to approximately

AR COST

M2022F1H1H At 1 January 2022 —
IN= Additions 237,962
PR20224F N 2023F 12 A31H At 31 December 2022 and 2023 237,962
WERRE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

7R2022F1 A1 H At 1 January 2022 —
FREE Provided for the year 309
MR2022F12 A31H At 31 December 2022 309
F RS Provided for the year 15,250
M 2023912 A31H At 31 December 2023 15,559
BREE CARRYING VALUE

M 2023912 A31H At 31 December 2023 222 403
72022912 A31 H At 31 December 2022 237,653
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19. BEWE @)

LA EMERE NI FENKRAE KX

E:

HE L iRk

BF M H &8 k62 F
(AmEERE)

HE2022F12A81B I EE - A AR &
Global Elite (China) Limited ([ Global Elite | -
AEAREBE —R2REPRERERANILLEE
# % - E & - Global Elite[d = £ B & T
HEMEENE SRR FRERERE
Fo R4 AR #49,774,0007T B A R ¥
158,315,0007C ° & E H M A FE L B
A R #248282,0007t © & AR HE KA
FrREMAEZ S H AR 29,873,0007T
EEEASEEIWF AEMERNKIE- %
,uﬁlﬂﬁiuﬁzmw&ﬂao 2022 F 12
A31H ' R EILEE KNEE - K2023
F12A318  AEEREVELATFESE
4 A R #6252 551,0007T (2022 4F : AR #
248,282,0007T) °

AFEDEREAEE T EBENE L
HEMBERITAENGEEMS DL - HE
The R AR E U ERN T
HmEET ARFEMAEETED
P 202212 B31H A FEHEEE
HREBSERGEETEE M ER B
SEERTHRERD

a5 B AR M R ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Over the term of the lease
Over the shorter of the term of
the lease and 62 years

Leasehold land
Buildings

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
entered into a settlement agreement with Global Elite (China)
Limited (“Global Elite”), a customer and borrower of the Group,
in which, Global Elite agreed to use certain investment
properties to settle the trade receivables and loan receivables
approximately RMB49,774,000 and RMB158,315,000,
respectively. The fair value at the date of settlement was
approximately RMB248,282,000; and at the same date, the
refundable rental deposits received from tenants in the amount
of approximately RMB29,873,000 transferred to the Group and
included in other payables. No gain or loss was arising from this
settlement. There was no significant variance with the fair value
as at 31 December 2022. The fair value of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMB252,551,000 (2022: RMB248,282,000).

The fair value has been arrived at based on a valuation carried
out by Cushman & Wakefield, independent valuers not
connected with the Group. The valuation was determined by
reference to recent market prices for similar properties in the
similar locations and conditions. The relevant valuation report
for the fair value as at 31 Decemer 2022 contained a “material
valuation uncertainty” clause due to the market disruption
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, which resulted in a
reduction in transactional evidence and market yields.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20. B EE

BA CoSsT

R2022E1 A18 At 1 January 2022 2,722 80,030 2,028 283,182 93,000 1,006,808 440 1,468,210
NE Additions - — — - - 269,087 — 269,087
B A Exchange adjustments - - 187 - - 92,206 - 92,39
R2022%12 4318 At 31 December 2022 2,722 80,030 2,215 283,182 93,000 1,368,101 440 1,829,690
RE Additions — — - - - 64,411 - 64411

e Disposal - - - - - (114,227) - (714,227)
EHRAE Exchange adjustments - - 38 - - 18,360 - 183%
R20235E12 5310 At 31 December 2023 2,122 80,030 2,253 283,182 93,000 736,645 440 1,198,272
EHE 4] ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

R2022%F1 A18 At 1 January 2022 2,122 44,055 1,642 95,361 21,046 326,090 440 491,356
ERMEB Charge for the year - 5,741 104 31,465 8,590 230,734 — 276,724
EHAR Exchange adjustments - - 159 - - 34,425 — 34584
R2022%12 4318 At 31 December 2022 2,122 49,796 1,995 126,826 29,636 591,249 440 802,664
FRMEB Charge for the year - 5,741 194 31,465 8,590 241,682 — 287,672
He Disposal - - - - —  (375840) — (375,840
B 5 3 % Exchange adjustments - - 47 - - 38,575 - 38622
202312 A31H At 31 December 2023 2,122 55,537 2,236 158,291 38,226 495,666 440 753,118
REE CARRYING VALUE

7202312 A31H At 31 December 2023 - 24,493 17 124,891 54,774 240,979 — 445154
2022512 A31H At 31 December 2022 - 30,234 220 156,356 63,364 776,852 — 1,027,026
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

20. B EE @) 20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

tEPEEABBEANERFY - ZF
BEERNTHAIERFHRER
Z: 373

HE@EFEE 34
=& 594
8 kiR 114
1 8 7 A 1R 9%
THEF = 9%
EREL 54
B 0] 5E 54

R E Z2023F12831BH IEFEE B X
GHOABERRABEEBRIMARESE
BEIBNEEERROARAED N A
A R ¥64,411,0007C (2022 : A B &
269,087,0007T) °

R E £2023F12831H It FE > K&
BFRAEETEERGRAEFEE T
B HAREWRDEAEATESAEM
cHUNENEREE ZSEEELN
FEHETEZERDA A R 338,387,000
T WRE BT AL E °

ZEBVEEMREFGHOFBRIE
2ARIEE -

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Internet platform 3 years
Customer relationships 5to 9 years
Domain name and trademark 11 years
Supplier relationships 9 years
Non-compete agreements 9 years
Information systems 5 years
License 5 years

Additions to information systems during the year ended 31
December 2023 represented the additions to the information
systems used in the automotive business of approximately
RMB64,411,000 (2022: RMB269,087,000), and included into
Ingdan segment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group used
certain of its information systems as capital injections to its
investees in which the investments are classified as financial
assets at FVTOCI. The carrying amount of these information
systems amounting to approximately RMB338,387,000 at the
time of transfer and included in disposals in the movement.

Details of the impairment assessment of such intangible assets
are disclosed in note 21.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. B8 21. GOODWILL
A COST
7R2022F1H18 - At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 and
2022912 A31 8 » 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023
20283F1A1H &
202312 A31H 607,007
A IMPAIRMENT
MR2022F1 A18 -~ At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and
2022412 A31H - 31 December 2023

20231 H1A R
202312 A31H —

REE CARRYING VALUES
M2023F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 607,007
MN2022F12 A31 H At 31 December 2022 607,007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. BE W) 21.

WREANRENTES  REBKEHEEN
HEMEREESREEASE R E (2022
F: AE)EBIR S EE B - R2023F
Fo022F 12 A I HARENLFEMNME
EBELERMEENRAENDT :

GOODWILL (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible
assets arising from the business combinations was allocated to
five (2022: five) individual cash-generating units of the Group.
The carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 allocated to these units are as
follows:

2023 F
2023
AR® TR
RMB’000
T Al Comtech:
— HEICKkHM — Sales of IC and other electronic
Bt components 180,674 180,674
— SiEMBAEE — EZ Robot Group (as defined in note 39)
(% RM539) 155515 155,515
WERH Ingdan:
—Heicolink Holdings Limited — Heicolink Holdings Limited and its
N BB A A ([ R subsidiaries (“Heicolink Group”)
B 121,509 121,509
— New United Holdings — New United Holdings Limited and its
Limited }z & ff /& 2 7] subsidiaries (“New United Group”)
(I'New United £ @1 1) 105,546 105,546
— Risingnovas Holdings — Risingnovas Holdings Limited and its
Limited & E W B 2 7] subsidiary (“Risingnovas Group”)
([Risingnovas % & |) 43,763 43,763
607,007 607,007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. %%ﬁ (#]|) 21. GOODWILL (continued)
LA R & 1R20234F &2022F12A31H & Below are the carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31
REEBRCELEUNBETLEENR December 2023 and 2022 allocated to the individual cash-
HE ° generating units.
2023
2023
EFBE fHrER B 12 THRFHE EEAL Foh
Customer Supplier Non-compete Information
relationships  relationships agreements systems Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET R ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
[REEESTIE Comtech:
- SERBAS — EZ Robot Group 22,532 - 32,778 51,896 107,206
WER Ingdan:
— BRI E — Heicolink Group 971 46,706 8,877 - 56,554
— New United £ — New United Group 384 65,787 10,330 - 76,501
— Risingnovas & — Risingnovas Group 606 12,398 2,789 - 15,793

24,493 124,891 54,774 51,896 256,054

T E Al Comtech:
—SEKRBAE — EZ Robot Group 23,848 - 35,218 69,960 129,026
WERE Ingdan:
— R E — Heicolink Group 4,398 58,473 11,731 6,791 81,393
— New United & — New United Group 774 82,362 12,929 6,405 102,470
— Risingnovas & — Risingnovas Group 1,214 15,521 3,486 2,591 22,812

30,234 156,356 63,364 85,747 335,701
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. BE W) 21. GOODWILL (continued)

HeEEEN — HECREIE
EXyn

RS EABM I UKRE S TR EE
BEAETEET HEARBLEAEH
EEEHANATFHUEEENR SR
ETER - Mk A K K A3% (20224 ¢
3%) - BBEAFTHMNRESREFEHARRE
EABEMAIEERREI%(20224F : 3%)
HE -ReREFEARAHKAEERT
DRESELESEUBAAMNRBERITEEER
BABKE FANEERT NEHERES
EXBULKEEBENRPFHEER -

e m=E A AT R £15.5% (2022
F:151%) 7R »

R 20234 K 2022F12 8318 - R E F B
EBEFE(BEASEEEERBYGE
MENFR)MRSEEEMHATKE S
FenrEEAE Bl UTERGEER
FEMEERERERBDENRAEEIE
(2022%F : &) - AEBEEEHFE M
WEBKELREMSERNEEDETS
BERHRSEAEVANERAERL I
ReEEEBMMAKE S -

Cash-generating unit — Sales of IC and other
electronic components

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2022: 3%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%
(2022: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
15.5% (2022: 15.1%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 and
2022. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (2022: nil). Management of the
Group believe that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of this cash-generating unit to exceed the recoverable
amount of this cash-generating unit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. BE W)

BeELBEN - ZEMRIARER

REEEABMMIKE S HRIEGE
BEAETEET HFEARBLEAEH
EEEHANATFHMEEENR SR
2 A - Uk A R R B3% (20224 ¢
5%)  BBERAFHMREREFANIRE
EABMAIETEE R EI%(20224F : 3%)
EE cHERETEARANKRAERERTY
DRESELEBUBAEMNRBERITEEER
BAABKE FANGRERTTEBHES
EXBUKEEBENRPFHEER -

R e m=F AR AT R £13.8% (2022

F13.4%) T -

MR 20234F K 2022612 A31H » B IEFE A
BEFE(DHAEEEEERBILGE
MESFR)MRESEEEMHATIKE S
HeREEAE Bl TERGEER
FEMEHUSREREENETLEE
B R (B 518 (2022 - ) - AE B B2 E 8
5 EALEBRZLBEME EA L E

BreE I ReELEENNETDRA

BHREELEMNAT @SR -
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21. GOODWILL (Continued)

Cash-generating unit — the EZ Robot Group

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2022: 5%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%
(2022: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
13.8% (2022: 13.4%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 and
2022. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill and
intangible assets has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (2022:
nil). Management of the Group believe that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of this cash-generating unit to
exceed the recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. BE W) 21. GOODWILL (continued)

REeELEEN—BRNEBER

REEEABMMIKE S HRIEGE
BEAETEET HFEARBLEAEH
EEEHANATFHMEEENR SR
2 A - Uk A R R B3% (20224 ¢
9%) - BERAFHMREAREFARIRE
EABMAIEELREI%(20224F : 3%)
EE cHERETEARANKRAERERTY
DRESELEBUBAEMNRBERITEEER
BAABKE FANGRERTTEBHES
EXBUKEEBENRPFHEER -

R e m=F AR AT R £13.2% (2022
G 12.8%) I -

MR 20234F K 2022612 A31H » B IEFE A
EBEFE(BEASEEEERBYGE
MESFR)MRESEEEMHATIKE S
HerHEEmE At WERGEERE
FEMEHUSREREENETLEE
B (B8 (2022F : &) - A B EEE
s EAERE LR EMEE LS
PRI SBRMRSELEEMNERETA
BERHLRSEEEMMATWRESHE -

Cash-generating unit — the Heicolink Group

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2022: 9%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 9%
(2022: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
13.2% (2022: 12.8%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 and
2022. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill and
intangible assets has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (2022:
nil). Management of the Group believe that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of this cash-generating unit to
exceed the recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. BE W)

IH € E 4 E L — New United £ B

REEEABMMIKE S HRIEGE
BEAETEET HFEARBLEAEH
EEEHANATFHMEEENR SR
2 A - Uk A R R B3% (20224 ¢
8%) MBERAFHMREAREFANIRE
EABMAIETEE R EI%(20224F : 3%)
EE cHERETEARANKRAERERTY
DRESELEBUBAEMNRBERITEEER
BAABKE FANGRERTTEBHES
EXBUKEEBENRPFHEER -

R e m=F AR AT R £13.8% (2022
FA31%) I

MR 20234F K 2022612 A31H » B IEFE A
EBEFE(BEASEEEERBYGE
MESFR)MRESEEEMHATIKE S
HerHEEmE At WERGEERE
FEMEHUSREREENETLEE
B (B8 (2022F : &) - A B EEE
s EAERE LR EMEE LS
PRI SBRMRSELEEMNERETA
BERHLRSEEEMMATWRESHE -
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21. GOODWILL (Continued)

Cash-generating unit — the New United Group

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2022: 8%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%
(2022: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
13.8% (2022: 13.1%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 and
2022. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill and
intangible assets has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (2022:
nil). Management of the Group believe that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of this cash-generating unit to
exceed the recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit.
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21. BE W) 21. GOODWILL (continued)

3 & E 4 B {Y — Risingnovas &

REEEABMMIKE S HRIEGE
BEAETEET HFEARBLEAEH
EEEHANATFHMEEENR SR
2 A - Uk A R R B3% (20224 ¢
5%)  BBERAFHMREREFANIRE
EABMAIETEE R EI%(20224F : 3%)
EE cHERETEARANKRAERERTY
DRESELEBUBAEMNRBERITEEER
BAABKE FANGRERTTEBHES
EXBUKEEBENRPFHEER -

Rem=F A KA T HE £14.7% (2022
£ 14.4%) ] -

MR 20234F K 2022612 A31H » B IEFE A
BEFE(DHAEEEEERBILGE
MESFR)MRESEEEMHATIKE S
HeREREE - AL - &5 E £2023
FER2022F12A31B IEEEREZEA B
FEMmEERERERAERENEE
FREEE ANEBEEREBHEGE  TMAI
ERZ[LBTMNEAEBAIEREGEISE
BHRSELEEMNRmMAER IR
SEABMMATKE S -

Cash-generating unit — the Risingovas Group

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation, which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management of the Group covering a five-year period with
revenue growth rate of 3% (2022: 5%). Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%
(2022: 3%) for this cash-generating unit. The revenue growth
rate adopted in the cash flow projections are based on the past
performance of the cash-generating unit and the industry
growth forecasts. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate of
14.7% (2022: 14.4%).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit based on
the value-in-use calculation, which is prepared by the
management of the Group and the independent valuer, CHFT,
is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 and
2022. Accordingly, no impairment loss for goodwill and
intangible assets has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. Management of
the Group believe that any reasonably possible change in any
of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of this cash-generating unit to exceed the recoverable
amount of this cash-generating unit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

N
N
a2
!
R
E"I:
>_-

i 2HEUWER 22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

20234
2023

ARBTR
RMB’000

BERBAVEFAEMLR

Equity investments designated as at FVTOCI:

AW m AR AR E -
—FLETRAEFES — Unlisted equity securities 875,491 636,919
—FLTREES — Unlisted equity fund 9,105 9,105
884,596 646,024
BREBMEN DT : Analysed for reporting purposes as:
—ERBEE — Non-current assets 884,596 646,024

HERENRFERKEONEE -

AEMBRAREEENES  PERKRE
BRBE MRS RLAFAEER
BT LEMERARES  RREEESH
RE -

AEEYETAENZETFAESNA
FRHBRERFANEEE - ARAES
R WERABFREAIFFFEEREE
MeERKEPERMRBEEN - AL AR
AEFCEEBERUERARERERE
NFEFAEMEE K  RREREFN
B TREBESABRUEFREQFEMNE
PR HERAKERSAELEREFRR
B RERERMRIESN 2RI

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

The fair value of these investments is disclosed in note 6.

The above equity investments represent investments in (i)
unlisted equity securities issued by private entities incorporated/
established in Hong Kong, the PRC and the BVI; and (i) equity
fund.

The Group did not have any right to appoint any directors in the
board of directors of the above-mentioned investees. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, these investments in
equity securities are not held for trading. Instead, they are held
for medium to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company have elected to designate these
equity investments as at FVTOCI as they believe unrecognising
short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit
or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of
holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising
their performance potential in the long run.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

20234
2023

ARBTR
RMB’000

REEERBIIREMKA —

Cost of investments in associates — unlisted

LT 16,325 16,325

JE(E IR EE R 248 - Share of post-acquisition results, net of
kB2 iz 8 dividends received 10,514 6,079
26,839 22,404

R20234F K2022F12 A31H @ & & &R
T &R R P A R

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had interests in the
following associates:

EMEB W)
Zim HK (note )

ggy &%
Incorporated  Hong Kong

EMML  AA

Incorporated  Japan

IngDan Japan Corporation ([ IngDan Japan |)
IngDan Japan Corporation (‘IngDan Japan’)

fiax

0) HRASBEARREEMNTENAMEEM
AFIINBEXRE=ZBEFTTNH B AR
EHENEEEEAZEN -

HASEMEBEANRRAEDEZAR
MBZERAREMNBEENMBERBEH
ST e AT B EMMBIERBERTEY
BlmEERAENEZ QR P BERERA
R o

ERER 15% 15% 15% 15% CRE#EFLEHES
Ordinary shares Trading of IC and other electronic
components
LRR 30% 30% 30% 30% HEEBEBCRATERE S
Ordinary shares Trading of IC and AloT products
related to Automotive business
Note:
(i) The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Zim HK because it

has the power to appoint one out of the three directors under the
provisions stated in the Articles of Association of Zim HK.

The summarised financial information in respect of the
associate, namely ZIM HK, which is material to the Group and
are accounted for using equity method is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents amounts
shown in the associates’ financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

3R 2023 EEAIF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

23. R E N BB RE & ) 23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
ENES Zim HK
2023 %
2023
AR T
RMB’000
MBEE Current assets 588,699 445,048
ERBEE Non-current assets 196 336
mENBEE Current liabilities (456,185) (346,731)
e A Revenue 1,796,518 1,949,431
FREMEEEW SR Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 34,047 4,213

NE2IOMBEMBRERZBE R
M SR E AR T

The reconciliation of the summerised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in the
associate is set out below:

2023 F
2023
ARET T
RMB’000
ENMBEBHNFEE Net assets of Zim HK 132,700 98,653
KEBREMEEN Proportion of the Group’s ownership
HmEEEZLD interest in Zim HK 15% 15%
AREEEIGZBERNFHN Group’s share of net assets of the associate
FEE 19,905 14,798
=3 Goodwill 6,297 6,297
TEERENEEN Carrying amount of the Group’s
EwmREE interest in Zim HK 26,202 21,095

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023
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23. R E N B KR & ) 23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
7K & B 7 IngDan Japan (H # 18 & 3 3k @ The financial information and carrying amount of the Group’s
REBEANBHA#EZEAERE) NI BE R interest in IngDan Japan, which is considered as not individually
FEREmEZH M T : material and accounted for using the equity method, are set out
below:

2023 F
2023

AR®T R
RMB’000

AEFEEENRN(BE), 5% F Group’s share of (loss)/profit and total
SEEGER comprehensive expense for the year (672) (1,083)

KEBRIFE KRB Z QAAIH  Carrying amount of the Group’s

M EEE interest in an immaterial associate 637 1,309
24, A—EHEELENER 24. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
2023 £
2023
ARET T
RMB’000
R—HEELENRE Cost of investment in a joint venture
A — LT — unlisted 1,000 1,000
FEE K EB IR R Share of post-acquisition losses (1,000) (1,000)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

24,

R—REBEEEMNER @ 24. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)
R20234F K2022F 12 A31H  A&EE R At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had interest in the
THEETERERER following joint venture:

ARRBERZ(LB)E KU HE TBEXR 50% 50% 50% 50% HRft{E BB &R AL R
BRAE((H%R LE])

Z7J Intelligent Technology Established The PRC Contributed capital Provision of Information
(Shanghai) Limited * Technology integration
WK B R BR services

3l (ZZ) Shanghal”)

AREBERERAERIBERIEEREE The Group has stopped recognising its share of loss of ZZJ
{EHER EBREE - WMSRE BB ARTE Shanghai when applying the equity method. Unrecognised
RAEOARMEEEREHEHAERM share of ZZJ Shanghai are, for both years and cumulatively
TETEK- insignificant to the Group.

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023
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#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

25 78

26.

25. INVENTORIES

& Merchandises

20234
2023

ARBTR
RMB’000

4,506,058 4,080,543

R2023F12H31H ' AEBWNTFERAE
B &I B 4 A A R 828,364,000 7T (2022
£ AR#D25742,0007T) N F S84 -

REE2023F12A31BIEFEE HAR
¥ 2,622,0007T (2022 F : 17 & & & £ 1 4y
AR ®491,0007T) 77 E B EERRIL A
AN ERKAA o

qﬁfﬂ&%ﬁtlﬁ CTBREBRH

IE

g5
ftb P&

26.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
inventories were net of allowance for inventories of
approximately RMB28,364,000 (2022: RMB25,742,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, allowance for
inventories of approximately RMB2,622,000 (2022: reversal of
allowance for inventories of approximately RMB491,000) has
been recognised and included in cost of sales.

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 F
2023

AR®T R
RMB’000

IR AR AN B BR B E U FUIE Receivables at amortised cost comprise:

BIE:
— B S EWHRIE — Trade receivables 1,795,527 1,022,422
—ERERE — Bills receivables 22,196 29,265
B 5 W oE N eI E & Trade and bills receivables 1,817,723 1,051,687
B S EW R IENE BB Less: loss allowance on trade receivables (115,747) (91,632)
1,701,976 960,055
FEUE F A (@) Loan interest receivables (note (a)) 28,574 28,877
Boke hFENMZRIE Trade deposits and prepayments 168,633 444 597
H th JiE U 71 TE (BT 5 (o)) Other receivables (note (b)) 33,050 36,238
1,932,233 1,469,767

3R 2023 TEEAIFH 231
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

26. ES5ENARE - EREE KE 26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

232

b FE YT FXIE (@)

R2022F1H1R RERFAAME
SERZEREREEABLHEARE
2,134,856,000 7T °

AEERTHEEANTEZHRA SR
30K E120K (20224 : 30K E120K) °
UTARBEHHERERINE RRIRME
REBBH(ESAENKRAERBBHES)
2HWE SR KIEBERERZE(ENKBR
B o R GIENEBEE MERR DT -

(Continued)

As at 1 January 2022, the gross amount of trade and bills
receivables arising from contracts with customers amounted to
approximately RMB2,134,856,000.

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 to 120 days
(2022: 30 to 120 days) from the date of billing. The following is
an ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of loss
allowance on trade receivables, presented based on the dates
of delivery of goods or rendering services, which approximates
the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of the
reporting period.

2023 F

2023

AR TR

RMB’000
1@ AR Within 1 month 1,595,943 886,551
12218 A 1 to 2 months 71,024 55,778
2Z=3M@ A 2 to 3 months 7,468 6,754
BB 31E A Over 3 months 27,541 10,972
1,701,976 960,055

AEERBEERFERRBEEEEN
CHRAEEIRURBRBEREENE
ERE BZRWRENRBEEBED
S2REBABERNERIEEBAS
Al A ARRAE DT (ERBEHARE
AE BEHARETENEBLEERRR
RS B HE AT & IER AR T 7 & FF 4
EHHAE) REXREHNEPRMERE
EERBBEESEMT -

R B 20234 R20224 12 A31 A L5 &
AER R BT A A ERNRE W ERE o
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The Group measures the loss allowance on trade and bills
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on
trade receivables are estimated on an individual basis for
customers with significant balances and collectively using a
provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the
debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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26. ES5ENARE - EREE KE 26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

it P& I 3K I8 () (Continued)

NEFREBEFEBERNRP 3 IEFERIE K The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
ERFERBRRERESBUREANTE on individually significant customer or the ageing of customers
HEHREEBENT - collectively that are not individually significant as follows:

¥ 5
FHEBR R REAE BiEEE
Weighted
average Gross

expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

% AR®BTRT AR%®TxR
% RMB’000 RMB’000

A2023F12A31H As at 31 December 2023
B EBEAX GG EF Individual basis for customers with

H BB 2 E (At significant balances
BEAZEERMENE  Creditimpaired receivables — Default

WRTE — E 4 100% 1,263 1,263
REEEEREN Not credit-impaired receivables — Doubtful

FE W B — R 75% 98,608 73,956

18 1 1 A [ 5 Collectively using a provision matrix

& &t

HEE 5 EUFIER Other trade receivables aged:
IR -
— AR B Hp — Not yet due 0% 1,312,364 -
— ®HI1-60K — Past due 1-60 days 9% 400,430 37,190
— 1 B R B 60 K — Past due over 60 days 66% 5,058 3,338

1,817,723 115,747
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#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE -EWEEKEKH 26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
;A B (48) (Continued)

2022912 B31 H As at 31 December 2022
BEXEHBEF Individual basis for customers
1% (6 5l B 2E (& with significant balances
BEREEEREN Credit impaired receivables —
fEMHIE — B4 Default 100% 24,405 24,405
REEEERER Not credit-impaired receivables —
FEW FRIE — R B Doubtful 75% 28,119 21,089

1B RGP [ E (A Collectively using a provision matrix
Hi B 5 W IBEH B © Other trade receivables aged:

— AR EE — Not yet due 0% 735,996 —
— B H1-60K — Past due 1-60 days 9% 221,122 19,901
— B HBHEE0K — Past due over 60 days 62% 42,045 26,237
1,051,687 91,682
ESRWFIBENEREBEEZHEHINNOT : The movement in the loss allowance on trade receivables is set
out below:

R2022%1F1H At 1 January 2022 84,873 10,885 95,758
FRORD)E N (Decrease) increase during the year (17,646) 13,520 (4,126)
202212 A31H At 31 December 2022 67,227 24,405 91,632
FRIEMORD) Increase (decrease) during the year 47,257 (23,142) 24,115
2023F 12 31 H At 31 December 2023 114,484 1,263 115,747

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023
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26.

BUHE BREEBRH

g5
b FE U 5% I8 ()

B -

(@)

NBERRRERERTSOAAE5/0T

#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) The breakdown of the loan interest receivables at the end of the reporting
period is presented as follows:

2023 F

2023

AR T

RMB’000
REBEH M E AT Associate of the Group 3,381 3,709

AREBOWIKE QA DEAZLATF Investees of the Group, classified as financial assets

B AEMEZERSNSREE at FVTOCI 8,415 15,150
AEBNES Employees of the Group 16,075 9,588
H Others 703 430
28,574 28,877

BRERPEEBERIBRKRERNENER
B IE N ET -

AEBZBSER12EAEHEEBENSSE
st 2 H A R U FNIE RO S 1B B o 20234 R
2022F12A31H A"EEEEE Bt H e
WHRENBEREEBEETTEX -

Details of the measurement of the loss allowance on loan interest
receivables under the ECL was set out in note 27.

(b) The Group measures the loss allowance on other receivables at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
management of the Group estimates the ECL on other receivables was
insignificant.
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#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

27. BIE R

27. LOANS RECEIVABLES

2023 F
2023
AR TR
RMB’000
REY At the beginning of the year 704,002 475,082
1 n Addition 72,399 441,287
BERANERK Repayment from borrowers (80,128) (238,518)
PE 3, 3 2 Exchange adjustments 12,974 26,151
RER - BEA At the end of the year, secured 709,247 704,002
BWEEFTER DT Analysed for reporting purpose:
— mEE — Current portion 424,635 _
—FEmEE S — Non-current portion 284,612 704,002
709,247 704,002

N20234 K2022F 12 A31H - FEWE &
REBEVERHIAHEBERANRREST
K FE BHERFERERAFTED
HTIRERT NERE AR T EEE
WERASBEHEERETK -

BIERANEN2IMBEERDT

The loans receivables are secured, throughout the contractual
loan period, by the borrowers’ cash deposits, inventories, trade
receivables or certain equity interests held by the borrowers as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022. The fair value at the date of
recognition is insignificantly different to the principal amount of
the loan receivables.

The loans receivables, presented based on the identity of the
borrower, are as follows:

2023 F
2023

AR®TR

RMB’000

RNEEHEE QA Associate of the Group 94,554 111,433
REBRWIRENT DA Investees of the Group, classified
BAFEFTFAEMEREUK as financial assets at FVTOCI

mHEREE 277,388 272,012
AEBZEE Employees of the Group 117,600 117,600
HAtb Others 219,705 202,957

709,247 704,002

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023
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27. EWWE K@) 27. LOANS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

AEERENERMNETDIEEREER
EENBEENEMERNEMETE -

R2023F12A3TH M E K ERE @A
FREEAQAFMNESRENEROA
R #117,600,000 7T (2022 F : A R ¥&
117,600,0007T) * LAFE EE B L5 B 3E
ERERESASEEERNRG -

N A £2023F M2022F 12 A31H Ik £
B EETERERNKERERFE M
REABHEEEER AEBEEE
EZEBANEOLR XZEHFNTH
MR M REE UWREBALETE
RARKRATS - WiEE HEEZ EINBHR
MERRFEBHLCEER  UEFTHESR
EENESEEBEBRIHAEEASAERE
RENEE  URESEBLTENKD
18 -

7 A f R U R R B R B S 1R
05 T EL 46 8 T 1R I A0 1 1%
EPRCESE T OR

R20234F F2022F 12 A31H  AEEE
BEMGARERERERKEREZRF S EH
EEBEETHEEREEYRETHFR
KMELRERK °

The interest rate of the loans granted by the Group are
determined at rates to others with similar amount and credit
rating.

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables as at 31
December 2023 is loans to employees of approximately
RMB117,600,000 (2022: RMB117,600,000) given by the
Company for the purpose of enabling the selected employees
to acquire the shares of the Group’s entity from NCI.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, in
determining the 12-month ECL for the loans receivables and
loan interest receivables, the management of the Group have
taken into account the historical default experience, the financial
position of the counterparties, value of collaterals as well as the
future prospects of the industries in which the debtors operate,
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information, as appropriate, in estimating the probability of
default of each of these financial assets individually occurring
within their respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as
the loss upon default in each case.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the both years in
assessing the loss allowance on loans receivables and loan
interest receivables.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the management of the
Group estimates the loss allowance under the ECL on loans
receivables and loan interest receivables was insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements.
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#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

27. EWE R @)

UTRAREREERZEANAEEEDB
B2 HMER

27. LOANS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The following is a maturity profile of loans receivables, presented
based on their contractual or renewed maturity dates:

2023 F
2023

ARBT T
RMB’000

6& 1218 A
BiE1F

6-12 months
Over 1 year

424,635

284,612 704,002

709,247 704,002

RE E2023F12A31B ILFE - W EE
W B (20224 « A R #279,959,0007T )
ERIHPERZAEEL KRB AT
HA % A — 4 (20224F « — %) o

FE W RPN 7 B0 B R A SR B T 4 A

N 6% E 7% (20224 : FF| K% ZET7%)
s

28. RAVEHFABRENESHMEE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no loans receivables
(2022: RMB279,959,000) has been renewed on or before due
date and extend original maturity date for more than one year
(2022: one year).

Loans receivables carried effective interest at fixed rates ranging
from 6% to 7% per annum (2022: 6% to 7% per annum).

28. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

20234
2023

ARBTR
RMB’000

REEARITEED
BEEEX

Structured deposit managed
by the bank in the PRC — 6,000

HPBREARTEENGEBETR KT
EHRBRAFEIIE-

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

The structured deposit managed by the bank in the PRC, and
carried at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
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2. EEBBITERREESKRIEE 29. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH

ZE8Y AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
BEFRITER Pledged bank deposits

ERBETEREERFRTFEITIEALE
EEKEIRETERERNTT R R20234F
K2022F12A31H * FTBERITFERE |
AN £ [5G 4 LA FE BN AE B SR 1T B A (M AR
32) R EM Z (M 380) YR DE A
MENEE -

N2023FE 12 A31H » © AR 1T7FRIK
EFEREANF0.25% Z 0.35% (2022 £F
0.23% ZF0.42%) 5T & °

BehBTEEY

M20234F [R2022F12A31H » st A 2
LIRS EBYWANBITEBIZE BmS
IR B -

Pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to the
bank to secure banking loans granted to the Group. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, all bank deposits have been
pledged by the Group to secure short-term bank loans (note
32) and bills payable (note 30) and were therefore classified as
current assets.

The pledged bank deposits carried fixed interest rates ranged
from 0.25% to 0.35% (2022: 0.23% to 0.42%) per annum as at
31 December 2023.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances included in cash and cash equivalents carried
prevailing market interest rate as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

30. EZ R HMENRE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 %

2023

ARET T

RMB’000
B 5 EMN A Trade payables 3,244,183 3,353,641
JE eI $ Accrued staff costs 29,896 31,958
HAth S 50E Other payables 30,845 38,347
3,304,924 3,423,946

T AR S MR R RS R A 82516
B 5 6 3B R 5 1

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

20234

2023

AR TR

RMB’000
1@ AR Within 1 month 377,855 2,620,111
12318 A 1 to 3 months 2,819,350 406,842
BiE3E A Over 3 months 46,978 326,688
3,244,183 3,353,641

AEEERNFHEEH A30XK (2022
F:30K) - AEBECERTERRE
B LUBRAEENFXEREEHRA

Zl:l/ﬁ °©

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

The average credit period granted to the Group is 30 days (2022:
30 days). The Group has financial risk management in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.
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31. eNERE 31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2023 F
2023
AR T
RMB’000
HEICK HME FrasH Sales of IC and other electronic components 98,660 255,109
B ERELERIFKA Service revenue from software licensing 3,040 7,442
mMBAENAaRG Current contract liabilities 101,700 262,551
AHBEBEERHEHECKEMETFTEMG X Contract liabilities represents advances received for the sales of
B AR A AR S WA T U ER R B R o IC and other electronic components and service revenue from
ECKEMEF LS RBHFRELE software licensing. The performance obligation of the sales of
REKAHNBHEETS ISR RFICK IC and other electronic components and service revenue from
HiEFoed R RIG 2B ERK - software licensing would be satisfied upon the time of the

delivery of IC and other electronic components and completion
of service respectively.

REE2023F 12 A31HILFEABRIL Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023
S AR2023F1 A1EMA LA BERAUYK that was included in the contract liabilities as at 1 January 2023
A% B A RE262,551,0007T (2022 F - A is approximately RMB262,551,000 (2022: RMB106,354,000).
R #106,354,0007T) ° # = 20234 12 A 31 There was no revenue recognised during the year ended 31
B 1L 5 2 A B 58 B A I £ B8 7 2023 £F 1 December 2023 that related to performance obligations that
A1BRImENBAOEEER - were satisfied prior to 1 January 2023.
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RITERK
78 {14 1 R T 161 AR 98 B0 3K 13 8 T L 2 & 3
HEAE) :

32. BANK LOANS

Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements):

2023 F
2023

ARBT T
RMB’000

—FRARRBEERT
5l 7R

Within one year and shown
under current liabilities

1,597,377 888,116

(@)

MR2023F12A31H  EEEHAR
#5142,346,000 7T (20224 : A R #&
145,676,0007T) B SR 1T B K& — F
HLPRA AR5 B - BEEF BIRZE)
F R KN T1.5%%E6.6% (2022 F :
1.8%%E4.35%) 5t & -

R2023F12A831H: BRAEE A A
R #74,810,0007T (20224 : A R #
264,057,0007T ) A R 17 B 5% SOFR
N1.5% (2022 4F : #%ZSOFR /N3.88%)
MAEGE BEREANBRZEHF
F K 4.3% (20224 : 17 % B) F F) X
5.40%) 5t & -

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

@)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
bank loans of approximately RMB142,346,000 (2022:
RMB145,676,000) carried interest rate of the one-year
LPR with an effective interest at floating rate of ranging
from 1.5% to 6.6% (2022: from 1.8% to 4.35%) per
annum.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
bank loans of approximately RMB74,810,000 (2022:
RMB264,057,000) carried interest rate of SOFR plus 1.5%
(2022: SOFR plus 3.88%) with an effective interest at
floating rate of 4.3% (2022: floating rate of 5.40%) per
annum.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32. SRITER @)

(©

MN2023F12A31H EEEHAR
#1,380,221,000 7T (2022 FF : A R
#& 478,383,000 7T ) A R 1T B FIZ 0
T 1.6% 2 7.11% (2022 £ : 1.60% &
5.70%) B [E & F F| K5 B o

AEBERTEROAELHAR
m

#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

32. BANK LOANS (continued)

(c) As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
bank loan of approximately RMB1,380,221,000 (2022:
RMB478,383,000) carried fixed interest rate of ranging
from 1.6% to 7.11% (2022: from 1.60% to 5.70%) per
annum.

The exposure of the Group’s bank loans to interest rate
changes is as follows:

2023 F

2023

AR T

RMB’000
EBER Fixed-rate borrowings 1,380,221 478,383
FEMER Variable-rate borrowings 217,156 409,733
1,597,377 888,116

#H E2023%F12A31H It F E - K
EBES Y AR 2778686,0007T
(20224 : A R %1,308,133,0007T )
ZHER -FBREAE—E
BES -

AEBERTERNERF X E
m

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
obtained new loans in the amount of approximately
RMB2,778,686,000 (2022: RMB1,308,133,000). The
proceeds were used for general operating working capital.

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s bank
loans are as follows:

2023
2023

AR® T
RMB’000

o] 2
FEER

Fixed-rate borrowings

Variable-rate borrowings

1.60% £7.11%
1.60% to 7.11%
1.50% £ 6.60%
1.50% to 6.60%

1.60% £5.70%
1.60% to 5.70%
1.50% £5.70%
1.50% t0 5.70%

R2023FE 12 A31H » FTBERITRE
7 Bl A S & B 49 A R # 287,705,000
(20225 1 A K % 190,539,000
TT)HMERBRERTTERAROARE
119,799,000 7T (20224 : &) M E 5
FEUWGRIBE BIER -

As at 31 December 2023, all banking facilities were
secured by the Group’s pledged bank deposits and trade
receivables of approximately RMB287,705,000 (2022:
RMB190,539,000) and RMB119,799,000 (2022: nil)
respectively.
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32. RITER @ 32. BANK LOANS (continued)
d) MRBEPHARNBITRESTENE (d)  The amount of banking facilities and the utilisation at the
BB RsEsamT : end of the reporting period are set out as follows:
2023 F
2023
AR® T
RMB’000
BE SR Facility amount
——FRNEm — expiring within one year 5,458,735 2,552,367
BEEHA Utilisations
— —FAE® — expiring within one year 2,457,752 683,387
REAHRITHE Unused banking facilities 3,000,983 1,868,980
33. IEZERIE 33. DEFERRED TAXATION
LNTTAERNEERABFEERANTEER The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised
EFHBEABELRESSHEN and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

M2022%1 18 At 1 January 2022 49,181
FPAEZE (MEE11) Credited to profit or loss (note 11) (7,651)
R2022F 12 A31H At 31 December 2022 41,530
s ABEFEE11) Credited to profit or loss (note 11) (7,652)
R 2023912 A31H At 31 December 2023 33,878
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33. IE & # 18 @) 33. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

72023 12 A31H » B K & K& Fl KR
FORTER MW B EET A BREER
%49 N R 241,436,000 7T (20224 : A R#&
242,084,0007T ) MR E LT H & E - fh 5t
KRB FLIA B 1B B IR A A R #82,523,000
JC (20224 © A R #99,971,0007T) K £ &
HERRIREF N Em - Bt KRB AR
HEENERPEE -

R2023F12A31H - BREKERF A
200841 A1 8 # 17 K # R A & & =
BENAIPERBAFNEENERBY
BrEREABEN A ARK2099,709,000 7T
(20224 : AR %2 654,103,0007T) ° A A
AEBRETFIBOEREZENRR BZ
EEREZABAAETER A R A& KB
B WA E TR EBRERETCHE
B &4 A R#104,985,0007T (20224 : A
R #89,169,0007T) °

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of estimated unused tax losses of
approximately RMB241,436,000 (2022: RMB242,084,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in the
estimated unused tax losses was a balance of approximately
RMB82,523,000 (2022: RMB99,971,000) that will be expired
within next five years. Other estimated unused tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of taxable
temporary differences associated with the PRC subsidiaries’
undistributed retained earnings for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised from 1 January 2008 onwards were
approximately RMB2,099,709,000 (2022: RMB2,654,103,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB104,985,000 (2022:
RMB89,169,000) have not been recognised in respect of these
temporary differences because the Group is in a position to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such temporary differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.
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4. HtemaE

R2020F KRR MEENB R A
Alphalink Global Limited ([ Alphalink |) £2 Optimum
Profuse Technology (HK)Limited ([ Optimum
Profuse] " — 2B E=FH)E 3 — 7
& % 3% 0 ¥ It Optimum Profuse A & LA
A R #35,000,0007T £ 3R & K & 3t % Yl
TORINEM R D BR A E (AT AREET
ERMORID AR AR (DERINFEHR]) &
5% AR FTE - BE— N EE(E —
WROEE ) 202181 A1 B A8 miE Yl
B@ AR R B ¥ B 75% 0% 248 #E 25 1 [
BB AR - B%E— X EEI - Aphalink
M EET LS EERFE UARE
341,900,000t W IR SR EETE R
FE(EZRFED BFEZRIEFETK
% ARERFEINEHB R AR RERT75%
BB £65.65% ARmFENERDAARRQ

FARHBAT

BZREFENHBIARARARIBHE
202059 A10H 202049 A 25 A % 2020

F10H16HMRENR

BELAZEREEE _RTIE  ARA
AEREERTEOE - WEQBAEE
THEESF AISKREEARERAR
ARBOERELORENRIEBOMRE

1 -

X BTG RR] o
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34. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

In 2020, Alphalink Global Limited (“Alphalink”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a capital contribution
agreement with Optimum Profuse Technology (HK) Limited
(“Optimum Profuse”), an independent third party in which
Optimum Profuse agreed to contribute for 25% equity interest
in Shenzhen Comtech Limited.* (R RB@B MR (5 B R A 7))
(formerly known as BEBIHEFMORYI)BERAF) (“Shenzhen
Comtech”) at a cash consideration of RMB35,000,000. The first
capital contribution (the “First Capital Contribution”) was
effective on 1 January 2021 and Shenzhen Comtech remained
as an indirect subsidiary with 75% equity interest owned by the
Company. In addition to the First Capital Contribution, Alphalink
entered into various capital contribution agreements with the
investors for the second capital contributions (the “Second
Capital Contributions”) at an aggregate cash consideration of
RMB341,900,000. Upon the completion of the Second Capital
Contributions, the equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech held by
the Company has been diluted from 75% to 65.65%, while
Shenzhen Comtech remained as a subsidiary of the Company.

Details of the Second Capital Contributions are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated on 10 September 2020, 25
September 2020 and 16 October 2020.

Pursuant to the Second Capital Contributions from Investors as
mentioned above, a redemption right is granted by Company to
each Investors. Each Investors shall have the right to request
the Company to repurchase all of their equity interests in
Shenzhen Comtech at the redemption price, if any of the
triggering events occurs during the redemption period.

*

The English name is for identification purpose only.
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34 HitemB 8w 34. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

BLOERATENEFMNE(REEIE
TRAHEEAZEREERNDNELEE
BBV R R8%) B &R EEFERRINIF
BIREAEE R ERREMAGE -

BEOEBRK —HEHN ERRSEAEE
BOARARMNMNBARBRATIANER
VA% BB | B /) 35 B A R % 610,699,000
JC (20224 : A R #571,347,0007T ) & 2
WREBZERKATENEL SR E
& B E2021F12A31BLFE ' A —
& F %R E AR 150,000,000 7] 32
TEME - ERETIERRKREERLD
EZIREEE R E R R -

S8 2 HERIIMT -

The redemption price was the principal amount plus accrued
interest, being 8% per annum calculated from the date of the
completion of each capital contribution to the date of receipt of
the redemption price from each Investors, less any cash income
received by each Investor as the shareholders of Shenzhen
Comtech.

The redemption right constituted a contract that contains an
obligation for the Group to repurchase the equity instruments of
the subsidiaries of the Company gives rise to a redemption
financial liability recognised at the present value of the
redemption price, being RMB610,699,000 (2022:
RMB571,347,000), and subsequently measured at amortised
cost. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the same
investor entered into a capital contribution agreement at a
consideration of RMB150,000,000. Same redemption right
granted to the investor in respect of this contribution as Second
Capital Contribution.

Details of the movement are set out as below.

HhemaBEe2smT : The movement of other financial liabilities is as follows:
2023 F
2023
AR T
RMB’000
RE] At the beginning of the year 571,347 531,995
HithemeEF S (HEE10)  Interest on other financial liabilities (note 10) 39,352 39,352
RER At the end of the year 610,699 571,347
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35. [ & 35. SHARE CAPITAL

f%0.0000001 E 7T #)  Ordinary shares of US$0.0000001

gl each
ETE Authorised:
2022F1A1H At 1 January 2022,
2022% 12 A31H & 31 December 2022 and i@ A
2023F 12 A31H 31 December 2023 500,000,000,000 50,000 N/A
BETRERE: Issued and fully paid:
R2022F1 A1H At 1 January 2022 1,416,184,732 142 1
Exicl AL ) Cancellation of repurchased
(PR FE ) shares (note (i) (21,922,000) @) -

720224 [ 2023 F At 31 December 2022 and 2023
12AH31H 1,394,262,732 139 1
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35. B& 7 @)

(i)

(iii)

#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

EH E2022F12A31B I FE - ANA A @B 0}
RETERES HFBRHMT

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company repurchased its
own shares through the Stock Exchange as follows:

202241 A January 2022 3,418,000 215 1.96 8,151
20224 4 A April 2022 2,627,000 2.42 2.15 5,369
202245 A May 2022 5,805,000 2.35 2.15 13,099
202246 A June 2022 3,257,000 2.45 2.29 7,313
202247 A July 2022 2,100,000 2.27 213 4,627
202249 A September 2022 4,715,000 1.84 1.57 8,070

21,922,000 46,629

E E2022412 A31 8 1k F £+ 21,922,000 f%
A% {5 B @ fE - H F21,922,0008% 8% 15 B R &
Z2022F12AMBIEFEHTH AAAE
BITRAREERP219ET - BREFEHS
RNAVEEITN G EFHEHBRMAEE2.19FE T
(HERARB1A2IT) EXRRBRAEREZRG
(B © & B AR (5 /) B 55 (B 46,629,0007% 7t (18
B R4 AR A41,654,0007T) B A B 7% EF
Mk -

E Z=20234 12 A31 A Lk 4F 5 & 88 = AR5

B E2023F &2022F 128318 Ik F & #
£ B B 2 P RS AR 0 30 T AR IR B AR £ B AL
sHEl -

B =2023F12A318 Ik F [E ' 2,285,000
(B =2022412 A31 8 It F £ : 2,559,992 &)
ZREABODEMEBTFIZEA ROARK
1,842,000 T (B £2022F 12 A31BIEFE : A
R %3,197,0007C) &1 A Bt 5 BR | A% 1 B 7 51 &I
ARG -

BRTBRDBEZRHBRMDEMTEZTEANUE
AERFE EERIRHIRG B HBRE
W R AR (R M EE38@) ©

(i)

(i)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, 21,922,000 shares were
repurchased, of which 21,922,000 shares were cancelled during the year
ended 31 December 2022. The issued share capital of the Company was
reduced by the nominal value of US$2.19. Pursuant to section 37(4) of the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the nominal value of the shares
cancelled of US$2.19 (equivalent to RMB14.21) was transferred from the
share capital to the share premium. The premium paid on the repurchase
of the shares of HK$46,629,000, equivalent to approximately
RMB41,654,000, was charged to share premium.

There were no shares repurchased for cancellation during the year ended
31 December 2023.

No shares were repurchased through the Stock Exchange and deposited
under RSU Scheme trustee during the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, 2,285,000 units of RSUs (year
ended 31 December 2022: 2,559,992) were vested to the beneficiaries,
and approximately RMB1,842,000 (year ended 31 December 2022:
RMB3,197,000) were credited to the shares held for the RSU Scheme.

The remaining shares are held on trust by the RSU Scheme trustee until
their release to the beneficiaries upon the vesting of the RSUs (see note
38(a)).
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36. BB AR5

HEBLIXS

BRREZEEMBHRERNEMILDMAE
BEIN AREEBBITNFAR
TATRS :

(a)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Transactions with related parties

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following
transactions with related parties during the year as
follows:

2023 &F
2023

ARBT R
RMB’000

Envision (China) Group
(B i Rz i) NEEREEE

Envision (China) Additions to right-of-use assets
Group (notes i &ii) EEHEARG

Repayment of lease liabilities

HEREBEFE

Interest on lease liabilities

ENMEEEE

Property management fee paid

ENEHESRAX

Short-term rental expenses paid

22,828 1,172
10,474 13,901
1,582 1,767
1,524 1,237
12,445 12,257

(i) REXAREE HEHEAE HE
BEFNE

R20194F 12 A23H + & A 7] £ Envision
(China) Group (I BE 2 £ A ) 7] 32 0 %
FHEREERBIEZL G ([20191E R %
# 1) #& it » Envision (China) Group A &
ERIAEHENEERNRAEBIRE
MEREREEBTERS -

W & E2023412A31H It £ B
M2019IE R ZE B e A& ESA
Envision (China) Groups] 32 5 — 17 ¥ %
HERZRBARBELRGZE - A&
2 Envision (China) Group B #8 8 f &
BEEERERAZRET HEHN
F4E64E (20224 : 4E6F )0 AU
REAREERBEENEESRHA
R ¥ 22,828,000 7T (2022 F : AR#
1,172,0007T ) = A20234 12 A31H + &
Envision (China) Group # #l & £ 4 # {& /A
BEERMEEAENEELED N
B AR®21,731,0007T (20224 : AR
#22,891,0007T) & A K #22,150,0007T
(20224 : AR #23,882,0007T) °

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

Notes:

(M

Additions to right-of-use assets/repayment of lease
liabilities/interest on lease liabilities

On 23 December 2019, the Company entered into the property
leasing and complementary services framework agreement (the “2019
Framework Agreement”) with Envision (China) Group which was
owned by Mr. Kang. Envision (China) Group provides property
leasing and complementary management services to the Group
during the lease terms under each individual lease agreements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into
another property leasing and complementary services framework
agreement with Envision (China) Group after the 2019 Framework
Agreement expired. The relevant lease agreements with Envision
(China) Group represents the lease of offices and buildings with
lease period ranged from 4 to 6 years (2022: 4 to 6 years) and
recognised right-to-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities
of approximately RMB22,828,000 (2022: RMB1,172,000). As at
31 December 2023, the aggregate carrying amount of the right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities arising from leases with Envision
(China) Group were approximately RMB21,731,000 (2022:
RMB22,891,000) and RMB22,150,000 (2022: RMB23,882,000)
respectively.
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36. BEHARZ @
() EEBEEE R R B @)

B e - (B8)
(i) EBEVXEESH

B % b STHE (i) BT B 5B 69 AE 28 1
Envision (China) Group & 7 & 1@ 51| 72 & 1%
FNEEHARAEEREEEERE
PR 75 -

R & E2023%412A31H It £ &
AEEEINHMEETEREBEREBELHA
R #1,524,0007C (2022 % : A R #
1,237,0007T) °

(b) EEREEE TS 2 BV 4 BR

BR &R & B 75 AR R Al B0 o0 BT I ER
EO AEEEBEE T ZHALER
il BB R A5 B4 o

() FTEEEEKE RN

FR ARAEERTEZEEEH
R BHMET

HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(ii) Property management fee paid

Under the Framework Agreement as disclosed in note (ii) above,
Envision (China) Group has provided complementary management
services to the Group during the lease terms under each individual
lease agreements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has made
property management fee payment of approximately
RMB1,524,000 (2022: RMB1,237,000).

(b) Balances with related parties

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has no other material balances
with related parties.

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other
members of key management personnel during the year
was as follows:

20234
2023

ARBTR
RMB’000

2 B 8 A
BAREH

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

7,903 16,071
1,170 245

9,073 16,316

ARBEEREBITHRA B E B
HFMEZEeRBEEAARALTS
BEETE -

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
executives is determined by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.
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37. RKE R G E

AEBAMABCERBEERERER LB
ST Elc ZEHEMNEERASEBMNEE
PHABEE THETANEESFTEE A&
E L T EKAR5% (20224 : 5%) [A]
& A £ A1,500
7 70 (20224F £ 1,500 70) © B B B9 X
bR IR o sZAT S H KA EE -

g A N (SR

REFBEZREZANORE TEMBER
AEAREEEAFEN —ELLIIRME
BEEHERERRARGEHK - BRE
BEHNRARFEBEXNAERKETHN
ERWEREERT - REBREERAG
g AREEFEHFUINERERAS
HERNRRENTEHRAEE - TR - %

SENERAE RS -

38. LR XAANRSZ
R TF W RZ RS R A EAEE

XREIBDELAEIEERDASEE
EhEEMNDHNKRR - REZRH K
BB U5t &I P AR TE RO R SRR IR 4D BB AU
BRENEOBERKWRARRRD - &F
REBNDEMBETFHEARTERED
RIEFAAD VAR R o 21 R) £ BsE 52 P g [
MR B X R GBID EMLFEXFEAR
AERAE EERIRH KD ELFERR

AT -
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37.

38.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes 5% (2022: 5%) of relevant
payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 (2022: HK$1,500) per
month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is
matched by employees. Contributions to the plan vested
immediately.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries
in the PRC are required to contribute to a state-managed
retirement plan for all its employees at a certain percentage of
the basic salaries of its employees. The state-managed
retirement plan is responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to all retired employees. Under the state-managed
retirement plan, the Group has no further obligations for the
actual pension payments or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. Contributions to the plan vested
immediately.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

RSU scheme of the Company

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to reward the fidelity and
performance of the directors and employees of the Group. The
RSUs are the rights to receive Company’s shares when they
vest pursuant to the conditions provided for under the RSU
Scheme. Each RSU gives the holder a right to receive a share
at the end of respective vesting period. The shares repurchased
by the Company on the Stock Exchange were held on trust by
the RSU Scheme trustee until their release to the beneficiaries
upon vesting of the RSUs.
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38. LR ZAWRZ m) 38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
A B W2 RS R 4 B & RSU scheme of the Company (Continued)
(@ TR HIIR D E L B9 5k TR A% (@) Details of the terms and conditions of the grant of
HEHBOT RSUs are as follows:

mEBR FHZREH RSUs granted to

A& 1) B AL - employees:
— 201949 A 3H — on 3 September 2019 14,000,000 1.24 17,360 B 3 ()
Note (i)
— PRA2020%F7A16H  — on 16 July 2020 7,680,000 1.09 8,371 ()
Note (i)
— 202254 A20H  — on 20 April 2022 3,900,000 1.60 6,240 BT 3 G)
Note (i)
BT8R Total RSUs granted
A% 19 B AL 4B 2K 25,580,000
B aE - Note:
[0) ERTFTHOXREIBRMENNEELRA [0) The RSUs granted have a vesting period of three years in twelve
H=F ARELBHESI2AZTEZEEH quarterly equal installments from the grant date.
BE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

38. UBHBZFHNRS @

A D TR F AR 10 B 5B (@)

b) FAREZREIRDEMZEE
LU

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

RSU scheme of the Company (Continued)

(b) The movement of the grant of RSUs during the
year is as follows:

2023 F

2023
M1A1EBXEE Outstanding as at 1 January 4,270,000 3,229,992
FRE T Granted during the year - 3,900,000
FRNREB Vested during the year (2,285,000) (2,559,992)
F AR UK Forfeited during the year (720,000) (300,000)
R12HA31B KB Outstanding as at 31 December 1,265,000 4,270,000

RRESEEURMAERNHER
X4 AR #2044,0007T (20224 © A
R #4,095,0007T ) 1A & £20234F 12
AIBLEFEMNEZIHEREBET
A MBBEEESENEBHR
HEmER -

39. HEKE A T

BE2022F12A3BLFE

(@ H % Comlink Holdings Limited
(I Comlink )
R B =2022%F 128318 Ik F & -
AE@EE-—FHEASEEYEHE
ZBIYBE=ZRATL—MNEEHZ
LA4,000,000E € (HE R H AR
#25034000L) x RE KRB HE
Comlink 2 EF B R 7l 2z = 2R #E o
Comlink ¢ A /& EAlOTHE SR 5 & &)
% o

218 H & R2022FE3 A31 B = A
Comink Z = Hl#E RNz BB X W
BB o
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Equity-settled share-based compensation expenses of
approximately RMB2,944,000 (2022: RMB4,095,000)
were recognised as staff costs in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and the remaining balance is
to be recognised in the future based on the respective
vesting periods.

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(@) Disposal of Comlink Holdings Limited (“Comlink”)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party not connected with the Group for
the disposal of entire equity interest in Comlink and its
subsidiaries, an indirect nonwholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, at a cash consideration of US$4,000,000,
equivalent to approximately RMB25,934,000. Comlink
was previously engaged into development of AloT
solutions.

The disposal was completed on 31 March 2022, on
which date control of Comlink passed to the acquirer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

39. HEM B D F @)

B ZE2022F12H31 B L FE @)

(@) tH % Comlink Holdings Limited
(I ComlinkJ) (&)
EXEEHEZCEERERE
DT

#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(@) Disposal of Comlink Holdings Limited (“Comlink”)
(Continued)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which
control was lost:

B 5 EWFIE - FEWEIE K& Trade, bills and other receivables

H fth & W R IE 19,161
BekBEeEEY Cash and cash equivalents 8,755
B 5 REAENFIE Trade and other payables (63,498)
JE A B 18 Tax payables (1,162)
Fri & FaME Net liabilities disposed of (36,744)

H £ Comlink 2 Y& &

Gain on disposal of the Comlink

Ba&RE Cash consideration 25,934
FrH&EFasE Net liabilities disposed of 36,744
FEVE IR B A Non-controlling interests (13,765)
HEIE (BT AEMUg A)  Gain on disposal (include in other income) 48,913
ALHEMER2HESRE BRE : Net cash inflows arising on disposal:

ReERE Cash consideration 25,934

o MHERS RIFES%E  Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of
BY (8,755)
17,179
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
EHZE2023%F12 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

0. HEARERERERS D

BZE2022F12A31HILLEE

@)

R E £22022F12 A318 Ik F &
A AR IEEE KB A & Alphalink
B2 Optimum Profuse&] 32 — 7 B & 1#
% A A R#134,785,0007T B 38 &
A {& [ Optimum Profuse £ 41 U 88 7%
INELBA419% I RR#E - WIE = TE T)
MR2022F 58318 £ T % %
Y38 7 A% 4 B 4962.42% & F & 4
66.83% ° & Yl BB & E KB A A8
TEEBBICHS EART LD -

Ll 5B —THE IR RS E
TZBRERS MR R EEF
HarkEMHBARFEERAE
ZHBMNBEZEANZEHOARE
87,678,000 T E T A H M FEBE A °

REEUBRRZIFE—BER
mT

40. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(@)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Alphalink, a
non wholly owned subsidiary of the Company entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Optimum
Profuse to acquire additional 4.419% equity interest in
Shenzhen Comtech from Optimum Profuse at a cash
consideration of RMB134,785,000. The acquisition was
effective on 31 May 2022 and the equity interest in
Shenzhen Comtech has been changed from
approximately 62.42% to approximately 66.83% upon the
completion. The principal activities of Shenzhen Comtech
and its subsidiaries are application design and distribution
of IC chips.

The above-mentioned transaction constituted an equity
transaction with non-controlling interest and the difference
between the cash consideration and the relevant share of
the carrying amount of the net assets of Shenzhen
Comtech and its subsidiaries, being approximately
RMB87,678,000, was debited to other reserve.

A schedule of the effect on consolidated financial
statements is as follows:

FrULEE B JETE R HEZS BRI A Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired
Cash consideration paid to non-controlling interest

FEEESEEXNZRS
KB

47,106

(134,784)

TR o P L i 5 4 T AR
BB

Loss recognised in other reserves within equity

(87,678)

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

M. ETERMELAEENHER

TRHFLASERELZHELENARE
B ERRAEMIREED BMEIDE
ENBEBERESREXARRRESTER
RAEEGAHERERTOBERBE
ABRERENAE-

HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

HEEE EAEFFE R HitemeE et
Accrued Other
Lease interest financial
liabilities payable Bank loans liabilities Total

ARBTRE ARBTR ARBTRE AR®TR AR®TZR
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000

(F=£18) (M=£30)  (F&E32) (B 5£34)

(note 18) (note 30) (note 32) (note 34)
7 2023F1F1H At 1 January 2023 30,531 - 888,116 571,347 1,489,994
BEBRESRE Financing cash flows:
— g — Additions - - 2,778,686 - 2,778,686
— & — Repayment (24,102) (65,787) (2,083,353) - (2,173,242)
FReEE: Non-cash changes:
— B A E — Accrued interest 2,486 65,787 - 39,352 107,625
—HIEHEE L — New leases
arrangement 22,828 - - - 22,828
—EHAEE — Exchange
adjustment - - 13,928 - 13,928
H2023%F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 31,743 - 1,597,377 610,699 2,239,819
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

M. B ETEFELASENY R 41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

M20229F1A1H At 1 January 2022 43,219 - 405,321 531,995 980,535
MERSRE Financing cash flows:
— & — Additions - — 1,350,022 — 1,350,022
— & — Repayment (20,651) (25,644) (860,820) — (907,115)
FREEH - Non-cash changes:
— BRI E — Accrued interest 2,025 25,644 — 39,352 67,021
—HEHEELH — New leases
arrangement 5,938 — — — 5,938
—[EH AR — Exchange
adjustment — — (6,407) — (6,407)
R2022F 12 A31H At 31 December 2022 30,531 - 888,116 571,347 1,489,994
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

42, FEFBHERH

IS
EE

(a)

(b)

(c)

BAEUBRREMITDBEESRIN - =
RERXZFHINWT :

MEEER

REZE2023F12A31 B LEFE * K
EBEREFII LT L REERM
REERNERAREERTEEARE
B AR 117,616,000 7T (20224 :
AR #5,038,0007T) °

LBREYMEENEZ BV
HEEWRER

BIEGEEMEREMT19 RER
2022612 A31H It F €+ &N R 7]
A Global Elite 5] 3 45 & g H A >
Global Elite R B LA H TR & WX E
ZHREKRFERERE -

REBBFEERAFESR
AHMEZHKENE TS
EEETIEE -

R B E2023F12A318 Ik F & -
REBEBRFPEEZEESRSTFTAA K
AEBEBEE NN AEARE
338,387,0007T & A K % 82,802,000
THBREERGTEBENRE-

HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

42. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Except for disclosed in other sections of the consolidated
financial statement, the major non-cash transactions are set out
below:

(@) New lease arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into new arrangements in respect of buildings.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
RMB117,616,000 (2022: RMB5,938,000) were
recognised at the commencement of the leases.

(b) Settlement of trade receivables and loan
receivables by investment properties

As per note 19 in the consolidated financial statement,
during the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
entered into a settlement agreement with Global Elite, in
which, Global Elite agreed to use certain investment
properties to settle the trade receivables and loan
receivables.

(c) Capital injections on certain financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive
income through intangible assets.

During the year ended 31 Decemeber 2023, the Group
invested in certain companies in the PRC in which the
considerations were settled by the Group’s intangible
assets and inventories of carrying value approximately
RMB338,387,000 and RMB82,802,000, respectively.
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43. EEA QAT BERRAEKWER  43. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
2023 £
2023
ARET
RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current asset
RHEBRANIEE Investments in subsidiaries 204,979 204,979
MEVEE Current assets
e BARERE Deposits, prepayments and
i, FE I R IR other receivables 169,554 167,105
& W B 8 X R SR IE Amounts due from subsidiaries (@) 1,854,923 1,885,715
RWERRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 3,677 1,250
2,028,154 2,054,070
MEBAG Current liabilities
H i FE {4 58 Other payables 13,109 6,537
e R Tax payables 3,553 3,494
16,662 10,031
HBEE(BE)FEE  Netcurrent assets (iabilities) 2,011,492 2,044,039
BEFR Net assets 2,216,471 2,249,018
BEARRGEE Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 35 1 1
i Reserves (o) 2,216,470 2,249,017
AR Total equity 2,216,471 2,249,018
Btk - Notes:
(@) FEWHBARZEAEEM 8 KERER (@) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
g o repayable on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

43. E B A D 7 B & MR R XK K 43. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
¥ @ OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)
fsE : (48) Notes: (Continued)
(b) EEE ) (b) movement in reserves

BENBF12ANALEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
AERHR
NRGBHER REfH
BROEE KARE HRREE HAEE KFEORG  EXRE R ER
Share-based Shares held
Share Capital compensation Other forthe RSU  Exchange Accumulated

premium Reserve reserve reserve Scheme reserve losses Total
ARETRT ARETR ARETT ARETrn ARETr ARETr AR%Tn AR%ET:n
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

720231 A1H At 1 January 2023 2,073,753 18,923 26,932 186,196 (39,660) 258,966 (276,093) 2,249,017
EREE Loss for the year - - - - - - (12,579) (12,579)
2 ERY Other comprehensive expense:
BBRRANEEY Exchange difference arising on translating of
RERERERAH financial statements from functional
EEMEREE currency to presentation currency - - - - - 27,490 - 27,490
EN2EMYERE Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - - 27,490 (12,579) (35,491)
R Dividends (50,402) - - = = = = (50,402)
BHEXBHIMRALAIEE  Issue of shares under the RSU Scheme
B170(7 (H7E38) (note 38) - = (1,842) = 1,842 = - -
BREREEURMBEY  Equity-settled share-based compensation
HEERS (H5E380)  expenses (note 38(0) = = 2,044 - - - - 2,044
R2023%F 12318 At 31 December 2023 2,023,351 18,923 28,034 186,196 (37,818) 286,456 (288,672) 2,216,470
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43. E B A D 7 B B AR R X B 43. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
BB mw OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (cContinued)
Bt : (48) Notes: (Continued)
by REEZEE) (o)  movement in reserves (Continued)

R2022%1R18 At 1 January 2022 2,115,407 18,923 26,274 186,196 (43,097) 82,108 (271,815 2,113,996
FREE Loss for the year - - - - - - (4,278) (4,278)
2 ERY Other comprehensive expense:
BBRRANEEY Exchange difference arising on translating of
RERERERAH financial statements from functional
EAMERZSE currency to presentation currency - - - - - 176,858 - 176,858
FR2EMYLE Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - - - 176,858 (4,278) 172,580
BERDBOEHRE Reclassffication from Share repurchase (41,654) (41,654)
BETRHMMEMEE  Issue of shares under the RSU Scheme
BRE (MaE3s) (note 38) - - (3437) - 3,437 - _ _
REREEURMAER  Equity-settled share-based compensation
MmER (H38b)  expenses (note 38(0) - - 4095 - - - - 4095
R2022% 12318 At 31 December 2022 2,073,753 18,923 26,932 186,196 (39,660) 258,966 (276,093 2,249,017
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#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

4, ARATETEMBATNFS 44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

D RIVEY - WNGIE = SV -F The below table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
EENEENABETEYENAER opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
MEAR - ARAIEZRAFEMHE R results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
AMERIIE  2<HEEBARITE - other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

BEETERAA EE Lm 2,000,0007% 7T - - 70% 70% BEEERNBRMY  REMRBH
(FIERBEFERRA]) HEMEE
Ingdan Broadband Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000,000 Development and sales of hardware,
(formerly known as “Comtech software, and services for
Broadband Corporation Limited”) intelligent products
MBUF(EB)ERAT BE g 10,0003 7T - —  66.83% 66.83% A ERREAS HRE
(HzE (b)) (FEE(D)
Comtech Digital Technology Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 (note (b))  (note (b)) Application design and distribution
(Hong Kong) Limited of chips
RBH TR ORINERRE i EEER 300,000 7T - —  66.83%  66.83% i EMRE D HRK
(HEE(b)  (FEE(D))
Comtech Digital Technology (Shenzhen) PRC Contributed US$300,000 (note (b))  (note (b)) Application design and distribution
Limited* capital of chips
RYIRHE FE TEAR 20214 - —  66.83% 66.83% A ERREAS HERE
AR #5,827,6807T (HzE (b)) (P EE(D)
(2019% :
500,000% 7T
Shenzhen Comtech PRC Contributed ~ 2021: RMB5,827,680 (note (b))  (note (b)) Application design and distribution
capital (2019: US$500,000) of chips
MEER(EB)ERAR EE TR 1,000,000 7T - —  66.83% 66.83% &S EMRE S ERE
(MaE@m)  (FIEE ()
Comtech International Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 (note (b))  (note (b)) Application design and distribution
(Hong Kong) Limited of chips
Ingdan Limited 0 T 187 - - 100% 100% #EER
(1 7& [ Cogobuy Limited |)
Ingdan Limited (formerly known as Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 Investment holding

“Cogobuy Limited”)
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#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. KPAFTERB 2R NFRE @

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

ERBRETRBORIDERAR  F
((EBREFEHD

Kugouwang Ecommerce Services PRC
(Shenzhen) Limited*
(“Kugouwang Ecommerce”)

MBRTEGEERMORINDERRE &

Comtech Information Technology PRC
(Shenzhen) Limited

BEBRRA &k

INGDAN.com Limited Hong Kong

BERK(EB)ARAA B

Ingdan Technology (Hong Kong) Hong Kong
Limited

BERBRORINERAR FE

(MEZ=RI])
INGDAN.com (Shenzhen) Limited* PRC
(“Ingdan Shenzhen”)

RYTRERERCRMAERLA PE
(BT T8 Al 8 RHE S B 5 R
CRINBRAE])

Shenzhen Qianhai Ingdan Limited PRC
(formerly known as “Qianhai
Cogobuy.com (Shenzhen) Limited”)

Heicolink Holdings Limited HBRUESE
Heicolink Holdings Limited BVI

Contributed

capital

Contributed
capital

i

Ordinary

e

Ordinary

Contributed

capital

Contributed
capital

Ordinary

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

1,200,000 7T

HK$1,200,000

300,000% 7T

US$300,000

HKS$1

100,000% 7T

US$100,000

1,500,000 7T

US$1,500,000

200,000,000/ 7T

HK$200,000,000

50,000% 7T
US$50,000

53%

53%

100%

66.83%
(Hf &E (b))
(note (b))

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

66.83%
(B3 (D))
(note (b))

100%

100%

100%

100%

BEEMNEMS  BHNRBEH
FEMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

R R RS R

Application design and distribution
of chips

BHREMOBY  BUHRRBH
HEMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

BREMNES  BHNREH
REMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

BHREMOBY  BUHRRBL
REAMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

BRERNBEI - HEMRBH
REMHE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

Investment holding



4. KPAFTEWB 2R HNFRE @

BHBHR (BE)ERAR

Heicolink Technology (Hong Kong)
Limited

CREBERAF

Cogobuy Finance Limited

BIERM (BR)BRAF

Risingnovas (HK) Limited

BEEEFRAR
(AIBREATHEE])

Ingdan Group, Inc. (formerly known as
“Cogobuy Group, Inc.”)

MELEHBRAR

Cogobuy Broadband Corporation
Limited

RYHAMEA RN ERRE

Shenzhen FOXSAAS Software
Technology Limited

LEBEEERITERAR

Shanghai Bodi Communication
Technology Limited*

Eh

Hong Kong

EE
Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong

RBREZES

BvI

EE

Hong Kong

FE

PRC

FE

PRC

Ordinary

Ordinary

g

Ordinary

g

Ordinary

L&

Ordinary

Contributed
capital

Contributed
capital

e B A 3R R MY A (4E)
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

10,000/ 7T

HK$10,000

1T
HKS$1

5,000,000 7T

US$5,000,000

50,0003 7T

US$50,000

100,000/ 7T

HK$100,000

AR #1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

AR #3,000,0007T

RMB3,000,000

100%  100%

53%

100%

100%

66.83%
(Kt = (b))
(note (b))

66.83%
(Hf &£ (b))
(note (b))

100%

53%

100%

100%

66.83%
(P % (b))
(note (b)

66.83%
(B (b))
(note (b)

100%

A AOTER B SRR
BHHEMEE

Development and sales of
proprietary AloT products,
hardware, software and services

REBRBMERESRRY
Provision of supply chain financing
services in Hong Kong

BHREMOBY  BUHRRBH
REAMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

Investment holding

R R R AT M2 3 AR

Application design and distribution
of chips

R R RE M2 3R

Application design and distribution
of chips

BREROBRN  REMRBH
HEMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products
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#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. KPAFTERB 2R NFRE @

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

MEnBRTERAR

Cogolink Technology Limited

AT HEBERTERAR
Shenzhen Xeno Communication
Technology Company Limited
BHE WS ORYD AR AR
Cogolink Technology (Shenzhen)
Limited
RHBTAIEMN (ER) ARAA

Comtech Xintron Technology
(Beijing) Limited*

RIIETEE B (B ()

Shenzhen Kegoubai (note (c))

MBTERR(RIDERRR

Comtech Industrial Smart
(Shenzhen) Limited

* ES R e Hl

Eh

Hong Kong

R

PRC

I

PRC

H

PRC

el

PRC

Ordinary

TEEAR

Contributed

capital

TEEAR

Contributed

capital

TEEAR

Contributed
capital

TEER

Contributed

capital

TEER

Contributed
Capital
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3,500,000 7T

HK$3,500,000

A #50,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AR #10,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000

AR 2,004,800 7T

RMB2,004,800

AR %1,000,0007T

RMB1,000,000

AR %10,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000

*

51%

100%

51%

66.83%
(Hf &£ (b))
(note (b))

100%

66.83%
(B &£ (b))
(note (b))

51%

100%

51%

66.83%
GEAG)
(note (b))

100%

66.83%
GEIR)
(note (b))

BRERNRN  REMRBH
HEMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

BRERNBRY  REMRBH
HEMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

BRERNBRY  REMRBH
HEMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

R ERRE N R

Application design and distribution
of chips

BHREMOBY  BUHRMRBLH
REAMEE

Development and sales of hardware,
software, and services for
intelligent products

R ER RS R

Application design and distribution
of chips

The English name is for identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HZE2023%12 A31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

4, ARATEENELATNFE @

FIERTEKIAERERNMEETRAR
BEERA -

BBt FE40(2) * (o) K (o) # FE - B TE B E£2022
F12A31BLEEWREB DK B R A MBE
62.42% & ¥ £66.83% °

AAREEWMBRARERMAEFHBELAS
Ez2EHAZRIAERRKE L LR —
IRz REEBETH
T5EES :

— HRIABEITEAROMGREESR
i3

—  fTERIYIAT R B A R R RORME

- AERE R ER R R R & AR
% ERESRIITBEELNBAL
17 A8 A 28 e 1B SR A AR AE

- ERAKEREIBERITER2 MK
AERHNBREN &

- Bt R TESERIIFT BB B 2 8RR E
MR (ER BRI 2 ORI AT RE
BEOTAHORHFATHAEETNIEE
e

I REREERAREEERELMNE
RN D ST A& (ICPRF AT & D) » B
FERBEAZEERER INEEBEER RS
ICPETFAIF - ARENLH AEEBERHEZ
ERIIATEEEF MBS SR L HaE
NTEEERYAEENEIZEZZTE®R
A S B A AR B YR Y| T B & R A o
At FUIEEWEAAEENKE AR -
MmRYI AT B W 3%k 8201362 A1 8 (B
EHNTHERBH) BT ARNEENLEE W B
WK -

A FEERRERAF R ARNZRERE
REETHEERSR G EF 8RR EHRY
AEATEEENEE N  HESRIATER
EEWBRIDKENSHER - A RE R
NABENHBEREHEASRESANH
HERMEEN - ARFEE  REBEARRF A
REMNZERER ANRFEREEENRIR
A THT WEERTBEREFEERESR -

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The nature of all the legal entities established in the PRC is limited liability
company.

As disclosed in note 40(a), (b) and (c), the equity interest held by the
Company has been changed from 62.42% to 66.83% as a result of the
partial acquisition of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Kugouwang Ecommerce, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”) with Shenzhen Kegoubai, wholly-owned by the Group,
and Ms. Yao Yi which enable Kugouwang Ecommerce to:

— exercise effective financial and operational control over Shenzhen
Kegoubai;

— exercise equity shareholders’ voting rights of Shenzhen Kegoubai;

— receive substantially all of the economic interest and returns
generated by Shenzhen Kegoubai in consideration for the business
support, technical and consulting services provided by Kugouwang
Ecommerce, at Kugouwang Ecommerce’s discretion;

- obtain an exclusive right to purchase the entire equity interest in
Shenzhen Kegoubai from Ms. Yao Yi; and

— obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Shenzhen
Kegoubai from Ms. Yao VYi as collateral security to guarantee
performance of all of the obligations of Ms. Yao Yi and Shenzhen
Kegoubai under the Contractual Arrangements.

Shenzhen Kegoubai holds an internet content provider licence (the “ICP
licence”) issued by the Guangdong Communications Administration. Due
to applicable law and regulations of the PRC, foreign investors are
prohibited from holding an ICP licence. As a result of the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with Shenzhen Cogobuy, has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over Shenzhen Cogobuy, and is considered to have
control over Shenzhen Cogobuy. Consequently, Shenzhen Cogobuy is
considered to be a subsidiary of the Group and the financial statements of
Shenzhen Cogobuy are included in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements from 1 February 2013, the effective date of the Contractual
Arrangements.

However, there are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and
application of existing and future PRC laws and regulations which could
affect the Company’s ability to exercise control over Shenzhen Kegoubai,
its right to receive substantially all of the economic interest generated by
Shenzhen Kegoubai, and its ability to consolidate the financial results of
Shenzhen Kegoubai into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The Company believes that, based on the legal opinion obtained from the
Company’s PRC legal counsel, the Contractual Arrangements are legally
binding and enforceable and do not violate current PRC laws and
regulations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. KPAFTERB 2R NFRE @

ffeE : ()

© (&)
RBERER  AARBHMBEAEEM S I
HBEANKBAR - AZHZEHBRAN
EREERREELSE - TXARERLDER
WEMEREKEE ZSHBRABEEHT
m

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

() (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. A majority of these subsidiaries engage
in investment holding and inactive. The aggregation shown below based
on the geographical location and nature of business. A summary of these
subsidiaries are set out as follows:

&R HERS Cayman Islands 2 1
Investment holding HEBEZES BVI 13 8
& PRC = 9

BB Hong Kong 1 1

T FE PRC 11 6
Inactive &5 Hong Kong 11 10
o Singapore 1 1

LA &5 Israel 1 1

=) Taiwan - 1

40 38

P 118 F R K 8 4 AR AT R - B
BARMERTEMNREENERE

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
outstanding at the end of both years or at any time during both
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

44. AR ETENEB AT WS @ 44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

BEOAEEMSBE A IEHERER Details of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that
ol NN are material to the Group:

2023 F 20234
2023 2023
AR® TR ARB TR
RMB’000 RMB’000
AYIRHE H 33.2% 33.2% 80,318 106,547 397,638 317,320
Shenzhen Comtech PRC
New United Holdings Limited RBREARES 49% 49% 15,206 10,089 67,046 51,840
New United Holdings Limited BvI
Heicolink Holdings Limited RERLHES 47% 47% 13,757 10,989 60,762 47,005
Heicolink Holdings Limited BVI
NREBHBBEEAFLERERONE A A The summarised financial information in respect of each of the
T BAREBREZREANMBERBMES Group’s subsidiary or group of subsidiaries that has material
FIGAT - L THEIEERBEASRER RN non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised
NEEEERT S o financial information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations.

FYIRBEE Shenzhen Comtech Group

12023 &

12A31H

As at

31 December

2023

AR T

RMB’000
mENEE Current assets 7,141,990 5,050,780
ERBEE Non-current assets 139,729 32,215
Mk B=N Current liabilities (6,123,826) 4,127,212)
KABHEB AEEREZ Equity attributable to owners of the Company 760,255 638,463
FEIE R = Non-controlling interests 397,638 317,320
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

4. KRB EEHE 2 BN FE @

EYIRBEE @

Shenzhen Comtech Group (Continued)

2023 F
2023
AR® TR
RMB’000
WA Revenue 7,838,952 8,212,768
3 Expenses (7,636,842) (7,874,911)
F & A Profit for the year 202,110 337,857
RATES AERT RE  Profit and total comprehensive income
TE 45 55 4 5 attributable to the owners of the Company 121,792 231,310
SEVE R kRS FE(LE M| R 2 Profit and total comprehensive income
Wi #5E attributable to the non-controlling interests 80,318 106,547
FRGEANEEEW SRR Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year 202,110 337,857
IRESERIR S TR AR Net cash inflows from operating activities 2,323,896 1,877,477
WEEHNR SR R Net cash outflows from investing activities (2,485,493) (1,293,438)
MEEHHNER ML FRE Net cash outflows from financing activities (227,117) (365,780)
Be (RE)RAFE Net cash (outflows) inflows (388,714) 218,259
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#H Z=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. KATETEWMB AT NS @ 44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

New United &

The New United Group

2023 F

2023

AR® T

RMB’000
RENEE Current assets 176,804 131,984
ERMEBEE Non-current assets — 878
B Current liabilities (39,975) (27,065)
KAFIER ANELER Equity attributable to owners of the Company 69,783 53,957
FEVE AR M 2 Non-controlling interests 67,046 51,840

2023 F
2023
AR® TR
RMB’000
HA Revenue 40,511 43,442
- Expenses (9,479) (17,140)
R %A Profit for the year 31,032 20,590
RABIEAR AEEG R R Profit and total comprehensive income
2HEBRE attributable to owners of the Company 15,826 10,501
eIk FE(L M R 2 Profit and total comprehensive income
W s 4858 attributable to the non-controlling interests 15,206 10,089
FRNRAMNE 2K EBE Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year 31,032 20,590
EETEBMIESMACGRE)  Net cash inflows (outflows) from
FER operating activities 28,666 (23,222)
BEEHNR ST A TS Net cash inflows from investing activities - 57,502
MEEHNR ML FHE Net cash outflows from financing activities (29,567) (33,612)
Be Ond)mAFE Net cash (outflows) inflows (901) 668
F3k 2023 BEAIF 271
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
#HZ=2023F 12 H31HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. KPAFTEWB 2R HNFRE @

MEBEE

FRBEE

mEBE

RRAREE AEEED
FEiE Pt as

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The Heicolink Group

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

2023 F

2023

AR®¥T R
RMB’000

148,382

19,101
68,519
60,762

106,651
6,425
(13,065)
53,006
47,005

2023 £
2023
AR T
RMB’000
WA Revenue 41,575 36,855
3 Expenses (12,305) (14,429)
F & Profit for the year 29,270 22,426
AANTEBA AEG N KRE  Profit and total comprehensive income
[T attributable to owners of the Company 15,513 11,437
JEiERR S FE(L M R 2 Profit and total comprehensive income
W s 4258 attributable to the non-controlling interests 13,757 10,989
FRNRAMNE 2K EBE Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year 29,270 22,426
JETEHIR SR AGREE)  Net cash inflows (outflows) from operating
FER activities 31,174 (12,074)
BEEFHNRERAFE Net cash inflows from investing activities - 42,240
MEEHNR ML FHE Net cash outflows from financing activities (31,111) (30,204)
BWEMACRL) F58 Net cash inflows (outflows) 63 (38)
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EFERBEBRE

Five-Year Financial Summary

REBNGEEXEENEERBEMESH Y  Asummary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the
T Group is set out below:
B 220235
128318
LLEE
For the year
ended
December 31,
2023
AR TR
RMB’000
E¥ Results
o Revenue 8,863,382 9,535,519 9,452,436 6,185,100 5,854,247
18R (BT E) Profit from operation (Note) 356,030 534,277 489,458 221,654 187,542
IR Finance costs (109,295) (67,746) (47,303) (8,965) (65,885)
BR B AT Profit before taxation 360,465 515,895 459,997 204,897 162,787
FriEH Income tax (40,595) (63,475) (47,612) (17,469) (17,802)
EREF Profit for the year 319,870 452,240 412,385 187,428 144,085
PAT B Attributable to:
o VNGIE YD — Owners of the Company 210,700 314,414 296,151 123,200 110,067
— R — Non-controlling interests 109,170 138,006 116,234 64,228 34,918
FE R A Profit for the year 319,870 452,420 412,385 187,428 144,985
SREA Earnings per share
ER(ARET) Basic (RMB) 0.154 0.224 0.213 0.089 0.077
g (AR Diluted (RMB) 0.154 0.224 0.213 0.88 0.076

s : KRERFTREOVEEHEATRE
(ii) i BT B A Bl U s o

BhEEE & Note: Profit from operation excluded (i) share of results of associates and joint ventures,

and (i) gain on disposal of subsidiaries.
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EFHBHBE(E)

Five-Year Financial Summary (Continued)

120235
12A31H
As of

December 31,
2023
ARETR
RMB’000

EEREE Assets and liabilities
WA Total assets 10,196,290 9,705,239 7,782,724 5,492,165 5,431,772
BEE Total liabilities (5,681,570) (5,251,887) (3,240,577) (1,268,579) (1,131,763)
EERE NET ASSETS 4,514,720 4,453,352 4,542 147 4,223 586 4,300,009
ARAEB ARG Total equity attributable
BiER to equity shareholders

of the Company 3,993,793 4,028,676 4,154,638 3,940,103 4,114,884
e AR 2 Non-controlling interests 520,927 424,676 387,509 283,483 185,125
AR TOTAL EQUITY 4,514,720 4,553,352 4,542 147 4,223,586 4,300,009

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023



[2014 4 5 BR #1) f% 17 B L
Bl
“2014 RSU Scheme”

[2023 4 5 IR il A% 7 28 fz
at&lJ
“2023 RSU Scheme”

[Al
“Ap”

[AIGC ]
“AIGC”

[AloT]
“AloT”

[ Alphalink |

“Alphalink”

[ E R A

“Articles of Association’

RPN
“associate”

[EZZE=E
“Audit Committee”

[EXZ8g]

“Board Committee(s)”

[EE2

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[(REBEXEHS]
“BVI”

Bx

Definitions

ARG FFERMR2014F3 /18 £ - R20145F12 A21 BB ET - I 72023
FORAIBARRAI2023FRRBF A G ERK L IEAE S

the scheme adopted by the Company which took effect as at March 1, 2014,
amended on December 21, 2014 and terminated on June 9, 2023 at the
conclusion of the Company’s 2023 annual general meeting

NAE 2023456 A9 B A X PR i A% 19 B8 iz 5+ 2l
the RSU scheme adopted by the Company on June 9, 2023

ALERE
artificial intelligence

ERAALER

artificial intelligence-generated content

Al X loT
Al and loT

Alphalink Global Limited * — ZR 7 2 & Bz 2 A+ S ix it p 32 2 2 &) + & Cogobuy
nczEEZ2EMBRRAIREEEIERYI 2 M—RE

Alphalink Global Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of Cogobuy Inc and the sole shareholder of Comtech Industrial
SZ

AR AR2014F6 27 BRMA K N2014F7 A18A (LT HH) £ W& (&
A E R AR (K ARERD

the amended articles of association of the Company adopted on June 27, 2014
and effected on July 18, 2014 (the Listing Date), as amended from time to time

B R R T A RORE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

RKRRNEZEZE®
the audit committee of the Company

E=ZgETWERES

committee(s) of the Board

ARAREE=E

the board of Directors of our Company

REBRUEE
the British Virgin Islands

F
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& (E)

Definitions (Continued)

[dEE)AF A
“CG Code”

(&= THRAE ]
“chief executive”

(R Esk[ B A

“China”, “Mainland China” or
“PRC!!

NGNS

“Companies Law”

(A7

T

“Company”, “our Company”, “the
Company”

[ 58 £ i)

“Comtech”

[BAE AL
“Connected person(s)”

[ AR

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 728 i 2
“COVID-19”

=

“Director(s)”

[ Envision China

“Envision China”

£ AR ERC1 AT B (R R B IR ST RID

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

H EMARIME T ZARRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

REARANE BRXESEMERERARSEMS ARSEARAN T
BTRESE  BBRRM : [REN —ATARLURE

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires and only
for the purpose of this report, references in this report to the PRC or China do not
include Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau; the term “Chinese” has a similar meaning

MEHSRQANE(2018F B IEAR) (& TRAEET)
Companies Law (2018 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended from time to
time

WEAF  —FKR2012F2A 1B EREHEFMKINERREERAR
EIREERER RS

Ingdan, Inc., an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on February 1, 2012 and formerly known as Cogobuy Group

R GESEUTE L =i

Comtech business unit

H EMHRRIME T ZARRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

B 8 BIE T Z A RRE - 5 F 3 P 5 B %5 4 K Envision Global
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context of this
annual report, means Mr. Kang and Envision Global

2019 AR 7R SR
Coronavirus disease 2019

ARRES

the director(s) of our Company

Envision (China) Holding Ltd. ( &1 7 Comtech (China) Holding Ltd.) * — ZR #2002
FOATRERBRAHEIMKAINERAR ARECEMELEHSR
Envision (China) Holding Ltd. (formerly known as Comtech (China) Holding Ltd.), a
limited liability company incorporated in the BVI on May 27, 2002 which is
indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Kang

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023



“Envision Communication”

[ Envision Global | Ei1

“Envision Global”

[(A&EE] - THRMAIXTHEMH] &

» o«

“Group”, “our Group”, “the

”

Group”, “we”, “us”, or “our”

&7l ¥
"HK”

[ BB B EER ] ¥
“HKFRSs”

(&8 ¥
“Hong Kong”

[c] ¥
“c”

[ & B 5% |
“Ingdan”

[fEEE ] ¥
“Ingdan Cloud”

[f2 &= & E &

“Ingdan Group”

B (&)

Definitions (Continued)

BREBERMOCRIDBER AR (FABERBBRBERMORIDEBERLRA)  —K
MBI AT REXENBEA

Envision Communication Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited, formerly
known as Comtech Communication Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited, a
company established in the PRC and an associate of Mr. Kang

Envision Global Investments Limited * —FK R 201262 A1 B ERBR L&
MR BRAR HRAEEZEHES  YARMOBEEERERR

Envision Global Investments Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the
BVI on February 1, 2012 which is wholly-owned by Mr. Kang and is our immediate
Controlling Shareholder

ARE - ENMBRAKRINABR RV BRECERGAOLHEMES
BRRARIERARINNIERF)H(RXEME) ERARFWER 2
RATEER AR R A

the Company, its subsidiaries and Shenzhen Kegoubai (the financial results of
which have been consolidated and accounted for as a subsidiary of our Company
by virtue of the contractual arrangements) or, where the context requires, the
companies that currently comprise the subsidiaries of the Company prior to their
acquisition by the Company

A
=S
[=]

BT BEEEEE
Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

(BRMKHmEED)
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

B E B R BITT R
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

integrated circuits

BEMBREHEER

Ingdan business unit

WEMBEFERMRE LS
Ingdan brand cloud computing technology services platform

BEEEERAA(FIWEASHEREERAR)  —K
BRI AR  RARENEEEZEMEB AR

Ingdan Group, Inc., formerly known as Cogobuy Group, Inc., a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

RRBRELES T
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& (E)

Definitions (Continued)

[INGDAN.com |
“INGDAN.com”

[l 71 & AR

“Ingfin Financing Services”

[oT
“loT”

[iPaaS]
“iPaaS”

[EBEEFE%

4

“Kugouwang E-commerce’

[ 7 B 8
“Listing Date”

[ A5 8l

“Listing Rules”

[E k]

“Main Board”

EESE
“Model Code”

[ K4

“Memorandum”

[ &4
“Mr. Kang”

INGDAN.com#g £ 1ii 3 &
INGDAN.com online technology platform

SINEREBHEEAE

Ingfin Financing Services business unit

1) Bt 48

Internet of Things

BAaFaRARS

Integration platform as a service

EEM®E T EBCEY) B R 2D A (Kugouwang E-commerce Services
(Shenzhen)Limited * A # Cogobuy.com E-commerce Services (Shenzhen)
Limited) * =K R2012F7 A1 BEFRBKZH AR REMHOEEZ BN
B A A

Kugouwang E-commerce Services (Shenzhen) Limited, formerly known as
Cogobuy.com E-commerce Services (Shenzhen) Limited (& B 49 & F 29 75 0= 31l
AR~ 7], a company established in the PRC on July 31, 2012, and our

indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary

20147 H18 R ' IR Bk FT ETh 2 B
July 18, 2014, the date the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange

BEABMERGMAR A AKESR LR TRIEET)
the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)

BIXMEENESFXZA(TREHAENS) B0 B X ATGEMIL 8 H I
TEE

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with GEM of the
Stock Exchange

EAR BN SRCIFEH M LT EITAESZTETELR I ST LESFRD
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out
in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules

RQAR2014F6 27 B RM K N2014F7 A18A (LT HH) £ W& (e
BEE- 2N

the amended memorandum of association of the Company adopted on June 27,
2014 and effected on July 18, 2014 (the Listing Date)

BRAESLEE ARAERE BRVTERWTES  UARMNEREKR
Mr. Kang Jingwei, Jeffrey (F #1&), chairman, chief executive officer and executive
Director of our Company and our Controlling Shareholder

INGDAN, INC. Annual Report 2023



[#A 75 & |
“Mr. Wu”

202z 1|
“Ms. Guo”

[k 22 + |

“Ms. Yao”

[ 4% Hir 3 52 |
“NASDAQ”

[fREZEg]

“Nomination Committee”

[ #t 22 P |
“NYSE”

[ Optimum Profuse |
“Optimum Profuse”

(B R 2R
“PRC Legal Advisor”

[HEEER]

“Prospectus”

[T % |
“R&D”

[ & HAE
“Reporting Period”

N
“RMB”

[ BR I f% 0 B Az 5T 81 ]
“RSU Schemes”

52 BR il B 17 B4z |
“RSUs”

&7 M E R
“SFO”

B (&)

Definitions (Continued)

HBELEE ARRERMBE BITEETRAGME
Mr. Wu Lun Cheung Allen (ff % ££), chief financial officer, executive Director and
company secretary of our Company

HHRELZ LT ARG WITES
Ms. Guo Lihua (2 %1 Z), executive Director of the Company

izt P EERE -
HEIAE)NET

Ms. Yao Yi (% 14), our substantial Shareholder, the sole shareholder of Shenzhen
Kegoubai, and the wife of Mr. Li Feng (Vice President of Strategy, Comtech)

ARYIT]RE B RO — R R g R A (RHR R

EXEHFRIBEHEEADRERR

National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations

ARARMREREEE

the nomination committee of the Company

HBAEFRX ST
New York Stock Exchange

Optimum Profuse Limited * — X /A 5 8 # R B & 5E B 2 B9 A )
Optimum Profuse Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

227N E 22 B 5 75 P

Anjie Law Firm

AARIBHA2014F7 ASEMBRER
the prospectus of the Company dated July 8, 2014

7t K A B
research and development

HE2023F12A31BILFE
the year ended December 31, 2023

AR FEAEEHN

Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC

2014 F 5 PR I f% 0 B AL 51 8 } 2023 F % [R #l A% 10 B (L 51 2
the 2014 RSU Scheme and the 2023 RSU Scheme

5 PR i B% {7 B8 A1
restricted share units

BAEOIEST1 ECE HF REAEEG)D
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
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Bx(E)

Definitions (Continued)

(&5 ]
“Share(s)”

P& ER ]
“Shareholder(s)”
DR YT}

“Shenzhen Comtech”

[ARYIFTEE A ]

“Shenzhen Kegoubai”

[ B 32 FFr |
“Stock Exchange”

[EFERE
“substantial shareholder’

4

[ Total Dynamic |

“Total Dynamic”

E3=0
“United States” or “US”

ESS
“US$’

[ = B4
“V2x”

[%]
“%H

EE 5

* For identification purpose only

AN &) R 7§ 5 1% T B.0.0000001 3 7T #) & 38 AR
ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our company with a par value of
US$0.0000001 each

RRABIENRDFEA
holder(s) of Share(s) of the Company from time to time

RITREERMRMERAR - AIMBBEIZERMORIDARAGF - —K
R2005F5 A24BEFBEKINERAR - RARRNEEKNERF
Shenzhen Comtech Limited, formerly known as Comtech Industrial Technology
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (F}# T 2 £:15 (X )E R A 7)), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on May 24, 2005, which is an indirect subsidiary
of the Company

RYNTAIBEEERMARAR  —KN2012F 1213 EFBEKNINE
REEAR HHEXT2EEES URESHNTHEARIERMOME R
Gl

Shenzhen Kegoubai Information Technologies Limited (% 31l T 7] 88 & (= B & 1i7
AR A7), a limited liability company established in the PRC on December 13,
2012, wholly-owned by Ms. Yao and, by virtue of the contractual arrangements,
accounted for as our subsidiary

BEABMERXSFARRA A
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

HEMARRIME FZANRE
the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

Total Dynamic Holdings Limited *+ —ZR 72012412 H 4 B /& & & & Z £ &+ fit
RAYMEREERT AT 2EHE U RBEMOKRE

Total Dynamic Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the BVI
on December 4, 2012 which is wholly-owned by Ms. Yao and is our Shareholder

ENBRERE HELT B REEHEENMAME
the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction

En XBEEEER

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

Eyik]
Vehicle-to-Everything

B
per cent

RERZ P RIGRANEEFEE - AR RA B2 (R B AT A EEREBRIN)

In the event of any inconsistency, the English language text of this annual report (other than the names of the legal entities established in Mainland China) shall

prevail over the Chinese language text.
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IngDan t& &

HATCH THE INTERNET OF THINGS

INGDAN, INC.
E E Al

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RSB EMEZNERAE)
Stock Code R 3X5% : 00400
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